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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

2016 was an exceptional year for Walker & Dunlop. We delivered record financial performance
and built upon the Company’s outstanding track record of growth. We have grown revenues 30% and
diluted EPS 37% on a compound annual basis since our IPO in 2010. This tremendous financial
performance is due to continued investments in our loan origination and brokerage platform, which
generated total transaction volume of $19.3 billion in 2016 and pushed our loan servicing portfolio to
over $63 billion as of December 31, 2016. Record loan origination volume and servicing fees are
primarily due to our financing professionals consistently delivering exceptional results for our clients.

At the beginning of 2016, we set out financial and strategic goals that included delivering double-
digit growth in diluted EPS, increasing total revenues to over $500 million, and expanding our
salesforce to 120 bankers and brokers. We far exceeded all of these targets, growing EPS by 38% to
$3.65 per share, generating $575 million of revenues, and scaling our salesforce to 125 talented bankers
and brokers. The investments we made in 2016 to bring in new loan origination and brokerage
professionals, along with the future servicing revenues created by record loan originations, will drive
our financial performance in 2017 and beyond.

Walker & Dunlop’s dramatic expansion over the past several years has increased our market share
of total Multifamily lending in the United States from less than 1% in 2010 to over 5% in 2016. We
believe the multifamily market has many years of continued growth ahead as more and more American
households choose to rent rather than buy. Over $1 trillion of student debt, stagnant wages, increasing
interest rates, and a limited supply of entry-level single family housing will continue to make rental
housing the preferred option for newly formed American households. Walker & Dunlop has
consistently grown faster than the broader market because of the people, platform, brand, and client
base we have built, and with strong macroeconomic trends behind rental housing, we see few reasons
why we can’t continue to outpace the market.

The foundation of the Walker & Dunlop platform is our incredible people, who drove the record
performance we delivered in 2016. Our 550 employees originated, underwrote, and closed 1,035
financing and sales transactions last year, an all-time high for our business. But they also raised their
kids, took care of ill parents, participated in their communities, and volunteered in charity events across
the country. Our people strengthen the Walker & Dunlop brand and reputation every day, which has
allowed us to be named a Great Place to Work� four of the last five years. We have always felt that if
we built a great company with great people, that the financial success would follow—and it has.

We went public with the vision of creating the premier commercial real estate finance firm in the
United States and have consistently established long-term financial, operational, and strategic
milestones to achieve that goal. We outlined for investors at the beginning of 2017 an ambitious plan to
generate $1 billion in annual revenues by the end of 2020. With the team we have built and the market
opportunity we see ahead, we have confidence that we can achieve that goal.

I’d like to thank all my colleagues at Walker & Dunlop for all their hard work to make 2016 an
exceptional year for our company. I’d also like to thank you, our shareholders, for your ongoing
support of our board, management team, strategy, and long-term vision.

William M. Walker
Chairman & CEO

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities law.
Please see page 3 of our 2016 Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for
additional information regarding forward-looking statements.
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PART I 
 

Forward-Looking Statements 
 

Some of the statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Com-
pany,” “Walker & Dunlop,” “we,” “us”), may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal 
securities laws. Forward-looking statements relate to expectations, projections, plans and strategies, anticipated events or 
trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify forward-
looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” 
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” or “potential” or the negative of these words and phrases or 
similar words or phrases which are predictions of or indicate future events or trends and which do not relate solely to 
historical matters. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans, or intentions. 

 
The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our current views about 

future events and are subject to numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and changes in circum-
stances that may cause actual results to differ significantly from those expressed or contemplated in any forward-looking 
statement. Statements regarding the following subjects, among others, may be forward looking: 

 
• the future of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home Loan Mort-

gage Corporation (“Freddie Mac,” and together with Fannie Mae, the “GSEs”), including their origination 
capacities, and their impact on our business; 

• changes to the interest rate environment and its impact on our business; 
• our growth strategy; 
• our projected financial condition, liquidity, and results of operations; 
• our ability to obtain and maintain warehouse and other loan-funding arrangements; 
• availability of and our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel and our ability to develop and retain 

relationships with borrowers, key principals, and lenders; 
• degree and nature of our competition; 
• changes in governmental regulations and policies, tax laws and rates, and similar matters and the impact of 

such regulations, policies, and actions; 
• our ability to comply with the laws, rules, and regulations applicable to us; 
• trends in the commercial real estate finance market, interest rates, commercial real estate values, the credit 

and capital markets, or the general economy; 
• general volatility of the capital markets and the market price of our common stock; and 
• our commitment to make preferred equity investments as part of our overall growth strategy.  

 
While forward-looking statements reflect our good-faith projections, assumptions, and expectations, they are not 

guarantees of future results. Furthermore, we disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking 
statement to reflect changes in underlying assumptions or factors, new information, data or methods, future events or other 
changes, except as required by applicable law. For a further discussion of these and other factors that could cause future 
results to differ materially from those expressed or contemplated in any forward-looking statements, see “Risk Factors.” 
 
Item 1. Business 
 
General 
 

We are one of the leading commercial real estate services and finance companies in the United States, with a primary 
focus on multifamily lending. We have been in business for more than 79 years; a Fannie Mae Delegated Underwriting 
and Servicing (“DUS” ™) lender since 1988, when the DUS program began; a lender with the Government National 
Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”) and the Federal Housing Administration, a division of the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (together with Ginnie Mae, “HUD”) since acquiring a HUD license in 2009; and a 
Freddie Mac Multifamily Approved Seller/Servicer for Conventional Loans (“Freddie Mac seller/servicer”) since 2009. 
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We originate, sell, and service a range of multifamily and other commercial real estate loans and broker sales of multifam-
ily properties. Our clients are owners and developers of multifamily properties and other commercial real estate across the 
country. We originate and sell multifamily loans through the programs of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and HUD (collec-
tively, the “Agencies”). We retain servicing rights and asset management responsibilities on substantially all loans that we 
originate for the Agencies’ programs. We are approved as a Fannie Mae DUS lender nationally, a Freddie Mac seller/ser-
vicer in 23 states and the District of Columbia, a Freddie Mac targeted affordable housing seller/servicer, a HUD Multi-
family Accelerated Processing (“MAP”) lender nationally, a HUD Section 232 LEAN lender nationally, and a Ginnie Mae 
issuer. We broker, and occasionally service, loans for several life insurance companies, commercial banks, commercial 
mortgage backed securities (“CMBS”) issuers, and other institutional investors, in which cases we do not fund the loan 
but rather act as a loan broker. We also originate and hold interim loans on our balance sheet and offer investment sales 
brokerage services that are focused primarily in the southeastern United States. 

 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc. is a holding company, and we conduct the majority of our operations through Walker & 

Dunlop, LLC, our operating company. 
 

Our Product and Service Offerings 
 

We originate, sell, and service a range of multifamily and other commercial real estate financing products, including 
Multifamily Finance, FHA Finance, Capital Markets, and Proprietary Capital. Our clients are developers and owners of 
real estate across the United States. We focus primarily on multifamily properties and offer a range of commercial real 
estate finance products to our customers, including first mortgage loans, second trust loans, supplemental financings, con-
struction loans, mezzanine loans, and bridge/interim loans. We originate and sell loans under the programs of the Agencies 
and originate and hold loans through our own proprietary interim lending platform. We retain servicing rights and asset 
management responsibilities on substantially all loans completed under the Agencies’ programs and some of the loans that 
we place with institutional investors. Our long-established relationships with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, and insti-
tutional investors enable us to offer this broad range of loan products and services. We provide investment sales brokerage 
services to owners and developers of multifamily properties. Each of our product offerings is designed to maximize our 
ability to meet client needs, source capital, and grow our commercial real estate finance business. 

 
The sale of each loan through the Agencies’ programs is negotiated prior to rate locking the loan with the borrower. 

For loans originated pursuant to the Fannie Mae DUS program, we generally are required to share the risk of loss, with 
our maximum loss capped at 20% of the loan amount at origination. In addition to our risk-sharing obligations, we may 
be obligated to repurchase loans that are originated for the Agencies’ programs if certain representations and warranties 
that we provide in connection with such originations are breached. We have never been required to repurchase a loan. We 
have established a strong credit culture over decades of originating loans and are committed to disciplined risk manage-
ment from the initial underwriting stage through loan payoff. 

 
Multifamily Finance 
 

We are one of 25 approved lenders that participate in Fannie Mae’s DUS program for multifamily, manufactured 
housing communities, student housing, affordable housing, and certain seniors housing properties. Under the Fannie Mae 
DUS program, Fannie Mae has delegated to us responsibility for ensuring that the loans we originate under the Fannie 
Mae DUS program satisfy the underwriting and other eligibility requirements established from time to time by Fannie 
Mae. In exchange for this delegation of authority, we share risk for a portion of the losses that may result from a borrower's 
default. For more information regarding our risk-sharing agreements with Fannie Mae, see “Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Credit Quality and Allow-
ance for Risk-Sharing Obligations.” Most of the Fannie Mae loans that we originate are sold in the form of a Fannie Mae-
guaranteed security to third-party investors. We are contracted by Fannie Mae to service and asset-manage all loans that 
we originate under the Fannie Mae DUS program.  
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We are one of 22 lenders approved as a Freddie Mac seller/servicer where we originate and sell to Freddie Mac 
multifamily, manufactured housing communities, student housing, affordable housing, and seniors housing loans that sat-
isfy Freddie Mac's underwriting and other eligibility requirements. Under Freddie Mac’s program, we submit our com-
pleted loan underwriting package to Freddie Mac and obtain its commitment to purchase the loan at a specified price after 
closing. Freddie Mac ultimately performs its own underwriting of loans that we sell to it. Freddie Mac may choose to hold, 
sell, or later securitize such loans. We very rarely have any risk-sharing arrangements on loans we sell to Freddie Mac 
under its program. We are contracted by Freddie Mac to service and asset-manage all loans that we originate under its 
program. 

 
On September 4, 2012, we closed the acquisition of CWCapital LLC (“CWCapital”), a wholly owned subsidiary of 

CW Financial Services LLC (“CW FS”), at which time the total consideration transferred was valued at approximately 
$231.1 million, consisting of $80.0 million in cash and approximately 11.6 million shares of our common stock with a fair 
value of $151.1 million issued in a private placement to CW FS (the “CW Acquisition”). Upon closing of the CW Acqui-
sition, CWCapital became an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and was renamed Walker & Dunlop 
Capital, LLC. The CW Acquisition increased our servicing portfolio by $14.5 billion and significantly increased our orig-
ination capacity and national presence, particularly for our multifamily and FHA finance products. 

 
Under certain limited circumstances, we may make preferred equity investments in entities controlled by certain of 

our borrowers that will assist those borrowers in acquiring and repositioning properties. The terms of such investments are 
negotiated with each investment. 

 
FHA Finance 
 

As an approved HUD MAP and HUD LEAN lender and Ginnie Mae issuer, we provide construction and permanent 
loans to developers and owners of multifamily housing, affordable housing, seniors housing, and healthcare facilities. We 
submit our completed loan underwriting package to HUD and obtain HUD's approval to originate the loan. We service 
and asset-manage all loans originated through HUD’s various programs. 

 
HUD-insured loans are typically placed in single loan pools which back Ginnie Mae securities. Ginnie Mae is a 

United States government corporation in the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. Ginnie Mae 
securities are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, and we very rarely bear any risk of loss on Ginnie 
Mae securities. In the event of a default on a HUD-insured loan, HUD will reimburse approximately 99% of any losses of 
principal and interest on the loan, and Ginnie Mae will reimburse the remaining losses. We are obligated to continue to 
advance principal and interest payments and tax and insurance escrow amounts on Ginnie Mae security holders until the 
Ginnie Mae security is fully paid.  

 
Capital Markets 
 

We serve as an intermediary in the placement of commercial real estate debt between institutional sources of capital, 
such as life insurance companies, investment banks, commercial banks, pension funds, CMBS issuers, and other institu-
tional investors, and owners of all types of commercial real estate. A client seeking to finance or refinance a property will 
seek our assistance in developing different alternatives and soliciting interest from various sources of capital. We often 
advise on capital structure, develop the financing package, facilitate negotiations between our client and institutional 
sources of capital, coordinate due diligence, and assist in closing the transaction. In these instances, we act as a loan broker 
and do not underwrite or originate the loan and do not retain any interest in the loan. We service some of these loans. 

 
Over the past three years, the Company has invested approximately $45.0 million to acquire certain assets and 

assume certain liabilities of three capital markets brokerage companies. These acquisitions have expanded our network of 
loan originators and provided further diversification to our origination platform. 

 



6 

Proprietary Capital 
 

The Proprietary Capital products we currently offer or have offered recently using our own capital include: 
 

Interim Loans  
 
We offer interim loans that provide floating-rate, interest-only loans for terms of up to three years to experienced 

borrowers seeking to acquire or reposition multifamily properties that do not currently qualify for permanent financing 
(the “Interim Program”). We underwrite all loans originated through the Interim Program and assume the full risk of loss 
on the loans while they are outstanding.  In addition, we service and asset-manage loans originated through the Interim 
Program, with the ultimate goal of providing permanent financing on the properties. These loans are classified as held for 
investment on our balance sheet during such time that they are outstanding. 
 

CMBS 
 
Through the third quarter of 2016, we offered CMBS executions through our own proprietary CMBS platform (the 

“CMBS Program”). We terminated the CMBS Program in the fourth quarter of 2016. Prior to 2016, the CMBS Program 
was managed through a partnership with another entity in which we owned less than 50%. At the beginning of the first 
quarter of 2016, our partner exited the CMBS Program, and we assumed full ownership. We consolidated the operations 
of the CMBS Program in our financial statements during 2016 and accounted for our investment in the partnership under 
the equity method of accounting prior to 2016. We underwrote all loans originated through the CMBS Program and fi-
nanced these loans using a combination of our own cash and, prior to 2016, the cash contributed by our partner, and 
warehouse financing facilities until they were sold to third-party securitization conduits. We did not retain any credit risk 
once the loans were sold but may be obligated to repurchase loans sold into a securitization if certain representations and 
warranties provided in connection with such loans are breached. Neither we nor the partnership has ever been required to 
repurchase a loan. 

 
Investment Sales Brokerage Services 
 

During the second quarter of 2015, we completed our purchase of 75% of certain assets and the assumption of 
certain liabilities of Engler Financial Group, LLC (“EFG”) for an agreed-upon price of $13.0 million payable in $11.1 
million cash and $1.9 million of our common stock issued in a private placement (the “EFG Acquisition”). The net assets 
purchased from EFG were contributed to a newly formed subsidiary, Walker & Dunlop Investment Sales, LLC (“WDIS”), 
through which we conduct our investment sales operations. The acquisition allowed us to begin offering investment sales 
brokerage services to owners and developers of multifamily properties that are seeking to sell these properties. We seek 
to maximize proceeds and certainty of closure for our clients using our knowledge of the commercial real estate and capital 
markets and the experience of our transaction professionals. Our investment sales brokerage services are offered primarily 
in the southeastern United States. We have added several investment sales brokerage teams since the acquisition and 
continue to seek to add other investment sales brokers, with the goal of expanding these brokerage services nationally. 

 
We consolidate the activities of WDIS and present the portion of WDIS that we do not control as Noncontrolling 

interests in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and Net income from noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income. 

 
Direct Loan Originators and Correspondent Network 
 

We originate loans directly through loan originators operating out of 28 offices nationwide. At December 31, 2016, 
we employed 125 loan originators and investment sales brokers. These individuals have deep knowledge of the commercial 
real estate lending business and bring with them extensive relationships with some of the largest property owners in the 
country. They have a thorough understanding of the financial needs and objectives of borrowers, the geographic markets 
in which they operate, market conditions specific to different types of commercial properties, and how to structure a loan 
product to meet their borrowers’ needs. These loan originators collect and analyze financial and property information, 
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assist the borrower in submitting information required to complete a loan application and, ultimately, help the borrower 
close the loan. Our loan originators are paid a salary and commissions based on the fees associated with the loans that they 
originate. 

 
In addition to our group of loan originators, at December 31, 2016, we had correspondent agreements with 24 inde-

pendently owned mortgage banking companies across the country with which we have relationships for Agency loan 
originations. This network of correspondents helps us extend our geographic reach into new and/or smaller markets on a 
cost effective basis. In addition to identifying potential borrowers and key principal(s) (the individual or individuals di-
recting the activities of the borrowing entity), our correspondents assist us in evaluating loans, including pre-screening the 
borrowers, key principal(s), and properties for program eligibility, coordinating due diligence, and generally providing 
market intelligence. In exchange for providing these services, the correspondent earns an origination fee based on a per-
centage of the principal amount of the financing arranged and in some cases a fee paid out over time based on the servicing 
revenues earned over the life of the loan. 

 
Underwriting and Risk Management 
 

We use several tools to manage our Fannie Mae risk-sharing exposure. These tools include an underwriting and 
approval process that is independent of the loan originator; evaluating and modifying our underwriting criteria given the 
underlying multifamily housing market fundamentals; limiting our geographic, borrower, and key principal exposures; 
and using modified risk-sharing under the Fannie Mae DUS program. Similar tools are used to manage our exposure to 
credit loss on loans originated under the Interim Program. 

 
Our underwriting process begins with a review of suitability for our investors and a detailed review of the borrower, 

key principal(s), and the property. We review a borrower's financial statements for minimum net worth and liquidity re-
quirements, as well as obtaining credit and criminal background checks. We also review a borrower's and key principal(s)’s 
operating track record, including evaluating the performance of other properties owned by the applicable borrower and 
key principal(s). We also consider the borrower's and key principal(s)’s bankruptcy and foreclosure history. We believe 
that lending to a borrower and key principal(s) with a proven track record as an operator mitigates our credit risk. 

 
We review the fundamental value and credit profile of the underlying property, including an analysis of regional 

economic trends, appraisals of the property, site visits, and reviews of historical and prospective financials. Third-party 
vendors are engaged for appraisals, engineering reports, environmental reports, flood certification reports, zoning reports, 
and credit reports. We utilize a list of approved third-party vendors for these reports. Each report is reviewed by our 
underwriting team for accuracy, quality, and comprehensiveness. All third-party vendors are reviewed periodically for the 
quality of their work and are removed from our list of approved vendors if the quality or timeliness of the reports is below 
our standards. This is particularly true for engineering and environmental reports on which we rely to make decisions 
regarding ongoing replacement reserves and environmental matters. 

 
In addition, we maintain concentration limits with respect to our Fannie Mae loans. We limit geographic concentra-

tion, focusing on regional employment concentration and trends. We also limit the aggregate amount of loans subject to 
full risk-sharing for any one borrower. We minimize individual loan concentrations under our current credit management 
policy to cap the loan balance subject to full risk-sharing at $60.0 million.  Accordingly, we currently elect to use modified 
risk-sharing for loans of more than $60.0 million in order to limit our maximum loss on any one loan to $12.0 million 
(such exposure would occur in the event that the underlying collateral is determined to be completely without value at the 
time of loss). However, we occasionally elect to originate a loan with full risk sharing even when the loan balance is greater 
than $60.0 million if we believe the loan characteristics support such an approach. 

 
Servicing and Asset Management 
 

We service nearly all loans we originate for the Agencies and our proprietary capital products and some of the loans 
we broker for institutional investors, primarily life insurance companies. We are an approved servicer for Fannie Mae, 
Freddie Mac, and HUD loans. We are currently a rated primary servicer with Fitch Ratings. Our servicing function includes 
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loan servicing and asset management activities, performing or overseeing the following activities: 
 

• carrying out all cashiering functions relating to the loan, including providing monthly billing statements to 
the borrower and collecting and applying payments on the loan; 

• administering reserve and escrow funds for repairs, tenant improvements, taxes, and insurance; 
• obtaining and analyzing financial statements of the borrower and performing periodic property inspections; 
• preparing and providing periodic reports and remittances to the GSEs, investors, master servicers, or other 

designated persons; 
• administering lien filings; and 
• performing other tasks and obligations that are delegated to us. 

 
Life insurance companies, whose loans we may service, may perform some or all of the activities identified in the 

list above. We outsource some of our servicing activities to a subservicer. 
 
For most loans we service under the Fannie Mae DUS program, we are currently required to advance the principal 

and interest payments and tax and insurance escrow amounts for four months. We are reimbursed by Fannie Mae for these 
advances, which may be used to offset any losses incurred under our risk-sharing obligations once the loan is settled. 

 
Under the HUD program, we are obligated to advance tax and insurance escrow amounts and principal and interest 

payments on the Ginnie Mae securities until the Ginnie Mae security is fully paid. In the event of a default on a HUD-
insured loan, we can elect to assign the loan to HUD and file a mortgage insurance claim. HUD will reimburse approxi-
mately 99% of any losses of principal and interest on the loan and Ginnie Mae will reimburse substantially all of the 
remaining losses. In cases where we elect to not assign the loan to HUD, we attempt to mitigate losses to HUD by assisting 
the borrower to obtain a modification to the loan that will improve the borrower’s likelihood of future performance. 

 
Our Growth Strategy 
 

We believe we are positioned to continue growing and diversifying our business by taking advantage of opportuni-
ties in the commercial real estate finance and services market.  

 
We seek to profitably grow and diversify our business by focusing on the following areas: 
 

• Remain a Top Five Lender in Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Executions.  We intend to further grow our 
Agency loan originations with the goal of increasing our market share with the GSEs and becoming a top 
five lender of HUD products. For 2016, we ranked as the second largest Fannie Mae DUS lender, and we 
ranked as the third largest Freddie Mac seller/servicer. Additionally, we were a top ten lender with HUD in 
2016. At December 31, 2016, our origination platform had approximately 54 loan originators focused on 
selling Agency products, supplemented by 24 independently owned mortgage banking companies with 
whom we have correspondent relationships. We believe that we will have significant opportunities to con-
tinue broadening our Agency loan origination networks in order to maintain or grow our market share. This 
expansion may include organic growth, recruitment of talented origination professionals, and potentially 
acquisitions of competitors with strong origination capabilities. 

• Continue to Expand our Capital Markets Business. At December 31, 2016, we had 61 loan originators in 
15 offices focused on capital markets transactions across the United States. Over the past three years, we 
have added 60 new loan originators to our Capital Markets team through recruiting and the acquisition of 
the loan origination platforms of three companies. We intend to continue growing our Capital Markets team 
to strengthen our market position and borrower relationships and to grow our market share. Continued 
growth of our Capital Markets group will provide greater exposure to the overall commercial real estate 
market, expose us to new correspondent relationships, and provide us with institutional access to deal flow 
supporting our Proprietary Capital solutions. In addition, many of our Capital Markets loan originators also 
originate loans through the Agencies’ programs, assisting our growth objectives with the Agencies. 
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• Continue to Develop Proprietary Sources of Capital and Expand Our Product Offerings.  Since our initial 
public offering, we have expanded our product offerings to include bridge financing for transitional prop-
erties and multifamily investment sales. We anticipate raising more third-party capital, which will allow us 
to offer additional commercial real estate loan products and services to our clients as their financial needs 
evolve. We believe that we have the structuring, underwriting, servicing, credit, and asset management 
expertise to offer these additional commercial real estate loan products and services; and we believe that 
cash on hand, together with third-party financing sources, will allow us to meet client demand for additional 
products that are within our areas of expertise, including multifamily and other lending for our balance 
sheet or for our partnerships. 

 
Competition 
 

We compete in the commercial real estate services industry. We are one of 25 approved lenders that participate in 
Fannie Mae’s DUS program and one of 22 lenders approved as a Freddie Mac seller/servicer. We face significant compe-
tition across our business, including, but not limited to, commercial real estate services subsidiaries of large national com-
mercial banks, privately-held and public commercial real estate service providers, CMBS conduits, and insurance compa-
nies, some of which are also investors in loans we originate. Our competitors include, but are not limited to, Wells Fargo, 
N.A., CBRE Group, Inc., Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated, Marcus & Millichap, Inc., HFF, Inc., Eastdil Secured (a sub-
sidiary of Wells Fargo, N.A.), PNC Real Estate, Northmarq Capital, LLC, Berkeley Point Capital, and Berkadia Commer-
cial Mortgage, LLC. Many of these competitors enjoy advantages over us, including greater name recognition, financial 
resources, and access to lower-cost capital. The commercial real estate services subsidiaries of the large national commer-
cial banks may have an advantage over us in originating commercial loans if borrowers already have other lending rela-
tionships with the bank. 

 
We compete on the basis of quality of service, relationships, loan structure, terms, pricing, and industry depth. 

Industry depth includes the knowledge of local and national real estate market conditions, commercial real estate, loan 
product expertise, and the ability to analyze and manage credit risk. Our competitors seek to compete aggressively on these 
factors. Our success depends on our ability to offer attractive loan products, provide superior service, demonstrate industry 
depth, maintain and capitalize on relationships with investors, borrowers, and key loan correspondents, and remain com-
petitive in pricing. In addition, future changes in laws, regulations, Agency program requirements, and consolidation in 
the commercial real estate finance market could lead to the entry of more competitors. 
 
Regulatory Requirements 
 

Our business is subject to laws and regulations in a number of jurisdictions. The level of regulation and supervision 
that we are subject to varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and is based on the type of business activities involved. The 
regulatory requirements that apply to our activities are subject to change from time to time and may become more restric-
tive, making our compliance with applicable requirements more difficult or expensive or otherwise restricting our ability 
to conduct our business in the manner that it is now conducted. Changes in applicable regulatory requirements, including 
changes in their enforcement, could materially and adversely affect us. 
 
Federal and State Regulation of Commercial Real Estate Lending Activities 
 

Our multifamily and commercial real estate lending, servicing and asset management businesses are subject, in 
certain instances, to supervision and regulation by federal and state governmental authorities in the United States. In ad-
dition, these businesses may be subject to various laws and judicial and administrative decisions imposing various require-
ments and restrictions, which, among other things, regulate lending activities, regulate conduct with borrowers, establish 
maximum interest rates, finance charges, and other charges and require disclosures to borrowers. Although most states do 
not regulate commercial finance, certain states impose limitations on interest rates, as well as other charges on certain 
collection practices and creditor remedies.  Some states also require licensing of lenders, loan brokers, and loan servicers 
and adequate disclosure of certain contract terms. We also are required to comply with certain provisions of, among other 
statutes and regulations, the USA PATRIOT Act, regulations promulgated by the Office of Foreign Asset Control, the 
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Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, which we refer to as “ERISA,” and federal and state 
securities laws and regulations. 
 
Requirements of the Agencies 
 

To maintain our status as an approved lender for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and as a HUD-approved mortgagee 
and issuer of Ginnie Mae securities, we are required to meet and maintain various eligibility criteria from time to time 
established by the Agencies, such as minimum net worth, operational liquidity and collateral requirements, and compliance 
with reporting requirements. We also are required to originate our loans and perform our loan servicing functions in ac-
cordance with the applicable program requirements and guidelines from time to time established by the Agencies. If we 
fail to comply with the requirements of any of these programs, the Agencies may terminate or withdraw our approval. In 
addition, the Agencies have the authority under their guidelines to terminate a lender's authority to sell loans to it and 
service their loans. The loss of one or more of these approvals would have a material adverse impact on us and could result 
in further disqualification with other counterparties, and we may be required to obtain additional state lender or mortgage 
banker licensing to originate loans if that status is revoked. 
 
Employees 
 

At December 31, 2016, we employed 550 full-time employees. All employees, except our executive officers, are 
employed by our operating subsidiary, Walker & Dunlop, LLC. Our executive officers are employees of Walker & Dunlop, 
Inc. None of our employees is represented by a union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement, and we have never 
experienced a work stoppage. We believe that our employee relations are good. For example, in 2016, we were ranked 
one of the best workplaces in the United States in Fortune’s Great Place to Work® 2016 Best Small & Medium Workplaces 
list. This is the fourth time in five years that we have received this recognition. 
 
Available Information 
 

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements, and other information with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission (the “SEC”). These filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC’s website at 
http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s public reference room located at 100 
F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public refer-
ence room. 

 
Our principal Internet website can be found at http://www.walkerdunlop.com. The content of, or otherwise accessi-

ble through, our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available free of charge on or through 
our website, access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, 
and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed, or furnished, 
to the SEC. 

 
Our website also includes a corporate governance section which contains our Corporate Governance Guidelines 

(which includes our Director Responsibilities and Qualifications), Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Code of Ethics 
for Principal Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, Board of Directors' Committee Charters for the Audit, Com-
pensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees, Code of Ethics for Principal Executive Officer and 
Senior Financial Officers, and the method by which interested parties may contact our Ethics Hotline. 

 
In the event of any changes to these charters, codes or guidelines, changed copies will also be made available on our 

website. If we waive or amend any provision of our code of ethics, we will promptly disclose such waiver or amendment 
as required by SEC or New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) rules. We intend to promptly post any waiver or amendment 
of our Code of Ethics for Principal Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers to our website. 

 
You may request a copy of any of the above documents, at no cost to you, by writing or telephoning us at: Walker 
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& Dunlop, Inc., 7501 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200E, Bethesda, Maryland 20814, Attention: Investor Relations, tele-
phone (301) 215-5500. We will not send exhibits to these reports, unless the exhibits are specifically requested and you 
pay a modest fee for duplication and delivery.  
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors. 
 

Investing in our common stock involves risks. You should carefully consider the following risk factors, together 
with all the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, before making an investment decision to 
purchase our common stock. The realization of any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our busi-
ness, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and the market price and liquidity of our common stock, which 
could cause you to lose all or a significant part of your investment in our common stock. Some statements in this Annual 
Report, including statements in the following risk factors, constitute forward-looking statements. Please refer to the section 
titled “Forward-Looking Statements.” 
 
Risks Relating to Our Business 
 
The loss of or changes in our relationships with the Agencies and institutional investors would adversely affect our 
ability to originate commercial real estate loans through the Agencies’ programs, which would materially and adversely 
affect us. 
 

Currently, we originate a significant percentage of our loans for sale through the Agencies’ programs. We are ap-
proved as a Fannie Mae DUS lender nationwide, a Freddie Mac seller/servicer in 23 states and the District of Columbia, a 
Freddie Mac targeted affordable housing seller/servicer, a HUD MAP lender nationwide, and a Ginnie Mae issuer. Our 
status as an approved lender affords us a number of advantages and may be terminated by the applicable Agency at any 
time. The loss of such status would, or changes in our relationships could, prevent us from being able to originate com-
mercial real estate loans for sale through the particular Agency, which would materially and adversely affect us. It could 
also result in a loss of similar approvals from the Agencies. 

 
We also broker loans on behalf of certain life insurance companies, investment banks, commercial banks, pension 

funds, CMBS conduits, and other institutional investors that directly underwrite and provide funding for the loans at clos-
ing. In cases where we do not fund the loan, we act as a loan broker. If these investors discontinue their relationship with 
us and replacement investors cannot be found on a timely basis, we could be adversely affected. 

 
A change to the conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related actions, along with any changes in laws 
and regulations affecting the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U.S. federal government or 
the existence of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, could materially and adversely affect our business. 
 

Currently, we originate a majority of our loans for sale through GSE programs. Additionally, a substantial majority 
of our servicing rights are derived from loans we sell through GSE programs. Changes in the business charters, structure, 
or existence of one or both of the GSEs could eliminate or substantially reduce the number of loans we originate with the 
GSEs, which in turn would lead to a reduction in fees related to such loans. These effects would likely cause us to realize 
significantly lower revenues from our loan originations and servicing fees, and ultimately would have a material adverse 
impact on our business and financial results.  

 
Conservatorships of the GSEs  
 
In September 2008, the GSEs’ regulator, the Federal Housing Finance Agency, (the “FHFA”) placed each GSE into 

conservatorship. The conservatorship is a statutory process designed to preserve and conserve the GSEs’ assets and prop-
erty and put them in a sound and solvent condition. The conservatorships have no specified termination dates and there 
continues to be significant uncertainty regarding the future of the GSEs, including how long they will continue to exist in 
their current forms, the extent of their roles in the housing markets and whether or in what form they may exist following 
conservatorship.  
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Housing Finance Reform 
 
Policymakers and others have focused significant attention in recent years on how to reform the nation’s housing 

finance system, including what role, if any, the GSEs should play. However, no meaningful reform has taken place. It is 
unclear at this time what the Trump Administration’s goals are with respect to the future state of the GSEs. 

 
Regulatory Reform 
 
As the primary regulator of the GSEs, the FHFA has taken a number of steps during conservatorship to restrict the 

GSEs’ multifamily business activities.  Specifically and most significantly, since 2013, the FHFA has limited the amount 
of new multifamily loans that may be purchased annually by the GSEs.  In November 2016, the FHFA announced that the 
GSE’s 2017 multifamily loan purchases would be capped at $36.5 billion for each GSE, with exceptions for loans in 
“affordable” and underserved market segments.   

 
Legislative Reform  
 
Congress has also continued to consider housing finance reform.  In the past few years, members of Congress intro-

duced several bills to reform the housing finance system, including the GSEs. Several of the bills require the wind down 
or receivership of the GSEs within a specified period of enactment and also place certain restrictions on the GSEs’ activities 
prior to being wound down or placed into receivership. 

 
We expect Congress will continue to consider housing finance reform in the future, including conducting hearings 

and considering legislation that would alter the housing finance system, including the activities or operations of the GSEs. 
We cannot predict the prospects for the enactment, timing or content of legislative proposals regarding the future status of 
the GSEs. As a result, significant uncertainty regarding the future of the GSEs remains. 

 
We are subject to risk of loss in connection with defaults on loans sold under the Fannie Mae DUS program that could 
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and liquidity. 
 

Under the Fannie Mae DUS program, we originate and service multifamily loans for Fannie Mae without having to 
obtain Fannie Mae's prior approval for certain loans, as long as the loans meet the underwriting guidelines set forth by 
Fannie Mae. In return for the delegated authority to make loans and the commitment to purchase loans by Fannie Mae, we 
must maintain minimum collateral and generally are required to share risk of loss on loans sold through Fannie Mae. Under 
the full risk-sharing formula, we are required to absorb the first 5% of any losses on the unpaid principal balance of a loan 
at the time of loss settlement, and above 5% we are required to share the loss with Fannie Mae, with our maximum loss 
capped at 20% of the original unpaid principal balance of a loan. We have modified our risk-sharing obligations on some 
Fannie Mae DUS loans to reduce our potential loss exposure on those loans. In addition, Fannie Mae can double or triple 
our risk-sharing obligations if the loan does not meet specific underwriting criteria or if the loan defaults within 12 months 
of its sale to Fannie Mae. As of December 31, 2016, we had pledged securities of $80.5 million as collateral against future 
losses under $24.1 billion of loans outstanding that are subject to risk-sharing obligations, as more fully described under 
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Re-
sources,” which we refer to as our "at risk balance." Fannie Mae collateral requirements may change in the future. As of 
December 31, 2016, our allowance for risk-sharing as a percentage of the at risk balance was 0.02%, or $3.6 million, and 
reflects our current estimate of our future expected payouts under our risk-sharing obligations. Additionally, we have a 
guaranty obligation of $32.3 million as of December 31, 2016. The guaranty obligation and the allowance for risk-sharing 
obligations as a percentage of the at risk balance was 0.7% as of December 31, 2016. We cannot ensure that our estimate 
of the allowance for risk-sharing obligations will be sufficient to cover future write offs. Other factors may also affect a 
borrower's decision to default on a loan, such as property, cash flow, occupancy, maintenance needs, and other financing 
obligations. As of December 31, 2016, there were no loans in our at risk servicing portfolio that were 60+ days delinquent. 
If loan defaults increase, actual risk-sharing obligation payments under the Fannie Mae DUS program may increase, and 
such defaults and payments could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and liquidity. In addition, any 
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failure to pay our share of losses under the Fannie Mae DUS program could result in the revocation of our license from 
Fannie Mae and the exercise of various remedies available to Fannie Mae under the Fannie Mae DUS program. 

 
The number of delinquent and/or defaulted loans could increase, which could have a material adverse effect on us. 
 

As a loan servicer, we maintain the primary contact with the borrower throughout the life of the loan and are re-
sponsible, pursuant to our servicing agreements with the Agencies and institutional investors, for asset management. We 
are also responsible, together with the applicable Agency or institutional investor, for taking actions to mitigate losses. 
Our asset management process may be unsuccessful in identifying loans that are in danger of underperforming or default-
ing or in taking appropriate action once those loans are identified. While we can recommend a loss mitigation strategy for 
the Agencies, decisions regarding loss mitigation are within the control of the Agencies. Previous turmoil in the real estate, 
credit and capital markets have made this process even more difficult and unpredictable. When loans become delinquent, 
we incur additional expenses in servicing and asset managing the loan and are typically required to advance principal and 
interest payments and tax and insurance escrow amounts. We also could be subject to a loss of our contractual servicing 
fee and we could suffer losses of up to 20% (or more for loans that do not meet specific underwriting criteria or default 
within 12 months) of the unpaid principal balance of a Fannie Mae DUS loan with full risk-sharing. These items could 
have a negative impact on our cash flows and a negative effect on the net carrying value of the mortgage servicing right 
(MSR) on our balance sheet and could result in a charge to our earnings. Because of the foregoing, a rise in delinquencies 
could have a material adverse effect on us. 

 
A reduction in the prices paid for our loans and services or an increase in loan or security interest rates required by 
investors could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and liquidity. 
 

Our results of operations and liquidity could be materially and adversely affected if the Agencies or institutional 
investors lower the price they are willing to pay to us for our loans or services or adversely change the material terms of 
their loan purchases or service arrangements with us. Multiple factors determine the price we receive for our loans. With 
respect to Fannie Mae related originations, our loans are generally sold as Fannie Mae-insured securities to third-party 
investors. With respect to HUD related originations, our loans are generally sold as Ginnie Mae securities to third-party 
investors. In both cases, the price paid to us reflects, in part, the competitive market bidding process for these securities. 

 
We sell loans directly to Freddie Mac. Freddie Mac may choose to hold, sell or later securitize such loans. We 

believe terms set by Freddie Mac are influenced by similar market factors as those that impact the price of Fannie Mae–
insured or Ginnie Mae securities, although the pricing process differs. With respect to loans that are placed with institu-
tional investors, the origination fees that we receive from borrowers are determined through negotiations, competition, and 
other market conditions. 

 
Loan servicing fees are based, in part, on the risk-sharing obligations associated with the loan and the market pricing 

of credit risk. The credit risk premium offered by Fannie Mae for new loans can change periodically but remains fixed 
once we enter into a commitment to sell the loan. Over the past several years, Fannie Mae loan servicing fees have been 
higher due to the market pricing of credit risk. There can be no assurance that such fees will continue to remain at such 
levels or that such levels will be sufficient if delinquencies occur. 

 
Servicing fees for loans placed with institutional investors are negotiated with each institutional investor pursuant 

to agreements that we have with them. These fees for new loans vary over time and may be materially and adversely 
affected by a number of factors, including competitors that may be willing to provide similar services at lower rates. 

 
A significant portion of our revenue is derived from loan servicing fees, and declines in or terminations of servicing 
engagements or breaches of servicing agreements, including from non-performance by third parties that we engage for 
back-office loan servicing functions, could have a material adverse effect on us. 
 

We expect that loan servicing fees will continue to constitute a significant portion of our revenues for the foreseeable 
future. Nearly all of these fees are derived from loans that we originate and sell through the Agencies’ programs or place 



14 

with institutional investors. A decline in the number or value of loans that we originate for these investors or terminations 
of our servicing engagements will decrease these fees. HUD has the right to terminate our current servicing engagements 
for cause. In addition to termination for cause, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac may terminate our servicing engagements 
without cause by paying a termination fee. Our institutional investors typically may terminate our servicing engagements 
at any time with or without cause, without paying a termination fee. We are also subject to losses that may arise from 
servicing errors, such as a failure to maintain insurance, pay taxes, or provide notices. In addition, we have contracted with 
a third party to perform certain routine back-office aspects of loan servicing. If we or this third party fails to perform, or 
we breach or the third-party causes us to breach our servicing obligations to the Agencies or institutional investors, our 
servicing engagements may be terminated. Declines or terminations of servicing engagements or breaches of such obliga-
tions could materially and adversely affect us. 

 
If one or more of our warehouse facilities, on which we are highly dependent, are terminated, we may be unable to find 
replacement financing on favorable terms, or at all, which would have a material adverse effect on us. 
 

We require a significant amount of short-term funding capacity for loans we originate. As of December 31, 2016, 
we had $2.1 billion of committed loan funding available through five commercial banks and $1.5 billion of uncommitted 
funding available through Fannie Mae’s As Soon As Pooled (“ASAP”) program. Consistent with industry practice, five 
of our existing warehouse facilities are short-term, requiring annual renewal. If any of our committed facilities are termi-
nated or are not renewed or our uncommitted facilities are not honored, we may be unable to find replacement financing 
on favorable terms, or at all, and we might not be able to originate loans, which would have a material adverse effect on 
us. Additionally, as our business continues to expand, we may need additional warehouse funding capacity for loans we 
originate.  There can be no assurance that, in the future, we will be able to obtain additional warehouse funding capacity 
on favorable terms, on a timely basis, or at all. 

 
If we fail to meet or satisfy any of the financial or other covenants included in our warehouse facilities, we would 

be in default under one or more of these facilities and our lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under the 
facilities to be immediately due and payable, enforce their interests against loans pledged under such facilities and restrict 
our ability to make additional borrowings. These facilities also contain cross-default provisions, such that if a default 
occurs under any of our debt agreements, generally the lenders under our other debt agreements could also declare a 
default. These restrictions may interfere with our ability to obtain financing or to engage in other business activities, which 
could materially and adversely affect us. There can be no assurance that we will maintain compliance with all financial 
and other covenants included in our warehouse facilities in the future. 

 
We are subject to the risk of failed loan deliveries, and even after a successful closing and delivery, may be required to 
repurchase the loan or to indemnify the investor if there is a breach of a representation or warranty made by us in 
connection with the sale of loans through the programs of the Agencies or CMBS securitizations, any of which could 
have a material adverse effect on us. 
 

We bear the risk that a borrower will choose not to close on a loan that has been pre-sold to an investor or that the 
investor will choose not to take delivery of the loan, including because a catastrophic change in the condition of a property 
occurs after we fund the loan and prior to the investor purchase date. We also have the risk of serious errors in loan 
documentation which prevent timely delivery of the loan prior to the investor purchase date. A complete failure to deliver 
a loan could be a default under the warehouse line used to finance the loan. We can provide no assurance that we will not 
experience failed deliveries in the future or that any losses will not be material or will be mitigated through property 
insurance or payment protections. 

 
We must make certain representations and warranties concerning each loan originated by us for the Agencies’ pro-

grams or through CMBS securitizations. The representations and warranties relate to our practices in the origination and 
servicing of the loans and the accuracy of the information being provided by us. For example, we are generally required 
to provide the following, among other, representations and warranties: we are authorized to do business and to sell or 
assign the loan; the loan conforms to the requirements of the Agencies and certain laws and regulations; the underlying 
mortgage represents a valid lien on the property and there are no other liens on the property; the loan documents are valid 
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and enforceable; taxes, assessments, insurance premiums, rents and similar other payments have been paid or escrowed; 
the property is insured, conforms to zoning laws and remains intact; and we do not know of any issues regarding the loan 
that are reasonably expected to cause the loan to be delinquent or unacceptable for investment or adversely affect its value. 
We are permitted to satisfy certain of these representations and warranties by furnishing a title insurance policy. 

 
In the event of a breach of any representation or warranty concerning a loan, investors could, among other things, 

require us to repurchase the full amount of the loan and seek indemnification for losses from us, or, for Fannie Mae DUS 
loans, increase the level of risk-sharing on the loan. Our obligation to repurchase the loan is independent of our risk-
sharing obligations. The Agencies or CMBS investors could require us to repurchase the loan if representations and war-
ranties are breached, even if the loan is not in default. Because the accuracy of many such representations and warranties 
generally is based on our actions or on third-party reports, such as title reports and environmental reports, we may not 
receive similar representations and warranties from other parties that would serve as a claim against them. Even if we 
receive representations and warranties from third parties and have a claim against them in the event of a breach, our ability 
to recover on any such claim may be limited. Our ability to recover against a borrower that breaches its representations 
and warranties to us may be similarly limited. Our ability to recover on a claim against any party would also be dependent, 
in part, upon the financial condition and liquidity of such party. There can be no assurance that we, our employees or third 
parties will not make mistakes that would subject us to repurchase or indemnification obligations. Any significant repur-
chase or indemnification obligations imposed on us could have a material adverse effect on us. 

 
Under our interim loan program, we originate loans that are held on our balance sheet. Balance sheet lending may 
increase our risk of loss, and because we are not as experienced with such loan products, we may not be successful or 
profitable in offering such products. We expect to offer additional new loan products to meet evolving borrower de-
mand, including new types of loans that we originate and hold on our balance sheet. 
 

Under the Interim Program, we offer short-term, floating-rate loans to borrowers seeking to acquire or reposition 
multifamily properties that do not currently qualify for permanent financing. Such a borrower under an interim loan often 
has identified a transitional asset that has been under-managed and/or is located in a recovering market. If the market in 
which the asset is located fails to recover according to the borrower’s projections, or if the borrower fails to improve the 
quality of the asset’s management and/or the value of the asset, the borrower may not receive a sufficient return on the 
asset to satisfy the interim loan, and we bear the risk that we may not recover some or all of the loan balance. In addition, 
borrowers usually use the proceeds of a long-term mortgage loan to repay an interim loan. We may therefore be dependent 
on a borrower’s ability to obtain permanent financing to repay our interim loan, which could depend on market conditions 
and other factors. Further, interim loans may be relatively less liquid than loans against stabilized properties due to their 
short life, their potential unsuitability for securitization, any unstabilized nature of the underlying real estate and the diffi-
culty of recovery in the event of a borrower’s default. This lack of liquidity may significantly impede our ability to respond 
to adverse changes in the performance of loans in the Interim Program and may adversely affect the fair value of such 
loans and the proceeds from their disposition. 

 
We fund floating rate first mortgage loans for periods of up to three years, using available cash in combination with 

advances under dedicated warehouse facilities. We service and asset-manage loans originated under the Interim Program 
and bear the sole risk of loss.  Carrying loans for longer periods of time on our balance sheet exposes us to greater risks of 
loss than we currently face for loans that are pre-sold or placed with investors, including, without limitation, 100% expo-
sure for defaults and impairment charges, which may adversely affect our profitability. 

 
In the future, we expect to offer new loan products to meet evolving borrower demands, including loans that we 

originate and hold on our balance sheet. We may initiate new loan product and service offerings or acquire them through 
acquisitions of operating businesses. Because we may not be as experienced with new loan products or services, we may 
require additional time and resources for offering and managing such products and services effectively or may be unsuc-
cessful in offering such new products and services at a profit. 
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We have committed to make preferred equity investments that involve a greater risk of loss than our traditional real 
estate lending activities.  

 
We have committed to make preferred equity investments in entities owning real estate. Such investments are sub-

ordinate to debt financing and are not secured by real estate. If the issuer of the preferred equity defaults on our investment, 
in most instances we would only be able to proceed against the entity that issued the equity in accordance with the terms 
of the investment, and not any property owned by the entity. As a result, we may not recover some or all of our invested 
capital, which could result in losses to the Company. As of December 31, 2016, we have committed to fund preferred 
equity investments with one borrower totaling $42.8 million, $24.8 million of which has been funded. 

 
Our business is significantly affected by general business, economic and market conditions and cycles, particularly in 
the multifamily and commercial real estate industry, including changes in government fiscal and monetary policies, 
and, accordingly, we could be materially harmed in the event of a market downturn or changes in government policies. 
 

We are sensitive to general business, economic and market conditions and cycles, particularly in the multifamily 
and commercial real estate industry. These conditions include changes in short-term and long-term interest rates, inflation 
and deflation, fluctuations in the real estate and debt capital markets and developments in national and local economies, 
unemployment rates, commercial property vacancy rates, and rental rates. Any sustained period of weakness or weakening 
business or economic conditions in the markets in which we do business or in related markets could result in a decrease in 
the demand for our loans and services, which could materially harm us. In addition, the number of borrowers who become 
delinquent, become subject to bankruptcy or default on their loans could increase, resulting in a decrease in the value of 
our MSRs, higher levels of servicer advances, and loss on our Fannie Mae loans for which we share risk of loss, and could 
materially and adversely affect us.  

 
We also are significantly affected by the fiscal, monetary, and budgetary policies of the U.S. government and its 

agencies. We are particularly affected by the policies of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Fed-
eral Reserve”), which regulates the supply of money and credit in the United States. The Federal Reserve’s policies affect 
interest rates, which can have a significant impact on the demand for multifamily and commercial real estate loans. Sig-
nificant fluctuations in interest rates as well as protracted periods of increases or decreases in interest rates could adversely 
affect the operation and income of multifamily and commercial real estate properties, as well as the demand from investors 
for multifamily and commercial real estate debt in the secondary market. In particular, higher interest rates often decrease 
the number of loans originated. An increase in interest rates could cause refinancing of existing loans to become less 
attractive and qualifying for a loan to become more difficult. Budgetary policies also impact our ability to originate loans, 
particularly if it has a negative impact on the ability of the Agencies to do business with us.  Changes in fiscal, monetary, 
and budgetary policies are beyond our control, are difficult to predict, and could materially and adversely affect us.   

 
We are dependent upon the success of the multifamily real estate sector and conditions that negatively impact the 
multifamily sector may reduce demand for our products and services and materially and adversely affect us. 
 

We provide commercial real estate financial products and services primarily to developers and owners of multifamily 
properties. Accordingly, the success of our business is closely tied to the overall success of the multifamily real estate 
market. Various changes in real estate conditions may impact the multifamily sector. Any negative trends in such real 
estate conditions may reduce demand for our products and services and, as a result, adversely affect our results of opera-
tions. These conditions include: 

 
• oversupply of, or a reduction in demand for, multifamily housing; 
• a change in policy or circumstances that may result in a significant number of potential residents of multifamily 

properties deciding to purchase homes instead of renting; 
• rent control or stabilization laws, or other laws regulating multifamily housing, which could affect the profita-

bility of multifamily developments; 
• the inability of residents and tenants to pay rent; 
• increased competition in the multifamily sector based on considerations such as the attractiveness, location, 
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rental rates, amenities, and safety record of various properties; and  
• increased operating costs, including increased real property taxes, maintenance, insurance, and utilities costs. 
 
Moreover, other factors may adversely affect the multifamily sector, including changes in government regulations 

and other laws, rules and regulations governing real estate, zoning or taxes, changes in interest rate levels, the potential 
liability under environmental and other laws, and other unforeseen events. Any or all of these factors could negatively 
impact the multifamily sector and, as a result, reduce the demand for our products and services. Any such reduction could 
materially and adversely affect us. 

 
The loss of our key management could result in a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 
 

Our future success depends to a significant extent on the continued services of our senior management, particularly 
William Walker, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The loss of the services of any of these individuals could 
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. We maintain “key person” life insurance only on 
Mr. Walker, and the insurance proceeds from such insurance may be insufficient to cover the cost associated with recruit-
ing a new Chief Executive Officer. 

 
Our growth strategy relies upon our ability to hire and retain qualified loan originators, and if we are unable to do so, 
our growth could be limited. 
 

We depend on our loan originators to generate borrower clients by, among other things, developing relationships 
with commercial property owners, real estate agents and brokers, developers and others, which we believe leads to repeat 
and referral business. Accordingly, we must be able to attract, motivate and retain skilled loan originators. The market for 
loan originators is highly competitive and may lead to increased costs to hire and retain them. We cannot guarantee that 
we will be able to attract or retain qualified loan originators. If we cannot attract, motivate or retain a sufficient number of 
skilled loan originators, or if our hiring and retention costs increase, we could be materially and adversely affected.  

 
We have numerous significant competitors and potential future competitors, some of which may have greater resources 
and access to capital than we do; consequently, we may not be able to compete effectively in the future. 
 

We continue to face significant competition from other commercial real estate service providers, commercial banks, 
CMBS conduit lenders, and life insurance companies, some of which are also investors in loans we originate. Many of 
these competitors may enjoy competitive advantages over us, including: 

 
• greater name recognition; 
• a larger, more established network of correspondents and loan originators; 
• established relationships with institutional investors; 
• access to lower cost and more stable funding sources; 
• an established market presence in markets where we do not yet have a presence or where we have a smaller 

presence; 
• ability to diversify and grow by providing a greater variety of commercial real estate loan products on more 

attractive terms, some of which require greater access to capital and the ability to retain loans on the balance 
sheet; and 

• greater financial resources and access to capital to develop branch offices and compensate key employees. 
 
Commercial banks may have an advantage over us in originating loans if borrowers already have a line of credit or 

construction financing with the bank. Commercial real estate service providers may have an advantage over us to the extent 
they also offer a larger or more comprehensive investment sales platform. We compete based on quality of service, rela-
tionships, loan structure, terms, pricing, and industry depth. Industry depth includes the knowledge of local and national 
real estate market conditions, commercial real estate expertise, loan product expertise, and the ability to analyze and man-
age credit risk. Our competitors seek to compete aggressively on the basis of these factors and our success depends on our 
ability to offer attractive loan products, provide superior service, demonstrate industry depth, maintain and capitalize on 
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relationships with investors, borrowers and key loan correspondents and remain competitive in pricing. In addition, future 
changes in laws, regulations, and Agency program requirements and consolidation in the commercial real estate finance 
market could lead to the entry of more competitors. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to compete effectively in the 
future, and our failure to do so would materially and adversely affect us. 

 
At times, we have grown our business through corporate acquisitions.  We intend to drive a significant portion of our 
future growth through additional acquisitions.  If we do not successfully identify and complete such acquisitions, our 
growth may be limited.  Additionally, continued growth in our business may place significant demands on our admin-
istrative, operational, and financial resources. 
 

We have completed several corporate acquisitions in recent years that have expanded our pre-existing product lines 
and services, increased our origination capacity, and broadened our geographic coverage. We intend to pursue continued 
growth by acquiring complementary businesses, but we cannot guarantee such efforts will be successful. We do not know 
whether the favorable conditions that enabled our recent growth will continue.  

 
In addition, if our growth continues, it could increase our expenses and place additional demands on our manage-

ment, personnel, information systems, and other resources. Sustaining our growth could require us to commit additional 
management, operational and financial resources to maintain appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately 
support expansion. There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage any growth effectively and any failure to do 
so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our expenses, which could materially and adversely 
affect us. 

 
The integration of any companies that we may acquire or start up in the future, including investments in new ventures 
and new lines of business, may be difficult, resulting in high transaction, start-up, and integration costs. Additionally, 
the integration process may be disruptive to our business, and the acquired businesses or new venture may not perform 
as we expect. 
 

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to expand or modify our business in response to changing bor-
rower demands and competitive pressures. In some circumstances, we may determine to do so through the acquisition of 
complementary businesses or investments in new ventures rather than through internal growth.  

 
In the future, we may explore additional strategic acquisitions or investments. The identification of suitable acqui-

sition candidates and new ventures can be difficult, time consuming and costly, and we may not be able to successfully 
complete identified acquisitions or investments in new ventures on favorable terms, or at all. Furthermore, even if we 
successfully complete an acquisition or an investment in new ventures, we may not be able to successfully integrate newly 
acquired businesses or new ventures into our operations, and the process of integration could be expensive and time con-
suming and may strain our resources. Acquisitions or new ventures also typically involve significant costs related to inte-
grating information technology, accounting, reporting, and management services and rationalizing personnel levels and 
may require significant time to obtain new or updated regulatory approvals from the Agencies and other Federal and state 
authorities. Acquisitions or new ventures could divert management's attention from the regular operations of our business 
and result in the potential loss of our key personnel, and we may not achieve the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions or 
new ventures, any of which could materially and adversely affect us. In addition, future acquisitions or new ventures could 
result in significantly dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of substantial debt, contingent liabilities, or 
expenses or other charges, which could also materially and adversely affect us. 

 
Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters 
 
If we fail to comply with the numerous government regulations and program requirements of the Agencies, we may 
lose our approved lender status with these entities and fail to gain additional approvals or licenses for our business. We 
are also subject to changes in laws, regulations and existing Agency program requirements, including potential in-
creases in reserve and risk retention requirements that could increase our costs and affect the way we conduct our 
business, which could materially and adversely affect us. 
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Our operations are subject to regulation by federal, state, and local government authorities, various laws and judicial 

and administrative decisions, and regulations and policies of the Agencies. These laws, regulations, rules, and policies 
impose, among other things, minimum net worth, operational liquidity and collateral requirements. Fannie Mae requires 
us to maintain operational liquidity based on a formula that considers the balance of the loan and the level of credit loss 
exposure (level of risk-sharing). Fannie Mae requires us to maintain collateral, which may include pledged securities, for 
our risk-sharing obligations. The amount of collateral required under the Fannie Mae DUS program is calculated at the 
loan level and is based on the balance of the loan, the level of risk-sharing, the seasoning of the loan, and our rating. 

 
Regulatory authorities also require us to submit financial reports and to maintain a quality control plan for the un-

derwriting, origination and servicing of loans. Numerous laws and regulations also impose qualification and licensing 
obligations on us and impose requirements and restrictions affecting, among other things: our loan originations; maximum 
interest rates, finance charges and other fees that we may charge; disclosures to consumers; the terms of secured transac-
tions; collection, repossession and claims handling procedures; personnel qualifications; and other trade practices. We also 
are subject to inspection by the Agencies and regulatory authorities. Our failure to comply with these requirements could 
lead to, among other things, the loss of a license as an approved Agency lender, the inability to gain additional approvals 
or licenses, the termination of contractual rights without compensation, demands for indemnification or loan repurchases, 
class action lawsuits and administrative enforcement actions. 

 
Regulatory and legal requirements are subject to change. For example, Fannie Mae increased its collateral require-

ments, on loans classified by Fannie Mae as Tier II, from 60 basis points to 75 basis points, effective as of January 1, 2013, 
which applied to a large portion of our outstanding Fannie Mae at risk portfolio. The incremental collateral required for 
existing loans was funded over a two-year period ending December 31, 2014. The incremental requirement for any newly 
originated Fannie Mae Tier II loans will be funded over the 48 months subsequent to the sale of the loan to Fannie Mae. 
Fannie Mae has indicated that it may increase collateral requirements in the future, which may adversely impact us.  

 
If we fail to comply with laws, regulations and market standards regarding the privacy, use, and security of customer 
information, or if we are the target of a successful cyber-attack, we may be subject to legal and regulatory actions and 
our reputation would be harmed. 
 

We receive, maintain, and store non-public personal information of our loan applicants. The technology and other 
controls and processes designed to secure our customer information and to prevent, detect, and remedy any unauthorized 
access to that information were designed to obtain reasonable, not absolute, assurance that such information is secure and 
that any unauthorized access is identified and addressed appropriately. We are not aware of any data breaches, successful 
hacker attacks, unauthorized access and misuse, or significant computer viruses affecting our networks that may have 
occurred in the past; however, our controls may not have detected, and may in the future fail to prevent or detect, unau-
thorized access to our borrower information. If this information is inappropriately accessed and used by a third party or an 
employee for illegal purposes, such as identity theft, we may be responsible to the affected applicant or borrower for any 
losses he or she may have incurred as a result of misappropriation. In such an instance, we may be liable to a governmental 
authority for fines or penalties associated with a lapse in the integrity and security of our customers' information. 

 
Risks Related to Our Common Stock 
 
The trading and market price of our common stock may be volatile and could decline substantially. 
 

The stock markets, including the NYSE (on which our common stock is listed), have experienced significant price 
and volume fluctuations. As a result, the trading and market price of our common stock is likely to be similarly volatile 
and subject to wide fluctuations, and investors in our common stock may experience a decrease in the value of their shares, 
including decreases unrelated to our operating performance. The market price of our common stock could decline substan-
tially in response to a number of factors, including (in no particular order): 

 
• our actual or anticipated financial condition, liquidity and operating performance; 
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• actual or anticipated changes in our business and growth strategies or the success of their implementation; 
• failure to meet, or changes in, earnings estimates of stock analysts; 
• publication of research reports about us, the commercial real estate finance market or the real estate industry; 
• equity issuances by us, or stock resales by our stockholders, or the perception that such issuances or resales 

could occur; 
• the passage of adverse legislation or other regulatory developments, including those from or affecting the Agen-

cies; 
• general business, economic and market conditions and cycles; 
• changes in market valuations of similar companies; 
• additions to or departures of our key personnel; 
• actions by our stockholders; 
• actual, potential, or perceived accounting problems or changes in accounting principles; 
• failure to satisfy the listing requirements of the NYSE; 
• failure to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; 
• speculation in the press or investment community; 
• the realization of any of the other risk factors presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K; and 
• general market and economic conditions. 
 
In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility 

in the market price of their common stock. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our manage-
ment's attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to execute our business and 
growth strategies. 

 
Future issuances of debt securities, which would rank senior to our common stock upon our liquidation, and future 
issuances of equity securities, which would dilute the holdings of our existing common stockholders and may be senior 
to our common stock for the purposes of paying dividends, periodically or upon liquidation, may negatively affect the 
market price of our common stock. 
 

In the future, we may issue debt or equity securities or incur other borrowings. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt 
securities and other loans and preferred stock will receive a distribution of our available assets before common stockhold-
ers. We are not required to offer any such additional debt or equity securities to existing common stockholders on a 
preemptive basis. Therefore, additional common stock issuances, directly or through convertible or exchangeable securi-
ties, warrants or options, could dilute our existing common stockholders' ownership in us and such issuances, or the per-
ception that such issuances may occur, may reduce the market price of our common stock. Our preferred stock, if issued, 
would likely have a preference on dividend payments, periodically or upon liquidation, which could eliminate or otherwise 
limit our ability to pay dividends to common stockholders. Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities or 
otherwise incur debt in the future will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict 
or estimate the amount, timing, nature or success of our future capital raising efforts. Thus, common stockholders bear the 
risk that our future issuances of debt or equity securities or our other borrowing will negatively affect the market price of 
our common stock and dilute their ownership in us. 

 
Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure 
 
Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control. 
 

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”) may have the effect of deterring a third 
party from making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change in control under circumstances that otherwise could 
provide the holders of our common stock with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price 
of our common stock. We will be subject to the “business combination”  provisions of the MGCL that, subject to limita-
tions, prohibit certain business combinations (including a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances 
specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities) between us and an “interested 
stockholder”  (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of our then outstanding voting capital 
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stock or an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the 
beneficial owner of 10% or more of our then outstanding voting capital stock) or an affiliate thereof for five years after 
the most recent date on which the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. After the five-year prohibition, any 
business combination between us and an interested stockholder generally must be recommended by our board of directors 
and approved by the affirmative vote of at least (i) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of 
our voting capital stock; and (ii) two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting capital stock of the corpo-
ration other than shares held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is 
to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder. These super-majority vote requirements do 
not apply if our common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under Maryland law, for their shares in the 
form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares. These 
provisions of the MGCL do not apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted by a board of 
directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. 

 
The “control share”  provisions of the MGCL provide that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation (defined as 

shares which, when aggregated with other shares controlled by the stockholder (except solely by virtue of a revocable 
proxy) entitle the stockholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting power in electing directors) acquired in 
a “control share acquisition” (defined as the direct and indirect acquisition of ownership or control of issued and outstand-
ing "control shares") have no voting rights except to the extent approved by our stockholders by the affirmative vote of at 
least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding votes entitled to be cast by the acquirer of 
control shares, our officers and our personnel who are also our directors. 

 
Certain provisions of the MGCL permit our board of directors, without stockholder approval and regardless of what 

is currently provided in our charter or bylaws, to adopt certain mechanisms, some of which (for example, a classified 
board) we do not yet have. These provisions may have the effect of limiting or precluding a third party from making an 
acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of our company 
under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of shares of our common stock with the opportunity to realize 
a premium over the then current market price. Our charter contains a provision whereby we elect, at such time as we 
become eligible to do so, to be subject to the provisions of Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL relating to the filling of 
vacancies on our board of directors.  

 
Our authorized but unissued shares of common and preferred stock may prevent a change in our control. 
 

Our charter authorizes us to issue additional authorized but unissued shares of common or preferred stock. In addi-
tion, our board of directors may, without stockholder approval, amend our charter to increase the aggregate number of 
shares of our common stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we have authority to issue and 
classify or reclassify any unissued shares of common or preferred stock and set the preferences, rights and other terms of 
the classified or reclassified shares. As a result, our board of directors may establish a class or series of common or pre-
ferred stock that could delay, defer, or prevent a transaction or a change in control of our company that might involve a 
premium price for shares of our common stock or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders. 

 
Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which could 
limit our stockholders’ recourse in the event actions are taken that are not in our stockholders’ best interests. 
 

Under Maryland law generally, a director is required to perform his or her duties in good faith, in a manner he or 
she reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Company and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a 
like position would use under similar circumstances. Under Maryland law, directors are presumed to have acted with this 
standard of care. In addition, our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for 
money damages, except for liability resulting from: 

 
• actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or 
• active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was established by a final judgment as being 

material to the cause of action adjudicated. 



22 

 
Our charter and bylaws obligate us to indemnify our directors and officers for actions taken by them in those capac-

ities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. In addition, we are obligated to advance the defense costs incurred 
by our directors and officers. As a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against our directors and 
officers than might otherwise exist absent the current provisions in our charter and bylaws or that might exist with com-
panies domiciled in jurisdictions other than Maryland.  

 
Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult, which could make it difficult for our 
stockholders to effect changes to our management. 
 

Our charter provides that a director may only be removed for cause upon the affirmative vote of holders of two-
thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors. Vacancies may be filled only by a majority of the remaining 
directors in office, even if less than a quorum. These requirements make it more difficult to change our management by 
removing and replacing directors and may delay, defer, or prevent a change in control of our company that is in the best 
interests of our stockholders. 

 
We are a holding company with minimal direct operations and rely largely on funds received from our subsidiaries for 
our cash requirements. 
 

We are a holding company and conduct the majority of our operations through Walker & Dunlop, LLC, our operat-
ing company. We do not have, apart from our ownership of this operating company and certain other subsidiaries, any 
significant independent operations. As a result, we rely on distributions from our operating company to pay any dividends 
we might declare on shares of our common stock. We also rely largely on distributions from this operating company to 
meet any of our cash requirements, including our tax liability on taxable income allocated to us and debt payments. 

 
In addition, because we are a holding company, your claims as common stockholders are structurally subordinated 

to all existing and future liabilities (whether or not for borrowed money) and any preferred equity of our operating com-
pany. Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization, our assets and those of our operating com-
pany will be able to satisfy the claims of our common stockholders only after all of our and our operating company's 
liabilities and any preferred equity have been paid in full. 

 
Risks Related to Our Financial Statements 
 
Our financial statements are based in part on assumptions and estimates which, if wrong, could result in unexpected 
cash and non-cash losses in the future, and our financial statements depend on our internal control over financial 
reporting. 
 

Pursuant to U.S. GAAP, we are required to use certain assumptions and estimates in preparing our financial state-
ments, including in determining credit loss reserves and the fair value of MSRs, among other items. We make fair value 
determinations based on internally developed models or other means which ultimately rely to some degree on management 
judgment. These and other assets and liabilities may have no direct observable price levels, making their valuation partic-
ularly subjective as they are based on significant estimation and judgment. Several of our accounting policies are critical 
because they require management to make difficult, subjective, and complex judgments about matters that are inherently 
uncertain and because it is likely that materially different amounts would be reported under different conditions or using 
different assumptions. If assumptions or estimates underlying our financial statements are incorrect, losses may be greater 
than those expectations.  

 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires our management to evaluate our disclosure controls and procedures and its internal 

control over financial reporting and requires our auditors to issue a report on our internal control over financial reporting. 
We are required to disclose, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, the existence of any “material weaknesses” in our internal 
control over financial reporting. We cannot assure that we will not identify one or more material weaknesses as of the end 
of any given quarter or year, nor can we predict the effect on our stock price of disclosure of a material weakness. 
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Our existing goodwill could become impaired, which may require us to take significant non-cash charges.  
 

Under current accounting guidelines, we evaluate our goodwill for potential impairment annually or more frequently 
if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. In addition to the annual impairment evaluation, we evaluate at 
least quarterly whether events or circumstances have occurred in the period subsequent to the annual impairment testing 
which indicate that it is more likely than not an impairment loss has occurred. Any impairment of goodwill as a result of 
such analysis would result in a non-cash charge against earnings, which charge could materially adversely affect our re-
ported results of operations, stockholders’ equity, and our stock price. 

 
* * * 

 
Any factor described in this filing or in any of our other SEC filings could by itself, or together with other factors, 

adversely affect our financial results and condition. Refer to our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC in 
2017 for material changes to the above discussion of risk factors. There are factors not discussed above or elsewhere in 
this filing that could adversely affect our financial results and condition. 

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

 
None. 
 

Item 2. Properties. 
 

Our principal headquarters are located in Bethesda, Maryland. We currently maintain an additional 27 offices across 
the country. Most of our offices are small, loan origination and investment sales offices. The majority of our real estate 
services activity occurs in our corporate headquarters and our office in Needham, Massachusetts. We believe that our 
facilities are adequate for us to conduct our present business activities. 

 
All of our office space is leased. The most significant terms of the lease arrangements for our office space are the 

length of the lease and the amount of the rent. Our leases have terms varying in duration and rent through 2023, as a result 
of differences in prevailing market conditions in different geographic locations. We do not believe that any single office 
lease is material to us. In addition, we believe there is adequate alternative office space available at acceptable rental rates 
to meet our needs, although adverse movements in rental rates in some markets may negatively affect our results of oper-
ations and cash flows when we enter into new leases. 

 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 
 

In the ordinary course of business, we may be party to various claims and litigation, none of which we believe is 
material. We cannot predict the outcome of any pending litigation and may be subject to consequences that could include 
fines, penalties, and other costs, and our reputation and business may be impacted. Our management believes that any 
liability that could be imposed on us in connection with the disposition of any pending lawsuits would not have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, liquidity, or financial condition. 

 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 

 
Not applicable. 
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PART II 
 
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities. 
 

Our common stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol “WD.” In connection with our initial public offering, our 
common stock began trading on the NYSE on December 15, 2010. There was no established public trading market for our 
common stock prior to that date. On February 17, 2017, the closing sales price, as reported by the NYSE, was $40.02.  

 
The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sale prices for our common stock as reported by the NYSE 

for the periods indicated: 
        

  2016  
     High     Low  
1st Quarter  $  29.06  $  19.50  
2nd Quarter    25.43    19.87  
3rd Quarter    28.05    21.75  
4th Quarter    32.43    23.61  

 

 

 
        

  2015  
     High     Low  
1st Quarter  $  18.36  $  15.87  
2nd Quarter    27.37    17.27  
3rd Quarter    28.15    22.64  
4th Quarter    33.17    25.64  

 
As of the close of business on January 31, 2017, there were 25 stockholders of record. We believe that the number 

of beneficial holders is much greater. 
 

Dividend Policy 
 

Since the completion of our initial public offering, we have not paid any dividends. We currently retain earnings, if 
any, to fund the development and growth of our business and, therefore, do not currently pay cash dividends. Any future 
determination to pay dividends on our common stock will be, subject to applicable law, at the discretion of our board of 
directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, 
contractual agreements, any limitations on payments of dividends in any of our future financing arrangements, applicable 
law, and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant. Additionally, our Term Loan (defined in Item 7 below) 
contains direct restrictions to the amount of dividends we may pay, and our warehouse debt facilities contain minimum 
equity and liquidity requirements that indirectly restrict the amount of dividends we may pay. 

 
Stock Performance Graph 
 

The following chart graphs our performance in the form of a cumulative five-year total return to holders of our 
common stock since December 31, 2011 in comparison to the Standard and Poor’s (“S&P”) 500 and the S&P 600 Small 
Cap Financials Index for that same five-year period. We believe that the S&P 600 Small Cap Financials Index is an ap-
propriate index to compare us with other companies in our industry and that it is a widely recognized and used index for 
which components and total return information are readily accessible to our security holders to assist in their understanding 
of our performance relative to other companies in our industry. 
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The comparison below assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2011 in our common stock and in each of the 
indices shown and assumes that all dividends were reinvested.  Our stock price performance shown in the following graph 
is not indicative of future performance or relative performance in comparison to the indices. 
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
 

Under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, which constitutes an amendment to and restatement of the 2010 Equity In-
centive Plan, subject to the Company’s approval, grantees have the option of electing to satisfy minimum tax withholding 
obligations at the time of vesting or exercise by allowing the Company to withhold and purchase the shares of stock 
otherwise issuable to the grantee. For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2016, we purchased 17 thousand shares 
and 163 thousand shares, respectively, to satisfy grantee tax withholding obligations. Additionally, we announced a share 
repurchase program in the first quarter of 2016. The repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors permits us 
to repurchase up to $75.0 million of shares of our common stock over a 12-month period ending February 9, 2017. The 
Company had $65.8 million of authorized share repurchase capacity remaining as of December 31, 2016. In February 
2017, our Board for Directors approved a new stock repurchase program that permits the repurchase of up to $75.0 million 
of shares of our common stock over a 12-month period beginning on February 10, 2017. The following table provides 
information regarding common stock repurchases for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2016: 

            
      Total Number of    

        Shares Purchased as  Dollar Value  
  Total Number  Average   Part of Publicly   of Shares that May  
     of Shares     Price Paid     Announced Plans      Yet Be Purchased Under  
Period  Purchased   per Share   or Programs  the Plans or Programs  
1st Quarter   365,763  $  22.77   274,927  $  68,550,205  
2nd Quarter   160,026  $  22.68   121,430  $ 65,840,546  
3rd Quarter   17,327  $  22.77   —  $ 65,840,546  
         

October 1-31, 2016   768  $  25.26   —     
November 1-30, 2016   3,719  $  28.52   —     
December 1-31, 2016   12,157    32.38   —     

4th Quarter    16,644  $  31.19    —   $  65,840,546  
2016 Total    559,760       396,357    

 

 
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our employee stock-based compensation plans, 
see Part III, Item 12. 
 
Item 6. Selected Financial Data 
 

The selected historical financial information as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013, 
and 2012 has been derived from our audited historical financial statements. The selected historical financial data should 
be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” 
the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, 
and 2014, and the related notes, all contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
  As of and For the Year Ended December 31,   
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)   2016    2015    2014    2013    2012   
Statement of Income Data                 
Revenues                 

Gains from mortgage banking activities  $  367,185  $  290,466  $  221,983  $  203,671  $  186,543  
Servicing fees     140,924     114,757     98,414     90,215     52,207  
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for 
sale   16,245   14,541   11,343   6,214   4,361  
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for in-
vestment   7,482   9,419   6,151   1,231   307  
Escrow earnings and other interest income     9,168     4,473     4,526     4,008     2,965  
Other     34,272     34,542     18,355     13,700     10,387  

Total revenues  $  575,276  $  468,198  $  360,772  $  319,039  $  256,770  
                 
Expenses                 

Personnel  $  227,491  $  184,590  $  149,374  $  133,667  $  109,037  
Amortization and depreciation    111,427    98,173    80,138    75,955    53,925  
Provision (benefit) for credit losses     (612)    1,644     2,206     1,322     3,140  
Interest expense on corporate debt     9,851     9,918     10,311     3,743     1,649  
Other operating expenses     41,338     38,507     34,831     37,565     33,249  

Total expenses  $  389,495  $  332,832  $  276,860  $  252,252  $  201,000  
Income from operations  $  185,781  $  135,366  $  83,912  $  66,787  $  55,770  

Income tax expense     71,470     52,771     32,490     25,257     21,998  
Net income before noncontrolling interests  $  114,311  $  82,595  $  51,422  $  41,530  $  33,772  

Less: net income from noncontrolling interests     414     467     —     —     —  
Walker & Dunlop net income  $  113,897  $  82,128  $  51,422  $  41,530  $  33,772  
Basic earnings per share  $  3.87  $  2.76  $  1.60  $  1.23  $  1.32  
Diluted earnings per share  $  3.65  $  2.65  $  1.58  $  1.21  $  1.31  
Basic weighted average shares outstanding    29,432    29,754    32,210    33,764    25,545  
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    31,172    30,949    32,624    34,336    25,845  
                 
Balance Sheet Data                 
Cash and cash equivalents  $  118,756  $  136,988  $  113,354  $  170,563  $  65,027  
Restricted cash and pledged securities    94,711    77,496    81,573    55,078    40,611  
Mortgage servicing rights    521,930    412,348    375,907    353,024    315,524  
Loans held for sale, at fair value    1,858,358    2,499,111    1,072,116    281,477    1,101,561  
Loans held for investment, net    220,377    231,493    223,059    134,656    9,468  
Goodwill    96,420    90,338    74,525    60,212    59,735  
Total assets    3,052,432    3,514,991    2,009,390    1,124,579    1,685,971  
Warehouse notes payable    1,990,183    2,649,470    1,214,279    371,629    1,083,480  
Note payable    164,163    164,462    169,095    170,349    79,322  
Total liabilities    2,437,358    3,022,642    1,575,939    721,738    1,332,795  
Total equity  $  615,074  $  492,349  $  433,451  $  402,841  $  353,176  
            
Supplemental Data             
Operating margin    32 %  29 % 23 % 21 % 22 %
Return on equity    21 %  19 % 13 % 11 % 14 %
Total transaction volume  $  19,298,112  $  17,758,748  $  11,367,706  $  8,395,037  $  7,102,185  
Servicing portfolio  $  63,081,154  $  50,212,264  $  44,031,890  $  38,937,027  $  35,169,999  
 

 



28 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 
 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with  “Selected Financial Data” and the historical financial 
statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion 
contains, in addition to historical information, forward-looking statements that include risks and uncertainties. Our actual 
results may differ materially from those expressed or contemplated in those forward-looking statements as a result of 
certain factors, including those set forth under the headings “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” elsewhere 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 
Business 
 

Walker & Dunlop, Inc. is a holding company, and we conduct the majority of our operations through Walker & 
Dunlop, LLC, our operating company. 

 
We are one of the leading commercial real estate services and finance companies in the United States, with a primary 

focus on multifamily lending. We originate, sell, and service a range of commercial real estate financing products to 
owners and developers of commercial real estate across the country and broker sales of multifamily properties primarily 
in the southeastern United States. We originate and sell multifamily loans through the programs of Fannie Mae, Freddie 
Mac, Ginnie Mae, and HUD, with which we have licenses and long-established relationships. We retain servicing rights 
and asset management responsibilities on nearly all loans that we originate for the Agencies’ programs. We are approved 
as a Fannie Mae DUS lender nationally, a Freddie Mac seller/servicer in 23 states and the District of Columbia, a Freddie 
Mac targeted affordable housing seller/servicer, a HUD MAP lender nationally, a HUD LEAN lender nationally, and a 
Ginnie Mae issuer. We broker and service loans for a number of life insurance companies, CMBS conduits, commercial 
banks, and other institutional investors, in which cases we do not fund the loan but rather act as a loan broker. We also 
originate and hold short-term bridge loans on our balance sheet. Beginning in the second quarter of 2015 in connection 
with the EFG Acquisition, we began offering multifamily investment sales brokerage services. 

 
We fund loans for the Agencies’ programs, generally through warehouse facility financings, and sell them to inves-

tors in accordance with the related loan sale commitment, which we obtain at rate lock. Proceeds from the sale of the loan 
are used to pay off the warehouse facility. The sale of the loan is typically completed within 60 days after the loan is 
closed, and we retain the right to service substantially all of these loans. In cases where we do not fund the loan, we act as 
a loan broker. Our loan originators who focus on loan brokerage are engaged by borrowers to work with a variety of 
institutional lenders to find the most appropriate loan. These loans are then funded directly by the institutional lender, and 
we receive an origination fee for placing the loan and a servicing fee for any of the loans we service. 

 
We recognize gains from mortgage banking activities when we make simultaneous commitments to originate a loan 

to a borrower and sell that loan to an investor. The gains from mortgage banking activities reflect the fair value attributable 
to loan origination fees, premiums on the sale of loans, net of any co-broker fees, and the fair value of the expected net 
cash flows associated with servicing the loans, net of any guaranty obligations retained. We also generate revenues from 
(i) net warehouse interest income we earn while the loan is held for sale through one of our warehouse facilities, (ii) net 
warehouse interest income from loans held for investment while they are outstanding, and (iii) broker fees for brokering 
the sale of multifamily properties.  

 
We retain servicing rights on substantially all the loans we originate and sell and generate revenues from the fees 

we receive for servicing the loans, from the interest income on escrow deposits held on behalf of borrowers, from late 
charges, and from other ancillary fees. Servicing fees set at the time an investor agrees to purchase the loan are generally 
paid monthly for the duration of the loan, and are based on the unpaid principal balance of the loan. Our Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac servicing arrangements generally provide for prepayment fees to us in the event of a voluntary prepayment. 
For loans serviced outside of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, we typically do not share in any such payments. 

 
We are currently not exposed to unhedged interest rate risk during the loan commitment, closing, and delivery 

process. The sale or placement of each loan to an investor is negotiated prior to establishing the coupon rate for the loan. 
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We also seek to mitigate the risk of a loan not closing. We have agreements in place with the Agencies that specify the 
cost of a failed loan delivery in the event we fail to deliver the loan to the investor. To protect us against such fees, we 
require a deposit from the borrower at rate lock that is typically more than the potential fee. The deposit is returned to the 
borrower only once the loan is closed. Any potential loss from a catastrophic change in the property condition while the 
loan is held for sale using warehouse facility financing is mitigated through property insurance equal to replacement cost. 
We are also protected contractually from an investor’s failure to purchase the loan. We have experienced an immaterial 
number of failed deliveries in our history and have incurred immaterial losses on such failed deliveries. 

 
We have risk-sharing obligations on substantially all loans we originate under the Fannie Mae DUS program. When 

a Fannie Mae DUS loan is subject to full risk-sharing, we absorb losses on the first 5% of the unpaid principal balance of 
a loan at the time of loss settlement, and above 5% we share a percentage of the loss with Fannie Mae, with our maximum 
loss capped at 20% of the original unpaid principal balance of the loan (subject to doubling or tripling if the loan does not 
meet specific underwriting criteria or if the loan defaults within 12 months of its sale to Fannie Mae). We may, however, 
request modified risk-sharing at the time of origination, which reduces our potential risk-sharing losses from the levels 
described above. We occasionally request modified risk-sharing based on the size of the loan. We may also request mod-
ified risk-sharing on large transactions if we do not believe that we are being fully compensated for the risks of the trans-
actions or to manage overall risk levels. Our current credit management policy is to cap each loan balance subject to full 
risk-sharing at $60 million. Accordingly, we generally elect to use modified risk-sharing for loans of more than $60 million 
in order to limit our maximum loss exposure on any one loan to $12 million (such exposure would occur in the event that 
the underlying collateral is determined to be completely without value at the time of loss). However, we may on occasion 
elect to originate a loan with full risk sharing even when the loan balance is greater than $60 million if we believe the loan 
characteristics support such an approach. 

 
Our servicing fees for risk-sharing loans include compensation for the risk-sharing obligations and are larger than 

the servicing fees we receive from Fannie Mae for loans with no risk-sharing obligations. We receive a lower servicing 
fee for modified risk-sharing than for full risk-sharing. 

 
Our Interim Program offers floating-rate, interest-only loans for terms of up to three years to experienced borrowers 

seeking to acquire or reposition multifamily properties that do not currently qualify for permanent financing. We under-
write all loans originated through the Interim Program. During the time that they are outstanding, we assume the full risk 
of loss on the loans. In addition, we service and asset-manage loans originated through the Interim Program, with the 
ultimate goal of providing permanent financing on the properties. These loans are classified as held for investment on our 
balance sheet during such time that they are outstanding. We have not experienced any delinquencies or charged off any 
loans originated under the Interim Program, which began operations in 2012. As of December 31, 2016, we had 12 loans 
held for investment under the Interim Program with an aggregate outstanding unpaid principal balance of $222.3 million. 

 
Through the third quarter of 2016, we offered CMBS executions through the CMBS Program. We terminated the 

CMBS Program in the fourth quarter of 2016. Prior to 2016, the CMBS Program was managed through a partnership with 
another entity in which we owned less than 50%. At the beginning of the first quarter of 2016, the other partner exited the 
CMBS Program, and we assumed full ownership of the CMBS Program. We consolidated the operations of the CMBS 
Program in our financial statements during 2016 and accounted for our investment in the partnership under the equity 
method of accounting prior to 2016. We underwrote all loans originated through the CMBS Program and financed these 
loans using a combination of our own cash and, prior to 2016, the cash contributed by the other partner, and warehouse 
financing facilities until they were sold to third-party securitization conduits. We did not retain any credit risk once the 
loans were sold but may be obligated to repurchase loans sold into a securitization if certain representations and warranties 
provided in connection with such loans are breached. Neither we nor the partnership has ever been required to repurchase 
a loan. 

 
Under certain limited circumstances, we may make preferred equity investments in entities controlled by certain of 

our borrowers that will assist those borrowers to acquire and reposition properties. The terms of such investments are 
negotiated with each investment. As of December 31, 2016, we have made commitments to fund such preferred equity 
investments in monthly installments totaling $42.8 million, $24.8 million of which has been funded. 
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During the second quarter of 2015, in connection with the acquisition of 75% of certain assets and assumption of 

certain liabilities of EFG, we began providing multifamily investment sales brokerage services through a newly formed 
subsidiary, WDIS. The initial focus of the investment sales brokerage services is the southeastern United States. We plan 
to expand these brokerage services nationally. We consolidate the activities of WDIS and present the portion of WDIS 
that we do not control as Noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and Net income from noncontrolling 
interests in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 
During the second quarter of 2016, we purchased the rights to service a HUD loan portfolio with an aggregate $3.6 

billion unpaid principal balance from a third-party servicer for $43.1 million (the “Servicing Portfolio Acquisition”). The 
acquisition of the servicing portfolio substantially increased our HUD servicing portfolio and led to our being one of the 
largest servicers of HUD commercial real estate loans as of December 31, 2016. We expect the Servicing Portfolio Ac-
quisition to have the following benefits:  

   
 •   reduce the average cost to service each loan as we leverage our existing servicing platform, 
 •   provide new borrower relationships, 
 •   provide opportunities for additional loan origination volume when these loans mature or prepay, and 
 •   produce a stable stream of cash revenues over the 10.9-year estimated life of the portfolio. 
 

As of December 31, 2016, our servicing portfolio was $63.1 billion, up 26% from December 31, 2015, making it 
the 8th largest commercial/multifamily primary and master servicing portfolio in the nation according to the Mortgage 
Bankers’ Association’s 2016 year-end survey (the “Survey”).  Our servicing portfolio includes $27.7 billion of loans ser-
viced for Fannie Mae and $20.7 billion for Freddie Mac, making us the 3rd largest primary and master servicer of Fannie 
Mae loans and the 6th largest of Freddie Mac loans in the nation according to the Survey. Also included in our servicing 
portfolio is $9.2 billion of HUD loans, the 3rd largest HUD primary and master servicing portfolio in the nation according 
to the Survey. 

 
Due to our own organic growth and the increased loan-origination capacity from acquisitions completed in prior 

years, our loan origination volume increased 3%, from a total of $16.2 billion during 2015 to a total of $16.7 billion during 
2016.  Fannie Mae recently announced that we ranked as its 2nd largest DUS lender in 2016, by loan deliveries, and Freddie 
Mac recently announced that we ranked as its 3rd largest seller/servicer in 2016, by loan deliveries. 

 
Basis of Presentation 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include all of the accounts of the Company and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries, and all intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 

 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples in the United States of America (“GAAP”), which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
reported amounts. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors management be-
lieves to be reasonable. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions. We believe the following critical 
accounting policies represent the areas where more significant judgments and estimates are used in the preparation of our 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
Mortgage Servicing Rights (“MSRs”).    MSRs are recorded at fair value at loan sale or upon purchase. The fair 

value of MSRs acquired through a stand-alone servicing portfolio purchase is equal to the purchase price paid. The fair 
value at loan sale is based on estimates of expected net cash flows associated with the servicing rights and takes into 
consideration an estimate of loan prepayment. The estimated net cash flows are discounted at a rate that reflects the credit 
and liquidity risk of the MSR over the estimated life of the underlying loan. The discount rates used throughout the periods 
presented for all MSRs recognized at loan sale were between 10-15% and varied based on the loan type. The life of the 



31 

underlying loan is estimated giving consideration to the prepayment provisions in the loan. Our model assumes full pre-
payment of the loan at or near the point where the prepayment provisions have expired. We record an individual MSR 
asset (or liability) for each loan at loan sale. For purchased stand-alone servicing portfolios, we record and amortize a 
portfolio-level MSR asset based on the estimated remaining life of the portfolio using the prepayment characteristics of 
the portfolio. We have had only one stand-alone servicing portfolio purchase, which occurred in the second quarter of 
2016. 

 
The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of MSRs at loan sale are based on internal models and are periodi-

cally compared to assumptions used by other market participants. Due to the relatively few transactions in the multifamily 
MSR market, we have experienced little volatility in the assumptions we use during the periods presented, including the 
most-significant assumption – the discount rate. Additionally, we do not expect to see much volatility in the assumptions 
for the foreseeable future. Management actively monitors the assumptions used and makes adjustments to those assump-
tions when market conditions change or other factors indicate such adjustments are warranted. We carry originated and 
purchased MSRs at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and evaluate the carrying value for impairment quarterly. We 
test for impairment on the purchased stand-alone servicing portfolio separately from our other MSRs. The MSRs from 
both stand-alone portfolio purchases and from loans sales are tested for impairment at the portfolio level. We engage a 
third party to assist in determining an estimated fair value of our existing and outstanding MSRs on at least a semi-annual 
basis. 

 
Gains from mortgage banking activities income is recognized when we record a derivative asset upon the simulta-

neous commitments to originate a loan with a borrower and sell the loan to an investor. The commitment asset related to 
the loan origination is recognized at fair value, which reflects the fair value of the contractual loan origination related fees 
and sale premiums, net of any co-broker fees, and the estimated fair value of the expected net cash flows associated with 
the servicing of the loan, net of the estimated net future cash flows associated with any risk-sharing obligations (the “ser-
vicing component of the commitment asset”). Upon loan sale, we derecognize the servicing component of the commitment 
asset and recognize an MSR. All MSRs are amortized into expense over the estimated life of the loan and presented as a 
component of Amortization and depreciation in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 
All MSRs are amortized using the interest method over the period that servicing income is expected to be received. 

For MSRs recognized at loan sale, the individual loan-level MSR is written off through a charge to Amortization and 
depreciation when a loan prepays, defaults, or is probable of default. For MSRs related to purchased stand-alone servicing 
portfolios, a constant rate of prepayments and defaults is included in the determination of the portfolio’s estimated life 
(and thus included as a component of the portfolio’s amortization). Accordingly, prepayments and defaults of individual 
MSRs do not change the level of amortization expense recorded for the portfolio unless the pattern of actual prepayments 
and defaults varies significantly from the estimated pattern. When such a significant difference in the pattern of estimated 
and actual prepayments and defaults occurs, we prospectively adjust the estimated life of the portfolio (and thus future 
amortization) to approximate the actual pattern observed. We have not adjusted the estimated life of our one purchased 
stand-alone servicing portfolio due to the limited history we have with the portfolio as we purchased it less than a year 
ago. 

 
Allowance for Risk-sharing Obligations and Allowance for Loan Losses. The allowance for risk-sharing obligations 

relates to our at risk servicing portfolio and is presented as a separate liability within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 
allowance for loan losses relates to our loans held for investment from our Interim Program and is included as a reduction 
to Loans held for investment, net within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of each of these allowances con-
siders our assessment of the likelihood of repayment by the borrower or key principal(s), the risk characteristics of the 
loan, the loan’s risk rating, historical loss experience, adverse situations affecting individual loans, the estimated disposi-
tion value of the underlying collateral, and the level of risk sharing, which for loans held for investment is 100%. Histori-
cally, initial loss recognition occurs at or before a loan becomes 60 days delinquent. We regularly monitor each allowance 
on all applicable loans and update loss estimates as current information is received. Provision (benefit) for credit losses in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income reflects the income statement impact of changes to both the allowance for risk-
sharing obligations and allowance for loan losses. 
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We perform a quarterly evaluation of all of our risk-sharing loans to determine whether a loss is probable. Our 
process for identifying which risk-sharing loans may be probable of loss consists of an assessment of several qualitative 
and quantitative factors including payment status, property financial performance, local real estate market conditions, loan-
to-value ratio, debt-service-coverage ratio, and property condition. When we believe a loan is probable of foreclosure or 
in foreclosure, we record an allowance for that loan (a “specific reserve”). The specific reserve is based on the estimate of 
the property fair value less selling and property preservation costs and considers the loss-sharing requirements detailed 
below in the “Credit Quality and Allowance for Risk-Sharing Obligations” section. The estimate of property fair value at 
initial recognition of the allowance for risk-sharing obligations is based on appraisals, broker opinions of value, or net 
operating income and market capitalization rates, whichever we believe is the best estimate of the net disposition value. 
The allowance for risk-sharing obligations for such loans is updated as any additional information is received until the loss 
is settled with Fannie Mae. The settlement with Fannie Mae is based on the actual sales price of the property and selling 
and property preservation costs and considers the Fannie Mae loss-sharing requirements. Loss settlement with Fannie Mae 
has historically concluded within 18 to 36 months after foreclosure. Historically, the initial specific reserves have not 
varied significantly from the final settlement. We are uncertain whether such a trend will continue in the future. 

 
In addition to the specific reserves discussed above, we also record an allowance for risk-sharing obligations related 

to all risk-sharing loans on our watch list (“general reserves”). Such loans are not probable of foreclosure but are probable 
of loss as the characteristics of these loans indicate that it is probable that these loans include some losses even though the 
loss cannot be attributed to a specific loan. For all other risk-sharing loans not on our watch list, we continue to carry a 
guaranty obligation. We calculate the general reserves based on a migration analysis of the loans on our historical watch 
lists, adjusted for qualitative factors. When we place a risk-sharing loan on our watch list, we cease to amortize the guaranty 
obligation and transfer the remaining unamortized balance of the guaranty obligation to the general reserves. If a risk-
sharing loan is subsequently removed from our watch list due to improved financial performance, we transfer the unamor-
tized balance of the guaranty obligation back to the guaranty obligation classification on the balance sheet and amortize 
the remaining unamortized balance evenly over the remaining estimated life. For each loan for which we have a risk-
sharing obligation, we record one of the following liabilities associated with that loan as discussed above: guaranty obli-
gation, general reserve, or specific reserve. Although the liability type may change over the life of the loan, at any particular 
point in time, only one such liability is associated with a loan for which we have a risk-sharing obligation. 

 
We evaluate all of our loans held for investment for impairment quarterly. Our impairment evaluation focuses pri-

marily on payment status and property financial performance. We consider a loan impaired when the current facts and 
circumstances suggest it is not probable that we will collect all contractually due principal and interest payments. When a 
loan is not considered impaired, we apply a collective allowance that is based on recent historical loss probability and 
historical loss rates incurred in our risk-sharing portfolio, adjusted as needed for current market conditions (“loss factors”). 
We use the loss experience from our risk-sharing portfolio as a proxy for losses incurred in our loans held for investment 
portfolio since (i) we have not experienced any actual losses related to our loans held for investment to date and (ii) the 
loans in the loans-held-for-investment portfolio have similar characteristics to loans held in the risk-sharing portfolio. 
Since the inception of the Interim Program in 2012, we have not had any delinquent or impaired loans or charged off any 
loans. The historical loss factors are updated quarterly. We have not experienced significant change in the loss factors 
during the periods presented in the financial statements. These loss factors may change in the future as economic and 
market conditions change and as the Interim Program matures. 

 
Overview of Current Business Environment  
 

The fundamentals of the commercial and multifamily real estate market remain strong. Multifamily occupancy rates 
and effective rents continue to increase based upon strengthening rental market demand while delinquency rates remain at 
historic lows, all of which aid loan performance due to their importance to the cash flows of the underlying properties. 
Most other commercial real estate asset classes have experienced similar performance in underlying fundamentals. The 
positive performance has boosted the value of many commercial and multifamily properties towards the high end of his-
torical ranges. 
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In addition to the improved property fundamentals, for the last several years, the U.S. commercial and multifamily 
mortgage market has experienced historically low interest rates, leading many borrowers to seek refinancing prior to the 
scheduled maturity date of their loans. As borrowers have sought to take advantage of the interest rate environment and 
improved property fundamentals, the number of lenders and amount of capital available to lend have increased dramati-
cally. According to the Mortgage Bankers Association, commercial and multifamily loan maturities are expected to in-
crease dramatically through the end of 2017, as the loans originated at the height of the CMBS market begin maturing a 
decade later. All of these factors have benefited our origination and investment sales volumes over the past several quarters. 
Competition among commercial real estate services firms, banks, life insurance companies, and the GSEs remains fierce. 

 
During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Federal Reserve raised its targeted Fed Funds Rate by another 25 basis points 

and suggested that it is likely going to increase its targeted Fed Funds Rate during 2017. We have not experienced a 
significant decline in origination volume or profitability as a result of the increases as long-term mortgage interest rates 
generally remained at historically low levels during the majority of 2016. Long-term mortgage interest rates did increase 
significantly during the last two months of 2016, largely due to the anticipation of a rate increase by the Federal Reserve 
and the results of the 2016 Presidential Election. However, even the sharp increase in long-term mortgage interest rates 
did not appear to adversely impact our loan origination volumes. We cannot be certain that trend will continue as the 
number, timing, and magnitude of any future increases by the Federal Reserve, taken together with previous interest rate 
increases and combined with other macroeconomic factors, may have a different effect on the commercial real estate 
market. 

 
Late in the second quarter of 2016, citizens of the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) voted to exit the European Union 

(“E.U.”), an action commonly referred to as “Brexit.” The referendum itself has not resulted in the U.K.’s immediate 
exodus from the E.U. since the vote was not legally binding on the British government. Rather, Parliament, having heard 
the voice of voters, may now enact laws to facilitate the U.K.’s departure and must notify the European Commission of its 
intention to leave the E.U. Legislation to effect the departure has been passed by the lower house of Parliament. Many 
observers anticipate that the U.K. will invoke Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty in the first half of 2017 to leave the E.U. 
After such notice is provided, the U.K. and European Commission will have a two-year window in which to establish the 
terms of the U.K.’s departure. Even though the process of separating from the E.U. will take several years, Brexit has 
created a significant amount of uncertainty in both the global and domestic financial markets as participants have evaluated 
the impact Brexit may have on the global and domestic economies.  

 
Brexit has had minimal impact on our operations and financial results as we have no direct exposure to the U.K. or 

E.U. Additionally, we believe the indirect impact of Brexit likely benefitted us during the second half of 2016 as borrowers 
took advantage of low mortgage interest rates and as a “flight to safety” resulted in an increase of global capital investments 
in U.S. markets, including commercial real estate, resulting in higher loan origination and investment sales activity. Some 
of these benefits may be mitigated by higher credit risk spreads demanded by investors in commercial real estate loans 
going forward. We believe these indirect impacts will largely continue in the near term (although potentially partially or 
completely mitigated by the aforementioned increase in interest rates due to the actions of the Federal Reserve and the 
results of the 2016 Presidential Election) but are uncertain about the long-term duration. 

 
We are a market-leading originator with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and the GSEs remain the most significant 

providers of capital to the multifamily market. The Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) 2017 GSE Scorecard 
(“2017 Scorecard”) established Fannie Mae’s and Freddie Mac’s 2017 loan origination caps at $36.5 billion each for 
market-rate apartments (“2017 Caps”), the same as the final 2016 loan origination caps (the 2016 loan origination caps 
began the year at $31.0 billion each, but were adjusted by the FHFA twice during 2016 to a final amount of $36.5 billion 
each). Affordable housing loans, loans to small multifamily properties, and manufactured housing rental community loans 
continue to be excluded from the 2017 Caps. Additionally, the definition of the affordable loan exclusion continues to 
encompass affordable housing in high- and very-high cost markets and to allow for an exclusion from the 2017 Caps for 
the pro-rata portion of any loan on a multifamily property that includes affordable units. The 2017 Scorecard provides the 
FHFA the flexibility to review the estimated size of the multifamily loan origination market on a quarterly basis and 
proactively adjust the 2017 Caps upward should the market be larger than expected in 2017 (as noted above, the FHFA 
adjusted the caps upward twice in 2016). The 2017 Scorecard also provides exclusions for loans to properties located in 
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underserved markets including rural, small multifamily, and senior assisted living and for loans to finance certain energy 
or water efficiency improvements. 

 
Our GSE loan origination volumes during 2016 decreased 1% from 2015 because of relatively low loan origination 

volume during the first quarter of 2016 compared to the first quarter of 2015. We expect the GSEs to maintain their 
historical market share in a multifamily market that is projected by Freddie Mac to be $300.0 billion in 2017. The GSEs 
reported a combined loan origination volume of $112.1 billion during 2016. Although our GSE loan origination volumes 
during 2016 were down slightly compared to the same period in 2015, we believe our market leadership with the GSEs 
positions us to be a significant lender with the GSEs for the foreseeable future. Our originations with the GSEs are some 
of our most profitable executions as they provide significant non-cash gains from mortgage servicing rights. A decline in 
our GSE originations would negatively impact our financial results as our non-cash revenues would decrease dispropor-
tionately with loan origination volume and future servicing fee revenue would be constrained or decline. We do not know 
whether the FHFA will impose stricter limitations on GSE multifamily production volume beyond 2017. 

 
We continue to grow our capital markets platform to take advantage of the ongoing wave of loan maturities that 

began in 2015 and to gain greater access to capital, deal flow, and borrower relationships. The commercial debt origination 
market grew substantially from 2015 to 2016. The apparent appetite for debt funding within the broader commercial real 
estate market, coupled with the addition of capital markets loan originators, has resulted in significant growth in our bro-
kered originations over the past several years, as evidenced by the 55% growth in brokered origination volumes from 2014 
to 2016. Our outlook for our capital markets platform is positive as non-bank commercial and multifamily loan maturities 
are expected to continue growing in 2017.  

 
Although we have experienced volume growth in most of our products, we did not see similar growth in our CMBS 

volumes in 2016. Volatility in the capital markets throughout 2016 due to uncertain global market conditions, including 
Brexit, and the uncertainty regarding the impact of upcoming changes to risk-retention rules for securitizations resulted in 
larger credit spreads and higher borrowing costs for CMBS loans. These conditions led to reduced loan origination volumes 
in the CMBS market during 2016 as borrowers and lenders adjusted. In response, we terminated the CMBS Program in 
the fourth quarter of 2016. 

 
Over the last few years prior to 2016, as the economy recovered and as bank and CMBS capital re-entered the 

market, borrowers shied away from the long lead times required to secure a HUD loan. As a result, we originated $592.0 
million of loans with HUD during 2015, down 16% from 2014. HUD has undergone reorganization efforts over the past 
two years with the goal of improving the speed and efficiency of the process and has reduced the cost of obtaining a loan, 
making HUD loans more competitive and returning them to relevance for our core multifamily borrowers in 2016, as 
evidenced by the 49% increase in HUD loan originations from 2015 to 2016. HUD remains a strong source of capital for 
new construction loans and healthcare facilities. We expect that HUD will continue to be a meaningful supplier of capital 
to our borrowers. We remain committed to the HUD multifamily business, adding resources and scale to our HUD lending 
platform, particularly in the area of seniors housing and skilled nursing, where HUD remains a dominant provider of 
capital in the current business environment.   

 
Many of our borrowers continue to seek higher returns by identifying and acquiring the transitional properties that 

the Interim Program is designed to address. The growth in transitional lending was evident in 2016 as we originated $419.6 
million of interim loans during 2016 compared to $185.1 million during 2015. Additionally, the average balance of our 
interim loan portfolio remains strong at $224.2 million in 2016 compared to $281.6 million in 2015 and $188.6 million in 
2014. We remain optimistic about this market for the foreseeable future and are committed to deploying significant capital 
to the Interim Program. The demand for transitional lending has brought increased competition from lenders, specifically 
banks, mortgage REITs, and life insurance companies. All are actively pursuing transitional properties by leveraging their 
low cost of capital and desire for short-term, high-yield commercial real estate investments. 

 
Finally, in the second quarter of 2015, we expanded our offerings to our customers by acquiring a controlling interest 

in a partnership that offers multifamily investment sales brokerage services. We have added several investment sales teams 
since the acquisition in the second quarter of 2015. The partnership operates primarily in the southeastern United States. 
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As we have stated, multifamily property values are at near historic highs on the back of positive fundamentals across the 
industry. As a result, we have recently seen increased activity within the investment sales business. We believe this activity 
will continue throughout the wave of loan maturities, and we will look to capitalize on that demand by continuing to 
expand the investment sales partnership more broadly across the United States in the coming quarters. During 2016, our 
investment sales partnership closed $2.6 billion of investment sales transactions compared to $1.5 billion for the eight 
months that we owned the partnership during 2015.  

 
Factors That May Impact Our Operating Results 
 

We believe that our results are affected by a number of factors, including the items discussed below. 
 

• Performance of Multifamily and Other Commercial Real Estate Related Markets.  Our business is dependent 
on the general demand for, and value of, commercial real estate and related services, which are sensitive to 
long-term mortgage interest rates and other macroeconomic conditions and the continued existence of the 
GSEs. Demand for multifamily and other commercial real estate generally increases during stronger eco-
nomic environments, resulting in increased property values, transaction volumes, and loan origination vol-
umes. During weaker economic environments, multifamily and other commercial real estate may experience 
higher property vacancies, lower demand and reduced values. These conditions can result in lower property 
transaction volumes and loan originations, as well as an increased level of servicer advances and losses from 
our Fannie Mae DUS risk-sharing obligations and our interim lending program. 
 

• The Level of Losses from Fannie Mae Risk-Sharing Obligations and from Loans Held for Investment.  Under 
the Fannie Mae DUS program, we share risk of loss on most loans we sell to Fannie Mae. In the majority of 
cases, we absorb the first 5% of any losses on the loan’s unpaid principal balance at the time of loss settle-
ment, and above 5% we share a percentage of the loss with Fannie Mae, with our maximum loss capped at 
20% of the loan’s unpaid principal balance on the origination date. As a result, a rise in defaults could have 
a material adverse effect on us. Additionally, we bear 100% of the risk of loss on loans held for investment. 
We have not experienced any losses, delinquencies, or defaults related to the loans held for investment. 
Defaults and other deteriorations in credit quality in our loans held for investment could materially adversely 
impact us. 
 

• The Price of Loans in the Secondary Market.  Our profitability is determined in part by the price we are paid 
for the loans we originate. A component of our origination related revenues is the premium we recognize on 
the sale of a loan. Stronger investor demand typically results in larger premiums while weaker demand results 
in little to no premium. 
 

• Market for Servicing Commercial Real Estate Loans.  Servicing fee rates for new loans are set at the time 
we enter into a loan sale commitment based on origination fees, competition, prepayment rates, and any risk-
sharing obligations we undertake. Historically, we have not experienced much variation in the servicing fee 
rate we receive for Fannie Mae loans. Changes in servicing fee rates impact the value of our MSRs and future 
servicing revenues, which could impact our profit margins and operating results over time. 
 

• The Percentage of Adjustable Rate Loans Originated and the Overall Loan Origination Mix.  The adjustable 
rate mortgage loans (“ARMs”) we originate typically have less stringent prepayment protection features than 
fixed rate mortgage loans (“FRMs”), resulting in a shorter expected life for ARMs than FRMs. The shorter 
expected life for ARMs results in smaller MSRs recorded than for FRMs. Absent an increase in originations, 
an increase in the proportion of our loans originated that are ARMs could adversely impact the gains from 
mortgage banking activities we record. Additionally, the loan product mix we originate can significantly 
impact our overall earnings. For example, an increase in loan origination volume for our two highest-margin 
products, Fannie Mae and HUD loans, would increase our overall profitability, while a decrease in the loan 
origination volume of these two products would decrease our overall profitability, all else equal. 
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Revenues 
 

Gains from Mortgage Banking Activities.  Mortgage banking activity income is recognized when we record a deriv-
ative asset upon the simultaneous commitments to originate a loan with a borrower and sell to an investor. The commitment 
asset related to the loan origination is recognized at fair value, which reflects the fair value of the contractual loan origi-
nation related fees and sale premiums, net of co-broker fees, the estimated fair value of the expected net cash flows asso-
ciated with the servicing of the loan, and the estimated fair value of any guaranty obligations to be assumed. Also included 
in gains from mortgage banking activities are changes to the fair value of loan commitments, forward sale commitments, 
and loans held for sale that occur during their respective holding periods. Upon sale of the loans, no gains or losses are 
recognized as such loans are recorded at fair value during their holding periods. MSRs and guaranty obligations are rec-
ognized as assets and liabilities, respectively, upon the sale of the loans. 

 
Brokered loans tend to have lower origination fees because they often require less time to execute, there is more 

competition for brokerage assignments, and because the borrower will also have to pay an origination fee to the institu-
tional lender. 

 
Premiums received on the sale of a loan result when a loan is sold to an investor for more than its face value. There 

are various reasons investors may pay a premium when purchasing a loan. For example, the fixed rate on the loan may be 
higher than the rate of return required by an investor or the characteristics of a particular loan may be desirable to an 
investor. We do not receive premiums on brokered loans. 

 
MSRs are recorded at fair value the day we sell a loan. The fair value is based on estimates of expected net cash 

flows associated with the servicing rights. The estimated net cash flows are discounted at a rate that reflects the credit and 
liquidity risk of the MSR over the estimated life of the loan. 

 
Servicing Fees.  We service nearly all loans we originate and some loans we broker. We earn servicing fees for 

performing certain loan servicing functions, such as processing loan, tax, and insurance payments and managing escrow 
balances. Servicing generally also includes asset management functions, such as monitoring the physical condition of the 
property, analyzing the financial condition and liquidity of the borrower, and performing loss mitigation activities as di-
rected by the Agencies. 

 
Our servicing fees on loans we originate provide a stable revenue stream. They are based on contractual terms, are 

earned over the life of the loan, and are generally not subject to significant prepayment risk. Our Fannie Mae and Freddie 
Mac servicing agreements provide for make-whole payments in the event of a voluntary prepayment. Accordingly, we 
currently do not hedge our servicing portfolio for prepayment risk. Any make-whole payments received are included in 
Other revenue. 

 
HUD has the right to terminate our current servicing engagements for cause. In addition to termination for cause, 

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac may terminate our servicing engagements without cause by paying a termination fee. Our 
institutional investors typically may terminate our servicing engagements for brokered loans at any time with or without 
cause, without paying a termination fee. 

 
Net Warehouse Interest Income, Loans Held for Sale.  We earn net interest income on loans funded through bor-

rowings from our warehouse facilities from the time the loan is closed until the loan is sold pursuant to the loan purchase 
agreement. Each borrowing on a warehouse line relates to a specific loan for which we have already secured a loan sale 
commitment with an investor. Related interest expense from the warehouse loan funding is netted in our financial state-
ments against interest income. Net warehouse interest income related to loans held for sale varies based on the period of 
time between the loan closing and the sale of the loan to the investor, the size of the average balance of the loans held for 
sale, and the net interest spread between the loan coupon rate and the cost of warehouse financing. Loans typically remain 
in the warehouse facility for up to 60 days, but the average time in the warehouse facility is approximately 30 days. Loans 
that we broker for institutional investors and other investors are funded directly by them; therefore, there is no warehouse 
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interest income or expense associated with brokered loan transactions. Additionally, the amortization of debt issuance 
costs is included in net warehouse interest income, loans held for sale. 

 
Net Warehouse Interest Income, Loans Held for Investment. Similar to loans held for sale, we earn net interest 

income on loans held for investment during the period they are outstanding. We earn interest income on the loan, which 
is funded partially by an investment of our cash and through one of our interim warehouse credit facilities. The loans 
originated for investment are typically interest-only, variable-rate loans of terms up to three years. The warehouse credit 
facilities are variable rate. The interest rate reset date is typically the same for the loans and the credit facility. Related 
interest expense from the warehouse loan funding is netted in our financial statements against interest income. Net ware-
house interest income related to loans held for investment varies based on the period of time the loans are outstanding, the 
size of the average balance of the loans held for investment, and the net interest spread between the loan coupon rate and 
the cost of warehouse financing. The net spread has historically not varied much. Additionally, the amortization of deferred 
fees and costs and the amortization of debt issuance costs are included in net warehouse interest income, loans held for 
investment. 

 
Escrow Earnings and Other Interest Income.  We earn interest income on property-level escrow deposits in our 

servicing portfolio, generally based on a fixed placement fee negotiated with the financial institutions that hold the escrow 
deposits. Escrow earnings reflect interest income net of interest paid to the borrower, if required, which generally equals 
a money market rate. 

 
Other.  Other income is comprised of fees for processing loan assumptions, prepayment fee income, application 

fees, investment sales broker fees, income from equity-method investments, income from preferred equity investments, 
and other miscellaneous revenues related to our operations. 

 
Costs and Expenses 
 

Personnel.  Personnel expense includes the cost of employee compensation and benefits, which include fixed and 
discretionary amounts tied to company and individual performance, commissions, severance expense, signing and reten-
tion bonuses, and share-based compensation. 

 
Amortization and Depreciation.  Amortization and depreciation is principally comprised of amortization of our 

MSRs, net of amortization of our guaranty obligations. The MSRs are amortized using the interest method over the period 
that servicing income is expected to be received. We amortize the guaranty obligations evenly over their expected lives. 
When the loan underlying an MSR prepays, we write off the remaining unamortized balance, net of any related guaranty 
obligation, and record the write off to Amortization and depreciation. Similarly, when the loan underlying an MSR de-
faults, we write the MSR off to Amortization and depreciation.  We depreciate property, plant, and equipment ratably over 
their estimated useful lives. 

 
Amortization and depreciation also includes the amortization of intangible assets, principally related to the amorti-

zation of the mortgage pipeline and investment sales pipeline intangible assets recognized in connection with acquisitions. 
For the years presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income, the amortization relates primarily to the mortgage 
pipeline intangible asset recognized in conjunction with an acquisition in 2014 and the EFG Acquisition.  We recognize 
amortization related to the mortgage pipeline intangible asset when a loan included in the mortgage pipeline intangible 
asset is rate locked or is no longer probable of rate locking. We recognize amortization related to the investment sales 
pipeline intangible asset when a transaction included in the intangible asset is closed or no longer probable of closing. 

 
Provision (Benefit) for Credit Losses.  The provision (benefit) for credit losses consists of two components: the 

provision associated with our risk-sharing loans and the provision associated with our loans held for investment. The 
provision (benefit) for credit losses associated with risk-sharing loans is established at the loan level when the borrower 
has defaulted on the loan or is probable of defaulting on the loan or collectively for loans that are not probable of default 
but on a watch list. This provision is in addition to the guaranty obligation that is recognized when the loan is sold. The 
provision (benefit) for credit losses associated with our loans held for investment is established collectively for loans that 
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are not impaired and individually for loans that are impaired. Our estimates of property fair value are based on appraisals, 
broker opinions of value, or net operating income and market capitalization rates, whichever we believe is the best estimate 
of the net disposition value. 

 
Interest Expense on Corporate Debt.  Interest expense on corporate debt includes interest expense incurred and 

amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs related to our term note facility. 
 
Other Operating Expenses.  Other operating expenses include sub-servicing costs, facilities costs, travel and enter-

tainment costs, marketing costs, professional fees, license fees, dues and subscriptions, corporate insurance premiums, and 
other administrative expenses. 

 
Income Tax Expense.  The Company is a C-corporation subject to both federal and state corporate tax. As of De-

cember 31, 2016, our combined statutory federal and state tax rate was approximately 38.6% compared to approximately 
38.4% as of December 31, 2015. Our combined statutory tax rate has historically not varied significantly as the only ma-
terial difference in the calculation of the combined statutory tax rate from year to year is the apportionment of our taxable 
income amongst the various states where we are subject to taxation since we do not have foreign operations or significant 
permanent differences. For example, since we went public in 2010, our combined statutory tax rate has varied by only 
0.6%, with a low of 38.3% and a high of 38.9%. Absent significant legislative changes to statutory tax rates (particularly 
the Federal tax rate), we expect this trend of low variability in the combined statutory tax rate to continue into the foresee-
able future. 

 
In 2016, we adopted a new accounting standard that requires excess tax benefits from stock compensation to be 

recorded as a reduction to income tax expense instead of being recorded directly to equity. Excess tax benefits recognized 
in 2016 reduced income tax expense by $0.6 million. We expect the reduction to income tax expense due to excess tax 
benefits in 2017 to be substantially larger given the significant increase in our stock price over the past 12 months and the 
number of shares that are expected to vest in 2017, reducing the effective tax rate significantly. However, reductions 
beyond 2017 may vary depending on the trend of the price of our common stock and the number of shares that vest.  
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Results of Operations 
 

Following is a discussion of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014. The 
financial results are not necessarily indicative of future results. Our annual results have fluctuated in the past and are 
expected to fluctuate in the future, reflecting the interest-rate environment, the volume of transactions, business acquisi-
tions, regulatory actions, and general economic conditions. Please refer to the table below, which provides supplemental 
data regarding our financial performance.  

 
SUPPLEMENTAL OPERATING DATA 

 
  For the year ended December 31,    
(in thousands; except per share data)    2016      2015      2014    
Transaction Volume:          
Loan Origination Volume by Product Type          

Fannie Mae $  7,000,942 $  5,012,790 $  4,000,278 
Freddie Mac    4,234,071    6,326,471    3,626,276 
Ginnie Mae - HUD    879,941    592,026    704,496 
Brokered (1)    4,189,116    4,122,307    2,696,854 
Interim Loans    419,600    185,075    339,802 

Total Loan Origination Volume $  16,723,670 $  16,238,669 $  11,367,706 
Investment Sales Volume   2,574,442   1,520,079   — 

Total Transaction Volume $  19,298,112 $  17,758,748 $  11,367,706 
          
Key Performance Metrics:          
Operating margin    32 %    29 %    23 %   
Return on equity    21 %    19 %    13 %   
Walker & Dunlop net income  $  113,897  $  82,128  $  51,422  
Adjusted EBITDA (2)  $  129,928  $  124,279  $  84,804  
Diluted EPS  $  3.65  $  2.65  $  1.58  
           
Key Expense Metrics (as a percentage of total revenues):           
Personnel expenses    40 %    39 %    41 %   
Other operating expenses    7 %    8 %    10 %   
Key Origination Metrics (as a percentage of loan origination volume):     
Origination related fees    1.04 %    0.97 %    1.10 %   
Gains attributable to MSRs    1.15 %    0.82 %    0.85 %   
Gains attributable to MSRs, as a percentage of Agency loan origination vol-

ume (3)    1.59 %    1.12 %    1.16 %   
 

  As of December 31,   
Servicing Portfolio by Product:   2016      2015      2014  

Fannie Mae $  27,728,164  $  22,915,088  $  20,521,425  
Freddie Mac    20,688,410     17,810,007     12,916,705  
Ginnie Mae - HUD    9,155,794     5,657,809     5,828,981  
Brokered (1)    5,286,473     3,595,990     4,539,461  
Interim Loans    222,313     233,370     225,318  

Total Servicing Portfolio $  63,081,154  $  50,212,264  $  44,031,890  
          
Key Servicing Metric (end of period):          
Weighted-average servicing fee rate (basis points)    26.1    24.8    24.4  

 
(1) Brokered transactions for commercial mortgage backed securities, life insurance companies, and commercial banks. 
(2) This is a non-GAAP financial measure. For more information on adjusted EBITDA, refer to the section below titled “Non-GAAP 

Financial Measures.” 
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(3) The fair value of the expected net cash flows associated with the servicing of the loan, net of any guaranty obligations retained, 
as a percentage of Agency loan origination volume. 

 
Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 
The following table presents a period-to-period comparison of our financial results for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 

FINANCIAL RESULTS – 2016 COMPARED TO 2015 
 

  For the year ended         
  December 31,   Dollar  Percentage    
(dollars in thousands)     2016     2015     Change      Change     
Revenues             

Gains from mortgage banking activities  $  367,185  $  290,466  $  76,719   26 %   
Servicing fees     140,924     114,757     26,167   23 %   
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for 
sale   16,245   14,541   1,704   12 %   
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for 
investment   7,482   9,419   (1,937)  (21)%   
Escrow earnings and other interest income     9,168     4,473     4,695   105 %   
Other     34,272     34,542     (270)  (1)%   

Total revenues  $  575,276  $  468,198  $  107,078   23 %   
             
Expenses             

Personnel  $  227,491  $  184,590  $  42,901   23 %   
Amortization and depreciation    111,427    98,173    13,254   14 %   
Provision (benefit) for credit losses     (612)    1,644     (2,256)  (137)%   
Interest expense on corporate debt     9,851     9,918     (67)  (1)%   
Other operating expenses     41,338     38,507     2,831   7 %   

Total expenses  $  389,495  $  332,832  $  56,663   17 %   
Income from operations     185,781     135,366     50,415   37 %   

Income tax expense     71,470     52,771     18,699   35 %   
Net income before noncontrolling interests  $  114,311  $  82,595  $  31,716   38 %   

Less: net income from noncontrolling interests     414     467     (53)   (11)%   
Walker & Dunlop net income  $  113,897  $  82,128  $  31,769   39 %   

 

 

Overview 
 

The increase in revenues was primarily attributable to increases in gains from mortgage banking activities and ser-
vicing fees. The increase in gains from mortgage banking activities was largely due to the significant increase in Fannie 
Mae loan origination volume from 2015 to 2016. The growth in Fannie Mae loan origination volume is due to Fannie 
Mae’s increased competitiveness with Freddie Mac for fixed-rate lending in 2016 compared to 2015. The increase in 
servicing fees was due to an increase in the average servicing portfolio. The increase in expenses was principally the result 
of higher personnel and amortization and depreciation expenses. Personnel expense increased due to higher commission 
costs from the increased gains from mortgage banking activities, increased bonus expense due to our improved financial 
results year over year, higher salaries expense due to a rise in headcount, and larger stock compensation expense. Head-
count increased due to acquisitions and hiring to support the growth of the Company. Amortization and depreciation ex-
pense increased as a result of a rise in the average MSR balance from 2015 to 2016. 

 
Revenues 
 

Gains from Mortgage Banking Activities 
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The following table provides additional information that helps explain changes in gains from mortgage banking 

activities over the past three years: 
 

 For the year ended December 31, 
 2016  2015  2014 
Loan Origination Volume by Product Type        
Fannie Mae  42 %  31 %  35 % 
Freddie Mac  25 %  39 %  32 % 
Ginnie Mae - HUD  5 %  4 %  6 % 
Brokered  25 %  25 %  24 % 
Interim Loans  3 %  1 %  3 % 
 100 %  100 %  100 % 

 
(dollars in thousands)         
Origination Fees $  174,360  $  156,835  $  125,468 

Dollar Change   17,525    31,367    
Percentage Change   11 %   25 %   

MSR Income (1) $  192,825  $  133,631  $  96,515 
Dollar Change   59,194    37,116    

Percentage Change   44 %   38 %   
Origination Fee Rate (2) (basis points)  104    97    110 

Basis Point Change   7    (13)   
Percentage Change   7 %   (12)%   

MSR Rate (3) (basis points)   115    82    85 
Basis Point Change   33    (3)   
Percentage Change   40 %   (4)%   

 
(1) The fair value of the expected net cash flows associated with the servicing of the loan, net of any guaranty obligations retained. 
(2) Origination fees as a percentage of loan origination volume. 
(3) MSR income as a percentage of loan origination volume. 

 

Gains from mortgage banking activities reflect the fair value of loan origination fees, the fair value of loan premiums, 
net of any co-broker fees, and the fair value of the expected net cash flows associated with the servicing of the loan, net of 
any guaranty obligations retained (“MSR income”). The increase was primarily the result of the mix of loan origination 
volume, as our two highest-margin products, Fannie Mae and HUD, represented 47% of our overall loan origination vol-
ume in 2016 compared to 35% in 2015. The change in mix of loan origination volume led to the increases in the origination 
fee rate and the MSR rate from 2015 to 2016 shown above, leading to increases in both origination fees and MSR income. 
See the “Overview of Business Environment” section above for a detailed discussion of the factors driving the change in 
the mix of loan origination volume. 
 
Servicing Fees 
 

The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in the average servicing portfolio from 2015 to 2016 as shown 
below due to new loan originations, the Servicing Portfolio Acquisition, and relatively few payoffs. Additionally, the 
servicing portfolio’s weighted average servicing fee increased as shown below due to an increase in the Fannie Mae and 
HUD servicing portfolios. 
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(dollars in thousands)  2016   2015   2014 
Average Servicing Portfolio $  55,540,993  $  47,096,080  $  40,408,751 

Dollar Change   8,444,913    6,687,329    
Percentage Change   18 %   17 %   

Average Servicing Fee (basis points)   25.3    24.3    24.4 
Basis Point Change   1.0    (0.1)   
Percentage Change   4 %   0 %   

 
Net Warehouse Interest Income, Loans Held for Sale 
 

The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in the average balance outstanding of loans held for sale 
(“LHFS”) in 2016 compared to 2015 as shown below, partially offset by the decrease in net spread as shown below. The 
increase in the average balance was due to an increase in the average holding period from 2015 to 2016. The decrease in 
the net spread was a result of a greater increase in the short-term interest rates on which our borrowings are based than in 
the long-term interest rates on which the majority of our loans held for sale are based. 
 

(dollars in thousands)  2016   2015   2014 
Average LHFS Outstanding Balance $  1,342,928  $  1,149,679  $  650,513 

Dollar Change   193,249    499,166    
Percentage Change   17 %   77 %   

LHFS Net Spread (basis points)   121    126    174 
Basis Point Change   (5)   (48)   
Percentage Change   (4)%   (28)%   

 
Net Warehouse Interest Income, Loans Held for Investment 
 

The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in the average balance outstanding of loans held for investment 
(“LHFI”) from 2015 to 2016 as shown below. The decrease in the average balance outstanding was a result of an increase 
in payoffs from year to year. 
 

(dollars in thousands)  2016   2015   2014 
Average LHFI Outstanding Balance $  224,237  $  281,584  $  188,867 

Dollar Change   (57,347)   92,717    
Percentage Change   (20)%   49 %   

LHFI Net Spread (basis points)   334    335    326 
Basis Point Change   (1)   9    
Percentage Change                       0  %   3 %   

 
Escrow Earnings and Other Interest Income 

 
The increase was due to increases in both the average balance of escrow accounts and the average earnings rate from 

2015 to 2016 as shown below. The increase in the average balance was due to the increase in the average servicing port-
folio, particularly the significant increase in the average balance of the HUD servicing portfolio as HUD loans have the 
highest escrow balances of all of our products. The increase in the average earnings rate was due to the increase in short-
term interest rates during 2016. 

 
(dollars in thousands)  2016   2015   2014 
Average escrow balance $  1,368,947  $  1,089,649  $  840,831 

Dollar Change   279,298    248,818    
Percentage Change   26 %   30 %   

Escrow Earnings Rate (basis points)   67    41    54 
Basis Point Change   26    (13)   
Percentage Change   63 %   (24)%   
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Expenses 
 

Personnel.  The increase was principally the result of higher loan originator commission costs, increased bonus 
expense, increased salaries expense, and an increase in stock compensation expense. Commission costs increased due to 
the increase in origination fee income and a larger concentration of origination fees earned by our top loan originators. 
The percentage of origination fee income a loan originator earns as a commission increases as that loan originator reaches 
greater loan origination fee thresholds. Bonus expense increased due to our improved financial results year over year. 
Salaries expense increased due to a rise in average headcount from 483 in 2015 to 518 in 2016 as a result of acquisitions 
and organic growth of the Company. The increase in stock compensation expense is largely related to a multi-year perfor-
mance stock compensation plan that began in 2016 and increased expense related to an award granted to a large base of 
employees at the end of 2015.  

 
Amortization and Depreciation.  The increase was primarily attributable to loan origination activity and the resulting 

growth in the MSR balance from 2015 to 2016, partially offset by decreased write-offs of MSRs of $3.2 million from the 
prior year as fewer borrowers elected to refinance their loans early or sell the underlying properties in 2016 than in 2015. 

 
Other Operating Expenses.  The increase was primarily attributable to increases in travel and entertainment ex-

penses and office expenses. These expenses increased as a result of the aforementioned increase in average headcount. 
 
Income Tax Expense.  The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the increase in income from opera-

tions, partially offset by a reduction to income tax expense in 2016 of $0.6 million related to excess tax benefits from stock 
compensation. As mentioned previously, excess tax benefits reduced income tax expense in 2016 but not 2015 due to a 
new accounting standard that we adopted in 2016. 
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Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014 
 
The following table presents a period-to-period comparison of our financial results for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 

FINANCIAL RESULTS – 2015 COMPARED TO 2014 
 

  For the year ended        
  December 31,   Dollar  Percentage   
(dollars in thousands)     2015      2014      Change     Change   
Revenues            

Gains from mortgage banking activities  $  290,466  $  221,983  $  68,483   31 %  
Servicing fees     114,757     98,414     16,343   17 %  
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for 
sale   14,541   11,343   3,198   28 %  
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for in-
vestment   9,419   6,151   3,268   53 %  
Escrow earnings and other interest income     4,473     4,526     (53)  (1)%  
Other     34,542     18,355     16,187   88 %  

Total revenues  $  468,198  $  360,772  $  107,426   30 %  
            
Expenses            

Personnel  $  184,590  $  149,374  $  35,216   24 %  
Amortization and depreciation    98,173    80,138    18,035   23 %  
Provision for credit losses     1,644     2,206     (562)  (25)%  
Interest expense on corporate debt     9,918     10,311     (393)  (4)%  
Other operating expenses     38,507     34,831     3,676   11 %  

Total expenses  $  332,832  $  276,860  $  55,972   20 %  
Income from operations     135,366     83,912     51,454   61 %  

Income tax expense     52,771     32,490     20,281   62 %  
Net income before noncontrolling interests  $  82,595  $  51,422  $  31,173   61 %  

Less: net income from noncontrolling interests     467     —     467   N/A  
Walker & Dunlop net income  $  82,128  $  51,422  $  30,706   60 %  

 
Overview 
 

The increase in revenues was primarily attributable to increases in gains from mortgage banking activities, servicing 
fees, and other revenues. The increase in gains from mortgage banking activities was largely due to the significant increase 
in loan origination volume from 2014 to 2015. The growth in loan origination volume is more fully discussed above in the 
Overview of Business Environment section. The increase in servicing fees was due to an increase in the average servicing 
portfolio. The increase in other revenues was primarily attributable to increases in prepayment fees and investment sales 
revenues. The increase in expenses was principally the result of higher personnel and amortization and depreciation ex-
penses. Personnel expense increased due to higher commission costs from the increased loan origination volume, increased 
bonus expense due to our improved financial results year over year, higher salaries expense due to a rise in headcount, and 
larger stock compensation expense. Headcount increased due to acquisitions and hiring to support the growth of the Com-
pany. Amortization and depreciation expense increased as a result of a rise in net write-offs of MSRs due to prepayment 
and amortization expense related to our MSRs as the average MSR balance increased from 2014 to 2015. 

 
Revenues 
 

Gains from Mortgage Banking Activities.  Gains from mortgage banking activities reflect the fair value of loan 
origination fees, the fair value of loan premiums, net of any co-broker fees, and the fair value of the expected net cash 
flows associated with the servicing of the loan, net of any guaranty obligations retained (“MSR income”). The increase 
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was primarily the result of the significant increase in loan origination volume, partially offset by a 12% decrease in origi-
nation fees as a percentage of loan origination volume (“origination fee rate”) and a slight decrease in MSR income as a 
percentage of loan origination volume (“MSR rate”). Loan origination volume increased to $16.2 billion in 2015 from 
$11.4 billion in 2014, a 43% increase. See the “Overview of Business Environment” section above for a detailed discussion 
of the factors driving the increase in loan origination volume. 

 
The decrease in the origination fee rate was largely attributable to an increase in adjustable-rate loan origination 

volume, which increased from $1.5 billion in 2014 to $4.7 billion in 2015, a 213% increase.  We receive lower origination 
fees for adjustable-rate loans than fixed-rate loans. The increase in adjustable-rate loan volume was due to a change in 
borrower demand for this product. The slight decrease in the MSR rate was primarily the result of the aforementioned 
increase in adjustable-rate loan origination volume year over year, partially offset by an increase in the weighted average 
serving fee of new GSE loan origination volume. The MSR rate is smaller for adjustable-rate loans compared to fixed-rate 
loans since adjustable-rate loans have shorter expected lives. 

 
Servicing Fees.  The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in the servicing portfolio due to new loan 

originations. The average servicing portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2015 was $47.1 billion compared to 
$40.4 billion during the year ended December 31, 2014. Additionally, the servicing portfolio’s weighted average servicing 
fee increased from 24 basis points at December 31, 2014 to 25 basis points at December 31, 2015. 
 

Net Warehouse Interest Income, Loans Held for Sale.  The increase is primarily attributable to a $499.1 million, or 
77%, increase in the average daily outstanding warehouse balance due to the aforementioned increase in loan origination 
volume, partially offset by a 28% decrease in the net spread. The decrease in the net spread is largely a result of the 
aforementioned increase in adjustable-rate loan origination volume in 2015 compared to 2014 as we earn a lower spread 
on adjustable-rate loans than fixed-rate loans. The components of net warehouse interest income from loans held for sale 
are: 

        

  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)      2015      2014  
Warehouse interest income - loans held for sale  $  37,675  $  24,615  
Warehouse interest expense - loans held for sale     (23,134)    (13,272) 
Net warehouse interest income - loans held for sale  $  14,541  $ 11,343  

 
Net Warehouse Interest Income, Loans Held for Investment.  The increase was primarily due to a larger average 

balance outstanding during 2015 than 2014, from $188.6 million during 2014 to $281.6 million during 2015. The compo-
nents of net warehouse interest income from loans held for investment are: 

        

  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2015      2014  
Warehouse interest income - loans held for investment  $ 15,456  $  11,092  
Warehouse interest expense - loans held for investment     (6,037)    (4,941) 
Net warehouse interest income - loans held for investment  $  9,419  $  6,151  

 
Other.  The increase was primarily attributable to increases in prepayment fees and investment sales revenues. Pre-

payment fees increased $5.7 million as borrowers took advantage of the continued low interest rate environment to re-
finance their loans early or sell the underlying properties. Investment sales revenues increased $9.3 million as we began 
offering investment sales brokerage services during the second quarter of 2015. 

 
Expenses 
 

Personnel.  The increase was principally the result of higher loan originator commission costs due to higher loan 
origination volumes from 2014 to 2015, increased bonus expense due to our improved financial results year over year, 
increased salaries expense due to an increase in average headcount as a result of two acquisitions completed since the third 
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quarter of 2014, and an increase in stock compensation expense. The increase in stock compensation expense is the result 
of performance-based restricted stock awards that vest upon achievement of Company performance targets. Given the 
Company’s performance during 2015, we concluded that achievement of one of the two performance targets was probable 
at the lowest level and recognized stock compensation expense. Given the Company’s improved performance during 2015, 
we concluded that achievement of both performance targets was probable, with achievement of one of the performance 
targets probable at its highest level, resulting in greater stock compensation expense related to the performance-based 
restricted stock awards in 2015 than 2014.  

 
Amortization and Depreciation.  The increase was primarily attributable to loan origination activity and the resulting 

growth in the capitalization of MSRs from 2014 to 2015. Also included in amortization and depreciation are write-offs of 
MSRs resulting from the prepayment of the underlying loan prior to its scheduled maturity. During 2015, write-offs of 
MSRs increased $5.5 million from the prior year to $16.8 million as borrowers took advantage of the continued low interest 
rate environment to refinance their loans early or sell the underlying properties. 

 
Other Operating Expenses.  The increase was primarily attributable to increases in travel and entertainment ex-

penses and office expenses. These expenses increased as a result of the aforementioned increase in average headcount. 
 
Income Tax Expense.  The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the increase in income from opera-

tions. 
 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
 

To supplement our financial statements presented in accordance with GAAP, we use adjusted EBITDA, a non-
GAAP financial measure. The presentation of adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a 
substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP. When analyzing 
our operating performance, readers should use adjusted EBITDA in addition to, and not as an alternative for, net income. 
Adjusted EBITDA represents net income before income taxes, interest expense on our term loan facility, and amortization 
and depreciation, adjusted for provision (benefit) for credit losses net of write-offs, stock-based incentive compensation 
charges, and non-cash revenues such as gains attributable to MSRs. Because not all companies use identical calculations, 
our presentation of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Furthermore, 
adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be a measure of free cash flow for our management’s discretionary use, as it does not 
reflect certain cash requirements such as tax and debt service payments. The amounts shown for adjusted EBITDA may 
also differ from the amounts calculated under similarly titled definitions in our debt instruments, which are further adjusted 
to reflect certain other cash and non-cash charges that are used to determine compliance with financial covenants. 

 
We use adjusted EBITDA to evaluate the operating performance of our business, for comparison with forecasts and 

strategic plans, and for benchmarking performance externally against competitors. We believe that this non-GAAP meas-
ure, when read in conjunction with our GAAP financials, provides useful information to investors by offering: 

 
• the ability to make more meaningful period-to-period comparisons of our on-going operating results; 
• the ability to better identify trends in our underlying business and perform related trend analyses; and 
• a better understanding of how management plans and measures our underlying business. 
 

We believe that adjusted EBITDA has limitations in that it does not reflect all of the amounts associated with our 
results of operations as determined in accordance with GAAP and that adjusted EBITDA should only be used to evaluate 
our results of operations in conjunction with net income. 
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Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as follows:  
 

ADJUSTED FINANCIAL METRIC RECONCILIATION TO GAAP 
 

 

  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016    2015    2014  
Reconciliation of Walker & Dunlop Net Income to Adjusted 
EBITDA           
Walker & Dunlop Net Income $  113,897 $  82,128 $  51,422 

Income tax expense  71,470  52,771  32,490 
Interest expense  9,851  9,918  10,311 
Amortization and depreciation  111,427  98,173  80,138 
Provision (benefit) for credit losses  (612)  1,644  2,206 
Net write-offs  (1,757)  (808)  (5,242)
Stock compensation expense  18,477  14,084  9,994 
Gains attributable to mortgage servicing rights (1)  (192,825)  (133,631)  (96,515)

Adjusted EBITDA $  129,928 $  124,279 $  84,804 
 

(1) Represents the fair value of the expected net cash flows from servicing recognized at commitment, net of the expected guaranty 
obligation. 

 
Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 
The following table presents a period-to-period comparison of our adjusted EBITDA for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

ADJUSTED EBITDA – 2016 COMPARED TO 2015  
             

  For the year ended         
  December 31,   Dollar  Percentage   
(dollars in thousands)     2016     2015      Change     Change   
Origination fees  $  174,360  $  156,835  $  17,525   11 %  
Servicing fees     140,924     114,757     26,167   23 %  
Net warehouse interest income     23,727     23,960     (233)  (1)%  
Escrow earnings and other interest income     9,168     4,473     4,695   105 %  
Other revenues     33,858     34,075     (217)  (1)%  
Personnel     (209,014)    (170,506)    (38,508)  23 %  
Net write-offs     (1,757)    (808)    (949)  117 %  
Other operating expenses     (41,338)    (38,507)    (2,831)  7 %  
Adjusted EBITDA  $  129,928  $  124,279  $  5,649   5 %  

 
See the table above for the components of the change in adjusted EBITDA.  The increase in loan origination fees 

was largely the result of increases in loan origination volume of our two highest-margin products, Fannie Mae and HUD.  
Servicing fees increased principally due to an increase in the average servicing portfolio from 2015 to 2016 as a result of 
new loan originations, the Servicing Portfolio Acquisition, and relatively few payoffs. Escrow earnings and other interest 
income increased largely due to a rise in the average outstanding balances of escrow accounts and an increase in the 
average earnings rate from 2015 to 2016. The increase in personnel expense was principally the result of higher loan 
originator commission costs due to the increase in origination fees and a higher concentration of origination fees coming 
from the top loan originators from 2015 to 2016, increased bonus expense due to our improved financial results year over 
year, and increased salaries expense due to an increase in average headcount. Other operating expenses increased primarily 
as a result of increases in travel and entertainment expense and office expenses due to the increase in average headcount. 
 
Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014 
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The following table presents a period-to-period comparison of our adjusted EBITDA for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2015 and 2014: 
 

ADJUSTED EBITDA – 2015 COMPARED TO 2014 
 

  For the year ended         
  December 31,   Dollar  Percentage   
(dollars in thousands)     2015      2014      Change     Change   
Origination fees  $  156,835  $  125,468  $  31,367   25 %  
Servicing fees     114,757     98,414     16,343   17 %  
Net warehouse interest income     23,960     17,494     6,466   37 %  
Escrow earnings and other interest income     4,473     4,526     (53)  (1)%  
Other revenues     34,075     18,355     15,720   86 %  
Personnel     (170,506)    (139,380)    (31,126)  22 %  
Net write-offs     (808)    (5,242)    4,434   (85)%  
Other operating expenses     (38,507)    (34,831)    (3,676)  11 %  
Adjusted EBITDA  $  124,279  $  84,804  $  39,475   47 %  

 
See the table above for the components of the change in adjusted EBITDA.  The increases in loan origination fees 

were largely related to the significant increases in the volume of loans originated, partially offset by decreases in the 
origination fee rate from 2014 to 2015 as the volume of adjustable-rate loan originations increased. Servicing fees in-
creased principally due to an increase in the average servicing portfolio from 2014 to 2015 as a result of new loan origi-
nations. Net warehouse interest income increased largely due to increases in the average outstanding balances of loans 
held for sale and loans held for investment from 2014 to 2015. Other revenues increased primarily due to increases in 
prepayment fees and investment sales revenues. The increase in personnel expense was principally the result of higher 
loan originator commission costs due to higher loan origination volumes from 2014 to 2015, increased bonus expense due 
to our improved financial results year over year, and increased salaries expense due to an increase in average headcount 
as a result of two acquisitions completed since the third quarter of 2014. The decrease in net write offs was due to a 
decrease in the volume of risk-sharing losses settled with Fannie Mae. Other operating expenses increased primarily as a 
result of increases in travel and entertainment expense and office expenses due to an increase in average headcount. 

 
Financial Condition 
 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
 
Our cash flows from operations are generated from loan sales, servicing fees, escrow earnings, net warehouse inter-

est income and other income, net of loan originations and operating costs. Our cash flows from operations are impacted 
by the fees generated by our loan originations, the timing of loan closings, and the period of time loans are held for sale in 
the warehouse loan facility prior to delivery to the investor. 

 
Cash Flow from Investing Activities 
 
We usually lease facilities and equipment for our operations. However, when necessary and cost effective, we invest 

cash in property, plant, and equipment. Our cash flows from investing activities also include the funding and repayment 
of loans held for investment and the purchase of preferred equity investments. We opportunistically invest cash for acqui-
sitions and MSR portfolio purchases. 

 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
 
We use our warehouse loan facilities and, when necessary, our corporate cash to fund loan closings. We believe that 

our current warehouse loan facilities are adequate to meet our increasing loan origination needs. Historically, we have 
used a combination of long-term debt and cash flows from operations to fund acquisitions, repurchase shares, and fund a 
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portion of loans held for investment. 
 
We currently do not pay dividends on our common stock and have never paid a dividend. 
 

Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015 
 
The following table presents a period-to-period comparison of the significant components of cash flows for the years 

ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. Certain prior-year balances have been adjusted for the adoption of a new accounting 
standard relating to the presentation of cash flows associated with restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents as more 
fully described in NOTE 2 of the consolidated financial statements.  

 
SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF CASH FLOWS – 2016 COMPARED TO 2015 

             

  Year Ended December 31,   Dollar  
Percent-

age   
(dollars in thousands)     2016     2015     Change     Change   
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $  759,366  $  (1,338,715) $  2,098,081   (157)%   
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (66,761)    (27,232)    (39,529)  145 %   
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     (693,622)    1,385,504     (2,079,126)  (150)%   
Total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash 
equivalents at end of period    213,467    214,484    (1,017)             0 %   
            
Cash flows from operating activities            

Net receipt (use) of cash for loan origination activity  $  656,650  $  (1,423,197) $  2,079,847   (146)%   
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, excluding loan 
origination activity    102,716    84,482    18,234   22 %   

            
Cash flows from investing activities            

Acquisitions, net of cash received  $  (6,350) $  (12,767) $  6,417    (50)%   
Purchase of mortgage servicing rights    (43,097)   —    (43,097) N/A  
Funding of preferred equity investments    (24,835)   —    (24,835) N/A  
         
Originations of loans held for investment  $  (414,763) $  (180,375) $  (234,388)  130 %   
Principal collected on loans held for investment     425,820     172,323     253,497   147 %   
Net payoff of (investment in) loans held for investment  $  11,057  $  (8,052) $  19,109   (237)%   

            
Cash flows from financing activities            

Borrowings (repayments) of warehouse notes payable, net  $  (649,845) $  1,423,911  $  (2,073,756)  (146)%   
Borrowings of interim warehouse notes payable     325,828     137,397     188,431   137 %   
Repayments of interim warehouse notes payable     (355,738)    (125,542)    (230,196)  183 %   
Repurchase of common stock    (12,893)   (50,261)   37,368   (74)%   

 
The decrease of $18.2 million in the unrestricted cash balance from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 is 

primarily the result of $6.4 million of net cash used for acquisitions, $17.2 million used to fund restricted cash and pledged 
securities, $24.8 million used to fund preferred equity investments, $43.1 million used to purchase a servicing portfolio, 
and $12.9 million of cash used to repurchase shares of our own stock, partially offset by cash earnings. 

 
Changes in cash flows from operations were driven primarily by loans acquired and sold. Such loans are held for 

short periods of time, generally less than 60 days, and impact cash flows presented as of a point in time. The increase in 
cash flows from operations year over year is primarily attributable to the net receipt of $0.7 billion for the funding of loan 
originations, net of sales of loans to third parties during 2016 compared to net use of $1.4 billion during 2015. Excluding 
cash used for the origination and sale of loans, cash flows provided by operations was $102.7 million during 2016 com-
pared to $84.5 million during 2015. The significant components of the change included a $31.7 million increase in net 
income before noncontrolling interests, a $20.7 million increase in deferred tax expense (a non-cash expense), a $13.3 
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million increase in amortization and depreciation (a non-cash expense), and a $13.9 million benefit from the changes in 
performance deposits from borrowers, partially offset by a greater reduction to net income related to gains attributable to 
future servicing rights of $59.2 million.  

 
The increase in cash used in investing activities is primarily attributable to net cash paid to purchase mortgage 

servicing rights of $43.1 million as the purchase of mortgage servicing rights was a transaction unique to 2016. 
 
The substantial change in cash provided by (used in) financing activities was primarily attributable to the significant 

change in net warehouse borrowings period to period and an increase in repayments of interim warehouse notes payable, 
partially offset by an increase in borrowings of interim warehouse notes payable and a decrease in cash used to repurchase 
and retire shares of our common stock. The substantial net repayment of warehouse borrowings during 2016 was due to a 
significant decrease in the unpaid principal balance of loans held for sale from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016, 
resulting in net repayments of warehouse borrowings during 2016. From December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2015, the 
unpaid principal balance of loans held for sale increased substantially, resulting in a substantial amount of net warehouse 
borrowings in 2015. The change in net borrowings of interim warehouse notes payable was principally due to an increase 
in payoffs of loans held for investment, partially offset by an increase in originations of loans held for investment year 
over year. During 2015, our repurchases of common stock included a single transaction of a large block of our shares of 
common stock from our largest stockholder at the time. Our share repurchases during 2016 have been in multiple transac-
tions of smaller size.  

 
Year Ended December 31, 2015 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2014 
 

The following table presents a period-to-period comparison of the significant components of cash flows for the years 
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Certain prior-year balances have been adjusted for the adoption of a new accounting 
standard relating to the presentation of cash flows associated with restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents as more 
fully described in NOTE 2 of the consolidated financial statements. 
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SIGNIFICANT COMPONENTS OF CASH FLOWS – 2015 COMPARED TO 2014 
 
  Year Ended December 31,   Dollar  Percentage   
(dollars in thousands)     2015      2014     Change     Change   
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $  (1,338,715) $  (703,001) $ (635,714)  90 %  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (27,232)    (115,640)    88,408   (76)%  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     1,385,504     787,927     597,577   76 %  
Total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equiva-
lents at end of period  $  214,484  $  194,927  $  19,557   10 %  
            
Cash flows from operating activities            

Net receipt (use) of cash for loan origination activity  $  (1,423,197) $  (776,544) $ (646,653)  83 %  
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, excluding loan origi-
nation activity  $  84,482  $  73,543  $  10,939   15 %  

            
Cash flows from investing activities            

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired  $  (12,767) $  (23,417) $  10,650    (45)
          
Originations of loans held for investment     (180,375)    (339,802)    159,427   (47)%  
Principal collected on loans held for investment     172,323     250,104     (77,781)  (31)%  
Net investment in loans held for investment  $  (8,052) $  (89,698) $  81,646   (91)%  

            
Cash flows from financing activities            

Borrowings (repayments) of warehouse notes payable, net  $  1,423,911  $  774,935  $  648,976   84 %  
Borrowings of interim warehouse notes payable     137,397     248,024     (110,627)  (45)%  
Repayments of interim warehouse notes payable     (125,542)    (179,941)    54,399   (30)%  
Repayments of secured borrowings    —   (22,050)  22,050   (100)%  
Repurchase of common stock  $  (50,261) $  (37,593) $  (12,668)  34 %  

 
The increase in the unrestricted cash balance is primarily the result of net income before noncontrolling interests of 

$82.6 million, partially offset by $10.9 million of net cash used for the EFG Acquisition and $50.3 million of cash used to 
repurchase shares of our own stock. 

 
Changes in cash flows from operations were driven primarily by loans acquired and sold. Such loans are held for 

short periods of time, generally less than 60 days, and impact cash flows presented as of a point in time. The decrease in 
cash flows from operations is primarily attributable to the net use of $1.4 billion for the funding of loan originations, net 
of sales of loans to third parties during 2015 compared to $776.5 million during 2014. Excluding cash used for the origi-
nation and sale of loans, cash flows provided by operations was $84.5 million during 2015 compared to $73.5 million 
during 2014. The significant components of the change included a $31.2 million increase in net income before noncon-
trolling interests and a $9.5 million decrease in the investment in other assets, partially offset by a greater reduction to net 
income related to gains attributable to future servicing rights of $37.1 million.  

 
The decrease in cash used in investing activities is primarily attributable to a decrease in the net investment in loans 

held for investment of $81.6 million. Additionally, we invested $12.8 million in asset acquisitions in 2015 compared to 
$23.4 million in 2014. The 2015 purchase price of $12.8 million consisted of $11.1 million of cash, less $0.2 million cash 
received, and $1.9 million in stock. The 2014 purchase price of $23.4 million consisted of $17.6 million of cash, less $0.1 
million cash received, and $5.9 million in stock. 

 
The increase in cash provided by financing activities was primarily attributable to the significant increase in net 

warehouse borrowings and reductions in repayments of interim warehouse notes payable and secured borrowings, partially 
offset by an increase in cash used to repurchase and retire shares of our common stock and a decrease in borrowings of 
interim warehouse notes payable. The increase in borrowings of warehouse notes payable was largely attributable to a 
larger increase in loans held for sale from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 compared to the period from Decem-
ber 31, 2014 to December 31, 2015. The decrease in net borrowings of interim warehouse notes payable was principally 
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due to an increase in loan payoffs year over year. The repayment of secured borrowings was a unique activity in 2014 with 
no comparable activity in 2015. 

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Uses of Liquidity, Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Our significant recurring cash flow requirements consist of (i) short-term liquidity necessary to fund loans held for 

sale; (ii) liquidity necessary to fund loans held for investment under the Interim Program; (iii) liquidity necessary to fund 
our preferred equity investments; (iv) working capital to support our day-to-day operations, including debt service pay-
ments, servicing advances consisting of principal and interest advances for Fannie Mae or HUD loans that become delin-
quent, advances on insurance and tax payments if the escrow funds are insufficient, and payments for income taxes; and 
(v) working capital to satisfy collateral requirements for our Fannie Mae DUS risk-sharing obligations and to meet the 
operational liquidity requirements of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, Ginnie Mae, and our warehouse facility lenders. 

 
Fannie Mae has established benchmark standards for capital adequacy, and reserves the right to terminate our ser-

vicing authority for all or some of the portfolio if at any time it determines that our financial condition is not adequate to 
support our obligations under the DUS agreement. We are required to maintain acceptable net worth as defined in the 
standards, and we satisfied the requirements as of December 31, 2016. The net worth requirement is derived primarily 
from unpaid balances on Fannie Mae loans and the level of risk-sharing. At December 31, 2016, the net worth requirement 
was $129.6 million and our net worth was $633.2 million, as measured at our wholly owned operating subsidiary, Walker 
& Dunlop, LLC. As of December 31, 2016, we were required to maintain at least $25.1 million of liquid assets to meet 
our operational liquidity requirements for Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, Ginnie Mae and our warehouse facility lenders. 
As of December 31, 2016, we had operational liquidity of $115.8 million, as measured at our wholly owned operating 
subsidiary, Walker & Dunlop, LLC. 

 
As noted previously, under certain limited circumstances, we may make preferred equity investments in entities 

controlled by certain of our borrowers that will assist those borrowers to acquire and reposition properties. As of December 
31, 2016, we have made commitments to fund such preferred equity investments in monthly installments totaling $42.8 
million, $24.8 million of which has been funded. We expect to fund the remaining commitment amount over the next 12 
months. We may make additional commitments to fund preferred equity investments in the future. 

 
We currently retain all future earnings for the operation and expansion of our business and therefore do not pay cash 

dividends on our common stock. Since the beginning of 2014, we have repurchased 5.5 million shares of our common 
stock from large stockholders for an aggregate cost of $82.3 million and invested $93.3 million of cash in acquisitions and 
the purchase of mortgage servicing rights. During the first quarter of 2016, our Board of Directors authorized us to repur-
chase up to $75.0 million of our common stock over a 12-month period that ended on February 9, 2017. We repurchased 
0.4 million shares of our stock under this program for an aggregate cost of $9.2 million during 2016. Additionally, we may 
execute additional acquisitions if the economics of such acquisitions are favorable. In February 2017, our Board for Di-
rectors approved a new stock repurchase program that permits the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of shares of our 
common stock over a 12-month period beginning on February 10, 2017. 

 
Historically, our cash flows from operations and warehouse facilities have been sufficient to enable us to meet our 

short-term liquidity needs and other funding requirements, including payments for income taxes. We believe that cash 
flows from operations will continue to be sufficient for us to meet our current obligations for the foreseeable future. Ad-
ditionally, we do not expect to incur tax payments outside the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.  

 
Restricted Cash and Pledged Securities 
 
Restricted cash consists primarily of good faith deposits held on behalf of borrowers between the time we enter into 

a loan commitment with the borrower and the investor purchases the loan. 
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We are generally required to share the risk of any losses associated with loans sold under the Fannie Mae DUS 
program. We are required to secure this obligation by assigning collateral to Fannie Mae. We meet this obligation by 
assigning pledged securities to Fannie Mae. The amount of collateral required by Fannie Mae is a formulaic calculation at 
the loan level and considers the balance of the loan, the risk level of the loan, the age of the loan, and the level of risk-
sharing. Fannie Mae requires collateral for Tier 2 loans of 75 basis points, which is funded over a 48-month period that 
begins upon delivery of the loan to Fannie Mae. Collateral held in the form of money market funds holding U.S. Treasuries 
is discounted 5% for purposes of calculating compliance with the collateral requirements. As of December 31, 2016, we 
held substantially all of our restricted liquidity in money market funds holding U.S. Treasuries in the aggregate amount of 
$78.4 million. Additionally, substantially all of the loans for which we have risk sharing are Tier 2 loans. We fund any 
growth in our Fannie Mae required operational liquidity and collateral requirements from our working capital.  

 
We are in compliance with the December 31, 2016 collateral requirements as outlined above. As of Decem-

ber 31, 2016, reserve requirements for the December 31, 2016 DUS loan portfolio will require us to fund $54.0 million in 
additional restricted liquidity over the next 48 months, assuming no further principal paydowns, prepayments, or defaults 
within our at risk portfolio. Fannie Mae periodically reassesses the DUS Capital Standards and may make changes to these 
standards in the future. We generate sufficient cash flow from our operations to meet these capital standards and do not 
expect any future changes to have a material impact on our future operations; however, any future changes to collateral 
requirements may adversely impact our available cash.  

 
Under the provisions of the DUS agreement, we must also maintain a certain level of liquid assets referred to as the 

operational and unrestricted portions of the required reserves each year. We satisfied these requirements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2016. 

 
Sources of Liquidity: Warehouse Facilities 
 

The following table provides information related to our warehouse facilities as of December 31, 2016. 
 

  December 31, 2016   
(dollars in thousands)     Maximum     Outstanding       
Facility  Amount  Balance  Interest rate 

Agency warehouse facility #1  $  425,000  $  109,087   30-day LIBOR plus 1.40% 
Agency warehouse facility #2     650,000     274,181   30-day LIBOR plus 1.40% 
Agency warehouse facility #3     680,000     320,801   30-day LIBOR plus 1.35% 
Agency warehouse facility #4     350,000     186,869   30-day LIBOR plus 1.40% 
Agency warehouse facility #5   30,000   14,551  30-day LIBOR plus 1.80% 
Fannie Mae repurchase agreement, 
uncommitted line and open maturity   1,500,000   943,505  30-day LIBOR plus 1.15% 

Total agency warehouse facilities  $  3,635,000  $  1,848,994   
       

Interim warehouse facility #1  $  85,000  $  36,916  30-day LIBOR plus 1.90% 
Interim warehouse facility #2    200,000    70,196  30-day LIBOR plus 2.00% 
Interim warehouse facility #3    75,000    36,005  30-day LIBOR plus 2.00% to 2.50%

Total interim warehouse facilities  $  360,000  $  143,117   
Total warehouse facilities  $  3,995,000  $  1,992,111   

 
Agency Warehouse Facilities 
 

To provide financing to borrowers under the Agencies’ programs, we have six warehouse credit facilities that we 
use to fund substantially all of our loan originations. As of December 31, 2016, we had five committed warehouse lines of 
credit in the aggregate amount of $2.1 billion with certain national banks and a $1.5 billion uncommitted facility with 
Fannie Mae (collectively, the “Agency Warehouse Facilities”).  Consistent with industry practice, four of these facilities 
are revolving commitments we expect to renew annually, one is a revolving commitment we expect to renew every 18 
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months, and the other facility is provided on an uncommitted basis without a specific maturity date. Our ability to originate 
mortgage loans depends upon our ability to secure and maintain these types of short-term financing on acceptable terms. 

 
Agency Warehouse Facility #1: 

We have a Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement with a national bank for a $425.0 million committed ware-
house line that is scheduled to mature on October 30, 2017. The Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement provides us 
with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, and FHA loans. Advances are made at 100% of the loan balance 
and borrowings under this line bear interest at the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 140 basis points.  
The Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants that are binding on 
our operating subsidiary, Walker and Dunlop, LLC, (which are in some cases subject to exceptions), including, but not 
limited to, restrictions on its ability to assume, guarantee, or become contingently liable for the obligation of another 
person, to undertake certain fundamental changes such as reorganizations, mergers, amendments to our certificate of for-
mation or operating agreement, liquidations, dissolutions or dispositions or acquisitions of assets or businesses, to cease 
to be directly or indirectly wholly owned by us, to pay any subordinated debt in advance of its stated maturity or to take 
any action that would cause Walker & Dunlop, LLC to lose all or any part of its status as an eligible lender, seller, servicer 
or issuer or any license or approval required for it to engage in the business of originating, acquiring, or servicing mortgage 
loans. 

  
In addition, the Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement requires compliance with certain financial covenants, 

which are measured for the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as follows: 
  

• tangible net worth of the Company of not less than (i) $200.0 million plus (ii) 75% of the net proceeds of any 
equity issuances by the Company or any of its subsidiaries after the closing date, 

• compliance with the applicable net worth and liquidity requirements of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, 
FHA, and HUD, 

• liquid assets of the Company of not less than $15.0 million, 
• maintenance of aggregate unpaid principal amount of all mortgage loans comprising the Company’s consolidated 

servicing portfolio of not less than $20.0 billion or (ii) all Fannie Mae DUS mortgage loans comprising the Com-
pany’s consolidated servicing portfolio of not less than $10.0 billion, exclusive in both cases of mortgage loans 
which are 60 or more days past due or are otherwise in default or have been transferred to Fannie Mae for reso-
lution, 

• aggregate unpaid principal amount of Fannie Mae DUS mortgage loans within the Company’s consolidated ser-
vicing portfolio which are 60 or more days past due or otherwise in default not to exceed 3.5% of the aggregate 
unpaid principal balance of all Fannie Mae DUS mortgage loans within the Company’s consolidated servicing 
portfolio, and 

• maximum indebtedness (excluding warehouse lines) to tangible net worth of 2.25 to 1.0. 
 

The Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement contains customary events of default, which are in some cases 
subject to certain exceptions, thresholds, notice requirements, and grace periods. 

 
During the fourth quarter of 2016, we executed the 12th amendment to the credit and security agreement that ex-

tended the maturity date to October 30, 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 
 
Agency Warehouse Facility #2: 
 
We have a Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement with a syndicate of national banks for a $650.0 million 

committed warehouse line that is scheduled to mature on June 21, 2017. The committed warehouse facility provides us 
with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, and FHA loans. Advances are made at 100% of the loan balance, 
and borrowings under this line bear interest at LIBOR plus 140 basis points. During the second quarter of 2016, we exe-
cuted the eighth amendment to the amended and restated credit and security agreement that extended the maturity date to 
June 21, 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 
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The negative and financial covenants of the amended and restated warehouse agreement conform to those of the 

warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio cove-
nant, which is not included in the warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #2. 

 
Agency Warehouse Facility #3: 
 
We have a $680.0 million committed warehouse credit and security agreement with a national bank that is scheduled 

to mature on April 30, 2017. The total commitment amount of $680.0 million as of December 31, 2016 consists of a base 
committed amount of $280.0 million and a temporary increase of $400.0 million, as more fully described below. The 
committed warehouse facility provides us with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, and FHA loans. Ad-
vances are made at 100% of the loan balance, and the borrowings under the warehouse agreement bear interest at a rate of 
LIBOR plus 135 basis points. During the second quarter of 2016, we executed the fourth amendment to the credit and 
security agreement that increased the committed amount to $280.0 million, decreased the interest rate to 30-day LIBOR 
plus 135 basis points, and extended the maturity date to April 30, 2017. Additionally, during the second and third quarters 
of 2016, we executed the fifth and sixth amendments to the credit and security agreement that provide temporary increases 
totaling $400.0 million to the maximum borrowing capacity that expire in January 2017, at which time the maximum 
borrowing capacity will return to $280.0 million. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 
2016. 

 
The negative and financial covenants of the warehouse agreement conform to those of the warehouse agreement for 

Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above. 

Agency Warehouse Facility #4: 
 
We have a $350.0 million committed warehouse credit and security agreement with a national bank that is scheduled 

to mature on October 27, 2017. The committed warehouse facility provides us with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie 
Mac, HUD, and FHA loans. The borrowings under the warehouse agreement bear interest at a rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 
140 basis points. During the fourth quarter of 2016, we executed the second amendment to the warehouse loan and security 
agreement that provided a $100.0 million permanent increase to the maximum borrowing capacity and extended the ma-
turity date of the facility to October 27, 2017.  No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 

 
The negative and financial covenants of the warehouse agreement conform to those of the warehouse agreement for 

Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio covenant, which is not included 
in the warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #4. 

Agency Warehouse Facility #5:  
   
During the third quarter of 2016, we executed a warehousing credit and security agreement to establish Agency 

Warehouse Facility #5. The committed warehouse facility provides us with the ability to fund defaulted HUD and FHA 
loans. The warehouse agreement provides for a maximum borrowing amount of $30.0 million and is scheduled to mature 
in January 2018. The borrowings under the warehouse agreement bear interest at a rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 180 basis 
points. No material modifications were made to the agreement in 2016. 

 
The negative and financial covenants of the warehouse agreement conform to those of the warehouse agreement for 

Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio covenant, which is not included 
in the warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #5. 

Uncommitted Agency Warehouse Facility: 
 

We have a $1.5 billion uncommitted facility with Fannie Mae under its ASAP funding program. After approval of 
certain loan documents, Fannie Mae will fund loans after closing and the advances are used to repay the primary warehouse 
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line. Fannie Mae will advance 99% of the loan balance, and borrowings under this program bear interest at LIBOR plus 
115 basis points, with a minimum LIBOR rate of 35 basis points. There is no expiration date for this facility. During 2016, 
Fannie Mae increased the maximum borrowing capacity from $450.0 million to $1.5 billion. The uncommitted facility has 
no specific negative or financial covenants. 

 
Interim Warehouse Facilities 
 

To assist in funding loans held for investment under the Interim Program, we have three warehouse facilities with 
certain national banks in the aggregate amount of $0.4 billion as of December 31, 2016 (“Interim Warehouse Facilities”).  
Consistent with industry practice, one of these facilities is a revolving commitment we expect to renew annually and two 
are revolving commitments we expect to renew every two years. Our ability to originate loans held for investment depends 
upon our ability to secure and maintain these types of short-term financings on acceptable terms. 

 
Interim Warehouse Facility #1: 
 
We have an $85.0 million committed warehouse line agreement that is scheduled to mature on April 30, 2017. The 

facility provides us with the ability to fund first mortgage loans on multifamily real estate properties for periods of up to 
three years, using available cash in combination with advances under the facility. Borrowings under the facility are full 
recourse to the Company. Repayments under the credit agreement are interest-only, with principal repayments made upon 
the earlier of the refinancing of an underlying mortgage or the maturity of an advance under the credit agreement. During 
the second quarter of 2016, we executed the sixth amendment to the credit and security agreement that extended the 
maturity date to April 30, 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 

 
The facility agreement requires the Company’s compliance with the same financial covenants as Agency Warehouse 

Facility #1, described above, and also includes the following additional financial covenant: 

• minimum rolling four-quarter EBITDA, as defined, to total debt service ratio of 2.00 to 1.0 
 
Interim Warehouse Facility #2: 
 
We have a $200.0 million committed warehouse line agreement that is scheduled to mature on December 13, 2017.  

The agreement provides us with the ability to fund first mortgage loans on multifamily real estate properties for periods of 
up to three years, using available cash in combination with advances under the facility. Borrowings under the facility are 
full recourse to the Company. All borrowings originally bear interest at LIBOR plus 200 basis points.  The lender retains 
a first priority security interest in all mortgages funded by such advances on a cross-collateralized basis.  Repayments 
under the credit agreement are interest-only, with principal repayments made upon the earlier of the refinancing of an 
underlying mortgage or the maturity of an advance under the credit agreement. No material modifications were made to 
the agreement during 2016. 

 
The credit agreement, as amended and restated, requires the borrower and the Company to abide by the same finan-

cial covenants as Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio covenant, which 
is not included in the warehouse agreement for Interim Warehouse Facility #2. Additionally, Interim Warehouse Facility 
#2 has the following additional financial covenants: 

 
• rolling four-quarter EBITDA, as defined, of not less than $35 million and 
• debt service coverage ratio, as defined, of not less than 2.75 to 1.0 
 
Interim Warehouse Facility #3: 
 
We have a $75.0 million repurchase agreement with a national bank that is scheduled to mature on May 19, 2017. 

The agreement provides us with the ability to fund first mortgage loans on multifamily real estate properties for periods of 
up to three years, using available cash in combination with advances under the facility. Borrowings under the facility are 
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full recourse to the Company. The borrowings under the agreement bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 2.00% to 2.50% 
(“the spread”). The spread varies according to the type of asset the borrowing finances. Repayments under the credit 
agreement are interest-only, with principal repayments made upon the earlier of the refinancing of an underlying mortgage 
or the maturity of an advance under the credit agreement. During the second quarter of 2016, we exercised our option to 
extend the maturity date of the repurchase agreement to May 19, 2017. Additionally, we executed the second amendment 
to the repurchase agreement that provides us with an additional unilateral option to extend the maturity date one year. As 
a result of the amendment, we now have three remaining one-year options that, if exercised, extend the maturity date 
through May 19, 2020. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 

 
The Repurchase Agreement requires the borrower and the Company to abide by the following financial covenants: 
 
• tangible net worth of the Company of not less than (i) $200.0 million plus (ii) 75% of the net proceeds of any 

equity issuances by the Company or any of its subsidiaries after the closing date, 
• liquid assets of the Company of not less than $15.0 million, 
• leverage ratio, as defined, of not more than 3.0 to 1.0, and 
• debt service coverage ratio, as defined, of not less than 2.75 to 1.0. 
 
The agreements above contain cross-default provisions, such that if a default occurs under any of our debt agree-

ments, generally the lenders under our other debt agreements could also declare a default. As of December 31, 2016, we 
were in compliance with all of our warehouse line covenants. 

 
We believe that the combination of our capital and warehouse facilities is adequate to meet our loan origination 

needs. 
 
Debt Obligations 
 
We have a senior secured term loan credit agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”). The Term Loan Agreement 

provides for a $175.0 million term loan that was issued at a discount of 1.0% (the “Term Loan”). At any time, we may 
also elect to request the establishment of one or more incremental term loan commitments to make up to three additional 
term loans (any such additional term loan, an “Incremental Term Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount for all such 
Incremental Term Loans not to exceed $60.0 million.  

 
The Term Loan requires mandatory prepayments in certain circumstances pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan 

Agreement. In April of 2015, we made a mandatory prepayment of $3.6 million. In connection with the mandatory pre-
payment, our quarterly principal installments were reduced to $0.3 million from $0.4 million, beginning with the June 30, 
2015 principal payment. The final principal installment of the Term Loan is required to be paid in full on December 20, 
2020 (or, if earlier, the date of acceleration of the Term Loan pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Agreement) and will 
be in an amount equal to the aggregate outstanding principal of the Term Loan on such date (together with all accrued 
interest thereon).  

 
At our election, the Term Loan will bear interest at either (i) the “Base Rate” plus an applicable margin or (ii) the 

London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR Rate”) plus an applicable margin, subject to adjustment if an event of default 
under the Term Loan Agreement has occurred and is continuing with a minimum LIBOR Rate of 1.0%. The “Base Rate” 
means the highest of (a) the administrative agent’s “prime rate,” (b) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (c) LIBOR for 
an interest period of one month plus 1%. In each case, the applicable margin is determined by our Consolidated Corporate 
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement). If such Consolidated Corporate Leverage Ratio is greater than 
2.50 to 1.00, the applicable margin will be 4.50% for LIBOR Rate loans and 3.50% for Base Rate loans, and if such 
Consolidated Corporate Leverage Ratio is less than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00, the applicable margin will be 4.25% for 
LIBOR Rate loans and 3.25% for Base Rate loans. The calculated Consolidated Corporate Leverage Ratio dropped to 
below 2.50 in 2014. Consequently, the applicable margin is 4.25% for LIBOR Rate loans and 3.25% for Base Rate loans 
as of December 31, 2016. 
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Our obligations under the Term Loan Agreement are guaranteed by Walker & Dunlop Multifamily, Inc., Walker & 
Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop Capital, LLC, and W&D BE, Inc., each of which is a direct or indirect wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company (together with the Company, the “Loan Parties”), pursuant to a Guarantee and Collateral 
Agreement entered into on December 20, 2013 among the Loan Parties and the Agent.  

 
The Term Loan Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants that are binding on the Loan Parties, 

including, but not limited to, restrictions (subject to specified exceptions and qualifications) on the ability of the Loan 
Parties to incur indebtedness, to create liens on their property, to make investments, to merge, consolidate or enter into 
any similar combination, or enter into any asset disposition of all or substantially all assets, or liquidate, wind-up or dis-
solve, to make asset dispositions, to declare or pay dividends or make related distributions, to enter into certain transactions 
with affiliates, to enter into any negative pledges or other restrictive agreements, to engage in any business other than the 
business of the Loan Parties as of the date of the Term Loan Agreement and business activities reasonably related or 
ancillary thereto, to amend certain material contracts or to enter into any sale leaseback arrangements.  

 
In addition, the Term Loan Agreement requires us to abide by certain financial covenants calculated for us and our 

subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as follows:  
 

• As of the last day of any fiscal quarter ending during the periods specified below, permit the Consolidated 
Corporate Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement) to be greater than the corresponding ratio 
set forth below:   
      Maximum Ratio   
Closing Date through December 31, 2014        5.00 to 1.0       
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015    4.75 to 1.0   
January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016    4.50 to 1.0   
January 1, 2017 and thereafter    4.25 to 1.0   

 
• As of the last day of any fiscal quarter permit the Consolidated Corporate Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined 

in the Term Loan Agreement) to be less than 2.75 to 1.00. 
• As of the last day of any fiscal quarter permit the Asset Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agree-

ment) to be less than 1.50 to 1.00.   
 

The Term Loan Agreement contains customary events of default (which are in some cases subject to certain excep-
tions, thresholds, notice requirements and grace periods), including, but not limited to, non-payment of principal or interest 
or other amounts, misrepresentations, failure to perform or observe covenants, cross-defaults with certain other indebted-
ness or material agreements, certain change in control events, voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, failure of 
the Term Loan Agreement or other loan documents to be valid and binding, and certain ERISA events and judgments. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, the outstanding principal balance of the note payable was $167.3 million. 
 
The note payable and the warehouse facilities are senior obligations of the Company. As of December 31, 2016, we 

were in compliance with all covenants related to the Term Loan Agreement. 
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Credit Quality and Allowance for Risk-Sharing Obligations 
 
The following table sets forth certain information useful in evaluating our credit performance. 
 

   For the year ended December 31,   
(dollars in thousands)      2016      2015      2014   
Key Credit Metrics           
Risk-sharing servicing portfolio:           
   Fannie Mae Full Risk  $  20,669,404 $  17,180,577 $  15,116,490 

Fannie Mae Modified Risk     6,396,812    4,970,569    4,747,015 
Freddie Mac Modified Risk     53,368    53,506    53,635 
GNMA - HUD Full Risk     4,431    4,585    4,728 

Total risk-sharing servicing portfolio  $  27,124,015 $  22,209,237 $  19,921,868 
        
Non risk-sharing servicing portfolio:        

Fannie Mae No Risk  $  661,948 $  763,942 $  657,920 
Freddie Mac No Risk     20,635,042    17,756,501    12,863,070 
GNMA - HUD No Risk     9,151,363    5,653,224    5,824,253 
Brokered     5,286,473    3,595,990    4,539,461 

Total non risk-sharing servicing portfolio  $  35,734,826 $  27,769,657 $  23,884,704 
        
Total loans serviced for others  $  62,858,841 $  49,978,894 $  43,806,572 
        
Interim loans (full risk) servicing portfolio     222,313    233,370    225,318 
        
Total servicing portfolio unpaid principal balance  $  63,081,154 $  50,212,264 $  44,031,890 
        
At risk servicing portfolio (1)  $  24,072,347 $  19,544,422 $  17,393,870 
Maximum exposure to at risk portfolio (2)     4,921,802    4,062,971    4,072,911 
60+ day delinquencies, within at risk portfolio     —    —    16,610 
At risk loan balances associated with allowance for risk-sharing obligations  $  — $  16,884 $  25,609 
     
60+ day delinquencies as a percentage of the at risk portfolio   0.00 %  0.00 %   0.10 %
Allowance for risk-sharing as a percentage of the at risk portfolio  0.02 %   0.03 %   0.02 %
Allowance for risk-sharing as a percentage of the specifically identified at risk 

balances  N/A   33.08 %   15.24 %
Allowance for risk-sharing as a percentage of maximum exposure  0.07 %   0.14 %   0.10 %
Allowance for risk-sharing and guaranty obligation as a percentage of maximum 

exposure  0.73 %   0.82 %   0.71 %
 

(1) At risk servicing portfolio is defined as the balance of Fannie Mae DUS loans subject to the risk-sharing formula described below, 
as well as a small number of Freddie Mac and GNMA - HUD loans on which we share in the risk of loss. Use of the at risk portfolio 
provides for comparability of the full risk-sharing and modified risk-sharing loans because the provision and allowance for risk-
sharing obligations are based on the at risk balances of the associated loans. Accordingly, we have presented the key statistics as a 
percentage of the at risk portfolio.  
 
For example, a $15 million loan with 50% risk-sharing has the same potential risk exposure as a $7.5 million loan with full DUS 
risk sharing. Accordingly, if the $15 million loan with 50% risk-sharing were to default, we would view the overall loss as a 
percentage of the at risk balance, or $7.5 million, to ensure comparability between all risk-sharing obligations. To date, substantially 
all of the risk-sharing obligations that we have settled have been from full risk-sharing loans.  
 

(2) Represents the maximum loss we would incur under our risk-sharing obligations if all of the loans we service, for which we retain 
some risk of loss, were to default and all of the collateral underlying these loans was determined to be without value at the time of 
settlement. The maximum exposure is not representative of the actual loss we would incur. 
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Fannie Mae DUS risk-sharing obligations are based on a tiered formula and represent substantially all of our risk-

sharing activities. The risk-sharing tiers and amount of the risk-sharing obligations we absorb under full risk-sharing are 
provided below. Except as described in the following paragraph, the maximum amount of risk-sharing obligations we 
absorb at the time of default is 20% of the origination unpaid principal balance (“UPB”) of the loan. 

    

Risk-Sharing Losses      Percentage Absorbed by Us  
First 5% of UPB at the time of loss settlement  100%  
Next 20% of UPB at the time of loss settlement  25%  
Losses above 25% of UPB at the time of loss settlement  10%  
Maximum loss   20% of origination UPB  

 
Fannie Mae can double or triple our risk-sharing obligation if the loan does not meet specific underwriting criteria 

or if a loan defaults within 12 months of its sale to Fannie Mae. We may request modified risk-sharing at the time of 
origination, which reduces our potential risk-sharing obligation from the levels described above. 

 
We use several techniques to manage our risk exposure under the Fannie Mae DUS risk-sharing program. These 

techniques include maintaining a strong underwriting and approval process, evaluating and modifying our underwriting 
criteria given the underlying multifamily housing market fundamentals, limiting our geographic market and borrower 
exposures, and electing the modified risk-sharing option under the Fannie Mae DUS program. 

 
We may request modified risk-sharing based on such factors as the size of the loan, market conditions and loan 

pricing. Our current credit management policy is to cap the loan balance subject to full risk-sharing at $60.0 million. 
Accordingly, we currently elect to use modified risk-sharing for loans of more than $60.0 million in order to limit our 
maximum loss on any loan to $12.0 million (such exposure would occur in the event that the underlying collateral is 
determined to be completely without value at the time of loss). However, we occasionally elect to originate a loan with 
full risk sharing even when the loan balance is greater than $60.0 million if we believe the loan characteristics support 
such an approach. 

 
A provision for risk-sharing obligations is recorded, and the allowance for risk-sharing obligations is increased, 

when it is probable that we have incurred risk-sharing obligations. We regularly monitor the credit quality of all loans for 
which we have a risk-sharing obligation. Loans with indicators of underperforming credit are placed on a watch list, as-
signed a numerical risk rating based on our assessment of the relative credit weakness, and subjected to additional evalu-
ation or loss mitigation. Indicators of underperforming credit include poor financial performance, poor physical condition, 
and delinquency. 

 
The amount of the provision considers our assessment of the likelihood of payment by the borrower, the value of 

the underlying collateral, and the level of risk-sharing. Historically, the loss recognition occurs at or before the loan be-
coming 60 days delinquent. Our estimates of value are determined considering broker opinions and other sources of market 
value information relevant to underlying property and collateral. Risk-sharing obligations are written off against the al-
lowance at final settlement with Fannie Mae. 

 
As of both December 31, 2016 and 2015, none of our at risk balances was more than 60 days delinquent. For the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, our provisions for risk-sharing obligations were a net benefit of $0.1 
million, a provision of $1.7 million, and a provision of $1.8 million, respectively. The net benefit for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2016 is the result of a $0.8 million aggregate recovery related to the losses on two loans previously settled with 
Fannie Mae. 

 
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, our allowance for risk-sharing obligations was $3.6 million and $5.6 million, 

respectively, or two basis points and three basis points of the at risk balance, respectively. Our risk-sharing obligation with 
Fannie Mae requires, in the event of delinquency or default, that we advance principal and interest payments to Fannie 
Mae on behalf of the borrower for a period of four months. Advances made by us are used to reduce the proceeds required 



61 

to settle any ultimate loss incurred. As of December 31, 2016, we had advanced $0 of principal and interest payments on 
the loans associated with our $3.6 million allowance. As of December 31, 2015, we had advanced $0.1 million of principal 
and interest payments on the loans associated with our $5.6 million allowance at that time. 

 
For the ten-year period from January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2016, we recognized net write-offs of risk-

sharing obligations of $24.4 million, or an average of two basis points annually of the average at risk Fannie Mae portfolio 
balance. 

 
We have never been required to repurchase a loan. 
 

Off-Balance Sheet Risk 
 

Other than the risk-sharing obligations under the Fannie Mae DUS Program disclosed previously in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 
Contractual Obligations 
 

We have contractual obligations to make future payments on debt and lease agreements. Additionally, in the normal 
course of business, we enter into contractual arrangements whereby we commit to future purchases of products or services 
from unaffiliated parties. We believe our recurring cash flows from operations and proceeds from loan sales and loan 
payoffs will provide sufficient cash flows to cover the scheduled payments over the near term related to our contractual 
obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2016. 

 
Contractual payments due under warehouse facility obligations, long-term debt, and other obligations at Decem-

ber 31, 2016 are as follows: 
 

        Due after 1  Due after 3     
     Due in 1 Year  Year through 3 Years through Due after 5  
(in thousands)     Total     or Less     Years     5 Years     Years   
Long-term debt (1)  $  201,791  $  9,860  $  19,564  $  172,367  $  —  
Warehouse facilities (2)    2,001,800    1,881,776    120,024    —    —  
Operating leases    29,423    5,328    9,790    7,901    6,404  
Purchase obligations    4,361    2,348    1,993    20    —  
Preferred equity investments (3)    17,984    17,984    —    —    —  
Total  $ 2,255,359  $  1,917,296  $  151,371  $  180,288  $  6,404  

 
(1) Interest for long-term debt is based on a variable rate. Such interest is included here and based on the effective interest 

rate for long-term debt as of December 31, 2016. 
(2) To be repaid from proceeds from loan sales for facilities relating to loans held for sale and from proceeds from payoffs 

for facilities relating to loans held for investment under the Interim Program. Includes interest at the effective interest 
rate for warehouse borrowings as of December 31, 2016. 

(3) The preferred equity investments do not have a specific commitment date. We anticipate that we will fund the remain-
ing committed amount over the next 12 months. 

 
New/Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

 
NOTE 2 of the financial statements in Item 15 of Part IV in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains a table that 

presents the accounting pronouncements that the Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued and that have the po-
tential to impact the Company but have not yet been adopted by the Company and a listing that presents the accounting 
standards adopted by the Company during 2016. Although we do not believe any of the accounting pronouncements listed 
in that table will have a significant impact on our business activities or compliance with our debt covenants, we are still in 
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the process of determining the impact some of the new pronouncements may have on our financial results and operating 
activities. 

 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
For loans held for sale to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and HUD, we are not currently exposed to unhedged interest 

rate risk during the loan commitment, closing, and delivery processes. The sale or placement of each loan to an investor is 
negotiated prior to closing on the loan with the borrower, and the sale or placement is typically effectuated within 60 days 
of closing. The coupon rate for the loan is set after we have established the interest rate with the investor. 

 
Some of our assets and liabilities are subject to changes in interest rates. Earnings from escrows are generally based 

on LIBOR. 30-day LIBOR as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was 77 basis points and 43 basis points, respectively. A 
100-basis point increase in the 30-day LIBOR would increase our annual earnings by approximately $15.7 million based 
on our escrow balance as of December 31, 2016 compared to $10.6 million based on our escrow balance as of Decem-
ber 31, 2015. A decrease in 30-day LIBOR to zero would decrease our annual earnings by approximately $11.3 million 
based on the escrow balance as of December 31, 2016 compared to $4.5 million based on our escrow balance as of De-
cember 31, 2015. 

 
The borrowing cost of our warehouse facilities used to fund loans held for sale and loans held for investment is 

based on LIBOR. The interest income on our loans held for investment is based on LIBOR. The LIBOR reset date for 
loans held for investment is the same date as the LIBOR reset date for the corresponding warehouse facility. A 100-basis 
point increase in 30-day LIBOR would decrease our annual net warehouse interest income by approximately $10.4 million 
based on our outstanding warehouse balance as of December 31, 2016 compared to $9.1 million based on our outstanding 
warehouse balance as of December 31, 2015. A decrease in 30-day LIBOR to zero would increase our annual earnings by 
approximately $8.0 million based on our outstanding warehouse balance as of December 31, 2016 compared to $3.9 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2015. 

 
All of our corporate debt is based on 30-day LIBOR. A 100-basis point increase in 30-day LIBOR would decrease 

our annual earnings by approximately $1.3 million based on our outstanding corporate debt as of December 31, 2016 
compared to $0.7 million based on our outstanding corporate debt as of December 31, 2015. A decrease in 30-day LIBOR 
to zero would not have an impact on our 2016 or 2015 annual earnings as our corporate debt outstanding as of Decem-
ber 31, 2016 and 2015 had a LIBOR floor of 100 basis points.  

 
Market Value Risk 
 
The fair value of our MSRs is subject to market-value risk. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in the weighted 

average discount rate would decrease or increase, respectively, the fair value of our MSRs by approximately $21.2 million 
as of December 31, 2016 compared to $16.0 million as of December 31, 2015. Our Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac servicing 
engagements provide for make-whole payments in the event of a voluntary prepayment prior to the expiration of the 
prepayment protection period. Our servicing contracts with institutional investors and HUD do not require payment of a 
make-whole amount. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 87% of the servicing fees are protected from the risk of prepay-
ment through make-whole requirements; given this significant level of prepayment protection, we do not hedge our ser-
vicing portfolio for prepayment risk. 

 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 
 

The consolidated financial statements of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and subsidiaries and the notes related to the fore-
going financial statements, together with the independent registered public accounting firm’s reports thereon, listed in Item 
15, are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effective-
ness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934.  

 
Based on that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that the design 

and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report were effective 
to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities and Exchange 
Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, 
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure.  

 
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, 
as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Under the supervision and with 
the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Con-
trol — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013), our management con-
cluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2016. Our internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2016 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting 
firm, as stated in their audit report which is included herein. 

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended Decem-

ber 31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting. 

 
Item 9B. Other Information. 
 

None 
 

PART III 
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance. 
 

The information required by this item regarding directors, executive officers, corporate governance and our code of 
ethics is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held in 2017 (the “Proxy Statement”) under the captions “BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPO-
RATE GOVERNANCE” and “EXECUTIVE OFFICERS – Executive Officer Biographies.” The information required by 
this item regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is hereby incor-
porated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy Statement under the caption “VOTING SECURITIES OF 
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CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compli-
ance.” The information required by this Item 10 with respect to the availability of our code of ethics is provided in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. See “Available Information.” 

 
Item 11. Executive Compensation. 
 

The information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy 
Statement under the captions “COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS,” “COMPENSATION OF DIREC-
TORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS,” “COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – Compensation Com-
mittee Report” and “COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS – Compensation Committee 
Interlocks and Insider Participation.” 

 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 
 

The information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and securities author-
ized for issuance under our employee stock-based compensation plans required by this item is hereby incorporated by 
reference to the material appearing in the Proxy Statement under the captions “VOTING SECURITIES OF CERTAIN 
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT” and “COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OF-
FICERS – Equity Compensation Plan Information.” 

 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 
 

Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to material appearing in the Proxy Statement under the captions “CER-
TAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS” and “BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE – Corporate Governance Information – Director Independence.” 

 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 
 

The information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy 
Statement under the caption “AUDIT RELATED MATTERS.” 

 
PART IV 

 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

The following documents are filed as part of this report: 

(a) Financial Statements 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Financial Statements 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
Consolidated Statements of Income 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

(b)   Exhibits 
 
2.1  Contribution Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2010, by and among Mallory Walker, Howard W. Smith,

William M. Walker, Taylor Walker, Richard C. Warner, Donna Mighty, Michael Yavinsky, Edward B. Hermes,
Deborah A. Wilson and Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Amendment No. 4
to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 1, 2010) 
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2.2  Contribution Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2010, by and between Column Guaranteed LLC and
Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Amendment No. 4 to the Company's Reg-
istration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 1, 2010) 

2.3  Amendment No. 1 to Contribution Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2010, by and between Column Guar-
anteed LLC and Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to Amendment No. 6 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 13, 2010) 

2.4  Purchase Agreement, dated June 7, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., Walker & Dunlop, LLC, CW
Financial Services LLC and CWCapital LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Cur-
rent Report on Form 8-K/A filed on June 15, 2012) 

3.1  Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to Amendment No. 4 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on
December 1, 2010) 

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2017) 

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on Sep-
tember 30, 2010) 

4.2  Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Mallory
Walker, Taylor Walker, William M. Walker, Howard W. Smith, III, Richard C. Warner, Donna Mighty, Mi-
chael Yavinsky, Ted Hermes, Deborah A. Wilson and Column Guaranteed LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 27, 2010) 

4.3  Stockholders Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among William M. Walker, Mallory Walker, Col-
umn Guaranteed LLC and Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 27, 2010) 

4.4  Piggy Back Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 7, 2012, by and among Column Guaranteed, LLC,
William M. Walker, Mallory Walker, Howard W. Smith, III, Deborah A. Wilson, Richard C. Warner, CW
Financial Services LLC and Walker & Dunlop, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2012) 

4.5  Voting Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., Walker & Dunlop, LLC, 
Mallory Walker, William M. Walker, Richard Warner, Deborah Wilson, Richard M. Lucas, Howard W. 
Smith, III and CW Financial Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Annex C of the Company’s proxy 
statement filed on July 26, 2012) 

4.6  Voting Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., Walker & Dunlop, LLC, 
Column Guaranteed, LLC and CW Financial Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Annex D of the 
Company’s proxy statement filed on July 26, 2012) 

10.1  Formation Agreement, dated January 30, 2009, by and among Green Park Financial Limited Partnership,
Walker & Dunlop, Inc., Column Guaranteed LLC and Walker & Dunlop, LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on August 4,
2010) 

10.2†  Employment Agreement, dated October 27, 2010, between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and William M. Walker
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 4 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 1, 2010) 

10.3†  Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and William M. Walker, effective
as of December 14, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.4†  Employment Agreement, dated October 27, 2010, between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Howard W. Smith, III
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 4 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 1, 2010) 

10.5†  Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Howard W. Smith, III, effec-
tive as of December 14, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.6†  Employment Agreement, dated October 27, 2010, between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Richard Warner (incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 4 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-
1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 1, 2010) 



66 

10.7†  Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Richard Warner, effective as
of December 14, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.8†  Employment Agreement, dated October 27, 2010, between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Richard M. Lucas (in-
corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 4 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-168535) filed on December 1, 2010) 

10.9†  Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Richard M. Lucas, effective
as of December 14, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.10†  Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2013 between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Stephen P. Theobald (in-
corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 4, 2013) 

10.11†  2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2012) 

10.12†  Management Deferred Stock Unit Purchase Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015) 

10.13†  Management Deferred Stock Unit Purchase Matching Program, as amended (incorporated by reference to Ex-
hibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015) 

10.14†  Form of Restricted Common Stock Award Agreement (Employee) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012) 

10.15†  Amendment to Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Employee) (2010 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2015) 

10.16†  Form of Restricted Common Stock Award Agreement (Director) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012) 

10.17†  Amendment to Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Director) (2010 Equity Incentive Plan) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2015) 

10.18†  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Com-
pany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012) 

10.19†  Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Com-
pany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012) 

10.20†  Form of Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement (Matching Program) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.21†  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Matching Program) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.22†  Form of Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement (Purchase Plan, as amended) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015)

10.23†  Form of Amendment to Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement (Purchase Plan) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015)

10.24†  Walker & Dunlop, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 

10.25†*  Amendment No. 1 to Walker & Dunlop, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan 
10.26†  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 
10.27†  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Reg-

istration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 
10.28†  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 
10.29†  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 
10.30†  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Matching Program) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to

the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 
10.31†  Form of Deferred Stock Unit Agreement (Matching Program) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the

Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-204722) filed June 4, 2015) 



67 

10.32  Non-Executive Director Compensation Rates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015) 

10.33†  Walker & Dunlop, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2016) 

10.34†  Walker & Dunlop, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors Election Form (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2016) 

10.35†  Walker & Dunlop, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Agreement (Directors) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2016) 

10.36†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and William M.
Walker (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010) 

10.37†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Howard W.
Smith, III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010) 

10.38†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and John Rice 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2010) 

10.39†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Richard M.
Lucas (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010) 

10.40†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Alan J. Bow-
ers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010) 

10.41†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Cynthia A.
Hallenbeck (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010) 

10.42†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Dana L.
Schmaltz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010) 

10.43†  Indemnification Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Richard C.
Warner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010) 

10.44†  Indemnification Agreement, dated March 3, 2013, between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Stephen P. Theobald
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4,
2013) 

10.45†  Indemnification Agreement, dated November 2, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Michael D.
Malone (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2012) 

10.46†  Performance Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2013) 

10.47  Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2013, by and among
Walker & Dunlop, LLC, as borrower, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., as guarantor, the lenders party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for the lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2013) 

10.48  First Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of Decem-
ber 20, 2013, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 26, 2013) 
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10.49  Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of June
17, 2014, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 19, 2014) 

10.50  Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of August
26, 2014, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 28, 2014) 

10.51  Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of June
17, 2015, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 19, 2015) 

10.52  Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October
26, 2015, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2015) 

10.53  Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of Decem-
ber 24, 2015, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2015) 

10.54  Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of Feb-
ruary 12, 2016, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 18, 2016) 

10.55  Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of June
16, 2016, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 20, 2016) 

10.56  Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of Decem-
ber 12, 2016, by and among Walker & Dunlop, LLC, Walker & Dunlop, Inc., the lenders party thereto and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 14, 2016) 

10.57  Amended and Restated Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2013, by Walker & Dunlop,
Inc. in favor of PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent for the lenders (incorporated by ref-
erence to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2013) 

10.58  Closing Side Letter, dated as of September 4, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., CW Financial Ser-
vices LLC and CWCapital LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2012) 

10.59  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 4, 2012, by and between Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and
CW Financial Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2012) 

10.60  Closing Agreement, dated as of September 4, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., CW Financial Ser-
vices LLC and CWCapital LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2012) 

10.61  Transfer and Joinder Agreement, dated as of September 4, 2012, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., CW
Financial Services LLC and Galaxy Acquisition LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Com-
pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2012) 

10.62  Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2013, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., as borrower, the 
lenders referred to therein, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and Wells Fargo 
Securities, LLC, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 26, 2013) 
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10.63  First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2015, by and among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., as 
borrower, certain subsidiary guarantors, the lenders party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associa-
tion, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on March 12, 2015) 

10.64  Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2013, among Walker & Dunlop, Inc., as bor-
rower, certain subsidiaries of Walker & Dunlop, Inc., as subsidiary guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, Na-
tional Association, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Cur-
rent Report on Form 8-K filed on December 26, 2013) 

21*  List of Subsidiaries of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 
23*  Consent of KPMG LLP (Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm) 
31.1*  Certification of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.'s Chief Executive Offer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) 
31.2*  Certification of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.'s Chief Financial Offer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) 
32**  Certification of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.'s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18

U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
101.1*  XBRL Instance Document 
101.2*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 
101.3*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 
101.4*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 
101.5*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 
101.6*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

 

†: Denotes a management contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement. 
*: Filed herewith. 
**:  Furnished herewith. 
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. 
 
Not applicable. 
 
  



70 

SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

 

Walker & Dunlop, Inc. 

  

By:   /s/ William M. Walker 

 William M. Walker 

 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  

  

Date: February 24, 2017 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 
Signature Title  Date 

     

/s/ William M. Walker  Chairman  and Chief Executive  February 24, 2017 
William M. Walker Officer (Principal Executive Officer)   

     

/s/ Alan J. Bowers  Director  February 24, 2017 
Alan J. Bowers    

     
/s/ Cynthia A. Hallenbeck Director  February 24, 2017 
Cynthia A. Hallenbeck    

     
/s/ Michael D. Malone Director  February 24, 2017 
Michael D. Malone    

     

/s/ John Rice Director  February 24, 2017 
John Rice    

     

/s/ Dana L. Schmaltz Director  February 24, 2017 
Dana L. Schmaltz     

     

/s/ Howard W. Smith, III President and Director  February 24, 2017 
Howard W. Smith, III    
     
/s/ Stephen P. Theobald Executive Vice President, Chief Financial  February 24, 2017 
Stephen P. Theobald Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer and 

Principal Accounting Officer)   
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and subsidiaries: 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity, and cash flows for 
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016. These consolidated financial statements are the re-
sponsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audits.  

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), Walker & Dunlop, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria es-
tablished in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 24, 2017, expressed an unqualified opinion on the 
effectiveness of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting.  

 
   
   /s/ KPMG LLP 
 
McLean, Virginia 
February 24, 2017 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc.: 
 

We have audited Walker & Dunlop, Inc.’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of Decem-
ber 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Walker & Dunlop, Inc.’s management is responsible 
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audit.  
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those poli-
cies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are rec-
orded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of man-
agement and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements.  
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteri-
orate.  
 

In our opinion, Walker & Dunlop, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year 
period ended December 31, 2016, and our report dated February 24, 2017, expressed an unqualified opinion on those 
consolidated financial statements.  
 
   
   /s/ KPMG LLP 
 
McLean, Virginia 
February 24, 2017 
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Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 

 (In thousands, except per share data) 
 
      December 31,    
  2016  2015   
Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents  $  118,756  $  136,988  
Restricted cash     9,861     5,306  
Pledged securities, at fair value     84,850     72,190  
Loans held for sale, at fair value     1,858,358     2,499,111  
Loans held for investment, net     220,377     231,493  
Servicing fees and other receivables, net     29,459     23,844  
Derivative assets     61,824     11,678  
Mortgage servicing rights     521,930     412,348  
Goodwill and other intangible assets     97,372     91,488  
Other assets     49,645     30,545  

Total assets  $  3,052,432  $  3,514,991  
        
Liabilities        

Accounts payable and other liabilities  $  93,211  $  67,684  
Performance deposits from borrowers     10,480     5,112  
Derivative liabilities     4,396     1,333  
Guaranty obligation, net of accumulated amortization     32,292     27,570  
Allowance for risk-sharing obligations     3,613     5,586  
Deferred tax liabilities, net   139,020   101,425  
Warehouse notes payable     1,990,183     2,649,470  
Note payable     164,163     164,462  

Total liabilities  $  2,437,358  $  3,022,642  
        
Equity        

Preferred shares, 50,000 authorized, none issued.  $  —  $  —  
Common stock, $0.01 par value. Authorized 200,000; issued and outstanding 29,551 shares at 
December 31, 2016 and 29,466 shares at December 31, 2015     296     295  
Additional paid-in capital     228,889     215,575  
Retained earnings     381,031     272,030  

Total stockholders’ equity  $  610,216  $  487,900  
Noncontrolling interests     4,858     4,449  

Total equity  $  615,074  $  492,349  
Commitments and contingencies (NOTE 10)     —     —  
Total liabilities and equity  $  3,052,432  $  3,514,991  
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Income 

Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 
(In thousands, except per share data) 

 
   2016      2015      2014   
Revenues  

Gains from mortgage banking activities $  367,185  $  290,466 $  221,983 
Servicing fees    140,924     114,757    98,414 
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for sale  16,245   14,541  11,343 
Net warehouse interest income, loans held for investment  7,482   9,419  6,151 
Escrow earnings and other interest income    9,168     4,473    4,526 
Other    34,272     34,542    18,355 

Total revenues $  575,276  $  468,198 $  360,772 
  
Expenses  

Personnel $  227,491  $  184,590 $  149,374 
Amortization and depreciation   111,427    98,173   80,138 
Provision (benefit) for credit losses    (612)     1,644    2,206 
Interest expense on corporate debt    9,851     9,918    10,311 
Other operating expenses    41,338     38,507    34,831 

Total expenses $  389,495  $  332,832 $  276,860 
Income from operations $  185,781  $  135,366 $  83,912 

Income tax expense    71,470     52,771    32,490 
Net income before noncontrolling interests $  114,311  $  82,595 $  51,422 

Less: net income from noncontrolling interests    414     467    — 
Walker & Dunlop net income $  113,897  $  82,128 $  51,422 
  
Basic earnings per share $  3.87  $  2.76 $  1.60 
Diluted earnings per share $  3.65  $  2.65 $  1.58 
  
Basic weighted average shares outstanding    29,432     29,754    32,210 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    31,172     30,949    32,624 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 
(In thousands) 

 
    Stockholders' Equity       
       Additional           
  Common Stock  Paid-In  Retained   Noncontrolling  Total  
    Shares   Amount   Capital   Earnings   Interests   Equity   
Balances at December 31, 2013   34,000  $  340  $ 244,954  $ 157,547  $  —  $ 402,841  

Walker & Dunlop net income   —    —    —    51,422    —    51,422  
Stock-based compensation - equity classified   —    —    9,063    —    —    9,063  
Issuance of common stock in connection with equity com-
pensation plans   403    4    1,832    —    —    1,836  
Issuance of unvested restricted common stock in connection 
with acquisitions   —    —    5,920    —    —    5,920  
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (NOTE 12)   (2,581)   (26)   (37,567)   —    —    (37,593) 
Tax benefit from vesting of restricted shares   —    —    (38)   —    —    (38) 

Balances at December 31, 2014   31,822  $  318  $ 224,164  $ 208,969  $  —  $ 433,451  
Walker & Dunlop net income   —    —    —    82,128    —    82,128  
Net income from noncontrolling interests   —    —    —    —    467    467  
Stock-based compensation - equity classified   —    —    13,428    —    —    13,428  
Issuance of common stock in connection with equity com-
pensation plans   815    8    5,653    —    —    5,661  
Issuance of unvested restricted common stock in connection 
with acquisitions   —    —    1,892    —    —    1,892  
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (NOTE 12)   (3,171)   (31)   (31,163)   (19,067)   —    (50,261) 
Tax benefit from vesting of restricted shares   —    —    1,410    —    —    1,410  
Noncontrolling interests acquired   —    —    —    —    4,339    4,339  
Other   —    —    191    —    (357)    (166) 

Balance at December 31, 2015   29,466  $  295  $ 215,575  $ 272,030  $  4,449  $ 492,349  
Cumulative effect from change in accounting for stock com-
pensation   —    —    135    (120)   —    15  
Walker & Dunlop net income   —    —    —    113,897    —    113,897  
Net income from noncontrolling interests   —    —    —    —    414    414  
Stock-based compensation - equity classified   —    —    17,616    —    —    17,616  
Issuance of common stock in connection with equity com-
pensation plans   645    6    3,759    —    —    3,765  
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (NOTE 12)   (560)   (5)   (8,112)   (4,776)   —    (12,893) 
Other   —    —    (84)   —    (5)    (89) 

Balance at December 31, 2016   29,551  $  296  $ 228,889  $ 381,031  $  4,858  $ 615,074  
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 



Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 
(In thousands) 
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  Years Ended December 31,    
      2016      2015     2014   
Cash flows from operating activities           

Net income before noncontrolling interests  $  114,311  $  82,595 $  51,422  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating 

activities:           
Gains attributable to the fair value of future servicing rights, net of guaranty 

obligation     (192,825)    (133,631)    (96,515) 
Change in the fair value of premiums and origination fees (NOTE 2)     (10,796)    1,959    2,059  
Amortization and depreciation     111,427     98,173    80,138  
Stock compensation–equity and liability classified   18,477   14,084  9,994  
Provision (benefit) for credit losses     (612)    1,644    2,206  
Deferred tax expense   37,595   16,919  10,260  
Originations of loans held for sale  (12,040,559) (12,111,553)  (8,103,452) 
Sales of loans to third parties   12,697,209   10,688,356  7,326,908  
Amortization of deferred loan fees and costs   (1,578)  (1,775)  (1,273) 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount   5,581   3,756  4,174  
Origination fees received from loans held for investment   2,104   1,429  2,145  
Tax shortfall (benefit) from vesting of equity awards   —   (1,410)  38  
Cash paid to settle risk-sharing obligations   (1,613)  (795)  (2,138) 
Changes in:     

Servicing fees and other receivables   (5,744)  (623)  1,943  
Other assets   (1,014)  2,974  (11,759) 
Accounts payable and other liabilities   22,035   7,739  12,415  
Performance deposits from borrowers   5,368   (8,556)  8,434  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $  759,366  $  (1,338,715) $  (703,001) 
           
Cash flows from investing activities           

Capital expenditures  $  (2,478) $  (1,413) $  (2,525) 
Purchase of equity-method investments    —    (5,000)   —  
Funding of preferred equity investments    (24,835)   —   —  
Net cash paid to increase ownership interest in a previously held equity-method 

investment     (1,058)    —    —  
Acquisitions, net of cash received   (6,350)  (12,767)  (23,417) 
Purchase of mortgage servicing rights   (43,097)  —  —  
Originations of loans held for investment     (414,763)    (180,375)    (339,802) 
Principal collected on loans held for investment     425,820     172,323    250,104  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  $  (66,761) $  (27,232) $  (115,640) 
           
Cash flows from financing activities           

Borrowings (repayments) of warehouse notes payable, net  $  (649,845) $  1,423,911 $  774,935  
Borrowings of interim warehouse notes payable     325,828     137,397    248,024  
Repayments of interim warehouse notes payable     (355,738)    (125,542)    (179,941) 
Repayments of note payable     (1,104)    (4,819)    (1,750) 
Repayments of secured borrowings   —   —  (22,050) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock     3,765     7,553    7,756  
Repurchase of common stock     (12,893)    (50,261)    (37,593) 
Debt issuance costs     (3,630)    (4,145)    (1,416) 
Distributions to noncontrolling interests   (5)  —  —  
Tax benefit from vesting of equity awards     —     1,410    (38) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  $  (693,622) $  1,385,504 $  787,927  
       



Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (CONTINUED) 

Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 
(In thousands) 
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  Years Ended December 31,    
      2016      2015     2014   
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and re-

stricted cash equivalents (NOTE 2)  $  (1,017) $  19,557 $  (30,714) 
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents at beginning 

of period     214,484     194,927    225,641  
Total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents

at end of period  $  213,467  $  214,484 $  194,927  
           
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:           

Cash paid to third parties for interest  $  39,311  $  32,854 $  23,950  
Cash paid for income taxes    34,432    34,832   18,481  

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION 
 

These financial statements represent the consolidated financial position and results of operations of Walker & Dun-
lop, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Walker & Dunlop” 
and the “Company” mean the Walker & Dunlop consolidated companies.  

 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc. is a holding company and conducts the majority of its operations through Walker & Dunlop, 

LLC, the operating company. Walker & Dunlop is one of the leading commercial real estate services and finance compa-
nies in the United States. The Company originates, sells, and services a range of multifamily and other commercial real 
estate financing products and provides multifamily investment sales brokerage services. The Company originates and sells 
loans pursuant to the programs of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac,” and together with Fannie Mae, the “GSEs”), the Government National Mortgage 
Association (“Ginnie Mae”) and the Federal Housing Administration, a division of the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (together with Ginnie Mae, “HUD”). The Company also offers a proprietary loan program offering 
interim loans. 

 
Through the third quarter of 2016, we offered commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”) executions 

through our own proprietary CMBS platform (the “CMBS Program”). We terminated the CMBS Program in the fourth 
quarter of 2016. Prior to 2016, the CMBS Program was managed through a partnership with another entity in which we 
owned less than 50%. At the beginning of the first quarter of 2016, the other partner exited the CMBS Program, and we 
assumed full ownership of the CMBS Program. We consolidated the operations of the CMBS Program in our financial 
statements during 2016 and accounted for our investment in the partnership under the equity method of accounting prior 
to 2016. In connection with the termination of the CMBS Program in 2016, we recognized $2.0 million of severance and 
other termination costs. 
 
NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of 
its consolidated entities. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. When the Company has significant influence 
over operating and financial decisions for an entity but does not own a majority of the voting interests, the Company 
accounts for the investment using the equity method of accounting.  

 
Subsequent Events—The Company has evaluated the effects of all events that have occurred subsequent to Decem-

ber 31, 2016. There have been no material events that would require recognition in the consolidated financial statements. 
The Company has made certain disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of events that have oc-
curred subsequent to December 31, 2016. No other material subsequent events have occurred that would require disclo-
sure. 

 
Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, including guaranty obligations, allowance 
for risk-sharing obligations, allowance for loan losses, capitalized mortgage servicing rights, derivative instruments, and 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may vary from these estimates.  

 
Gains from Mortgage Banking Activities and Mortgage Servicing Rights—Gains from mortgage banking activities 

income is recognized when the Company records a derivative asset upon the commitment to originate a loan with a bor-
rower and sell the loan to an investor. This commitment asset is recognized at fair value, which reflects the fair value of 
the contractual loan origination related fees and sale premiums, net of any co-broker fees, and the estimated fair value of 
the expected net cash flows associated with the servicing of the loan, net of the estimated net future cash flows associated 
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with any guaranty obligations retained. For loans the Company brokers, gains from mortgage banking activities are rec-
ognized when the loan is closed and represent the origination fee earned by the Company. The co-broker fees for the years 
ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 were $35.8 million, $18.0 million, and $15.9 million, respectively. 

Transfer of financial assets is reported as a sale when (a) the transferor surrenders control over those assets, (b) the 
transferred financial assets have been legally isolated from the Company’s creditors, (c) the transferred assets can be 
pledged or exchanged by the transferee, and (d) consideration other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets is 
received in exchange. The transferor is considered to have surrendered control over transferred assets if, and only if, certain 
conditions are met. The Company determined that all loans sold during the periods presented met these specific conditions 
and accounted for all transfers of loans held for sale as completed sales. 

When a loan is sold, the Company retains the right to service the loan and initially recognizes an individual mortgage 
servicing right (“MSR”) for the loan sold at fair value. The initial capitalized amount is equal to the estimated fair value 
of the expected net cash flows associated with servicing the loans, net of the expected net cash flows associated with any 
guaranty obligations. The following describes the principal assumptions used in estimated capitalized MSRs: 

Discount rate—Depending upon loan type, the discount rate used is management's best estimate of market discount 
rates. The rates used for loans sold were 10% to 15% for each of the periods presented and varied based on loan type. 

 
Estimated Life—The estimated life of the MSRs is derived based upon the stated yield maintenance and/or prepay-

ment protection term of the underlying loan and may be reduced by 6 to 12 months based upon the expiration of various 
types of prepayment penalty and/or lockout provisions prior to that stated maturity date. The Company’s historical expe-
rience is that the prepayment provisions typically do not provide a significant deterrent to a borrower’s paying off the loan 
within 6 to 12 months of the expiration of the prepayment provisions. 

 
Servicing Cost—The estimated future cost to service the loan for the estimated life of the MSR is subtracted from 

the estimated future cash flows. 
 
The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of MSRs at loan sale are based on internal models and are compared 

to assumptions used by other market participants periodically. When such comparisons indicate that these assumptions 
have changed significantly, the Company adjusts its assumptions accordingly. 

Subsequent to the initial measurement date, MSRs are amortized using the interest method over the period that 
servicing income is expected to be received and presented as a component of Amortization and depreciation in the Con-
solidated Statements of Income. For MSRs recognized at loan sale, the individual loan-level MSR is written off through a 
charge to Amortization and depreciation when a loan prepays, defaults, or is probable of default. We evaluate MSRs for 
impairment quarterly. The Company tests for impairment on the purchased stand-alone servicing portfolio separately from 
the Company’s other MSRs. The MSRs from both stand-alone portfolio purchases and from loan sales are tested for 
impairment at the portfolio level. The Company engages a third party to assist in determining an estimated fair value of 
our existing and outstanding MSRs on at least a semi-annual basis. 

The fair value of MSRs acquired through a stand-alone servicing portfolio purchase is equal to the purchase price 
paid. For purchased stand-alone servicing portfolios, we record a portfolio-level MSR asset and determine the estimated 
life of the portfolio based on the prepayment characteristics of the portfolio. We subsequently amortize such MSRs and 
test for impairment quarterly as discussed in more detail above.  

 
For MSRs related to purchased stand-alone servicing portfolios, a constant rate of prepayments and defaults is in-

cluded in the determination of the portfolio’s estimated life (and thus included as a component of the portfolio’s amorti-
zation). Accordingly, prepayments and defaults of individual MSRs do not change the level of amortization expense rec-
orded for the portfolio unless the pattern of actual prepayments and defaults varies significantly from the estimated pattern. 
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When such a significant difference in the pattern of estimated and actual prepayments and defaults occurs, we prospec-
tively adjust the estimated life of the portfolio (and thus future amortization) to approximate the actual pattern observed. 

Guaranty Obligation and Allowance for Risk-sharing Obligations—When a loan is sold under the Fannie Mae DUS 
program, the Company undertakes an obligation to partially guarantee the performance of the loan. Upon loan sale, a 
liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guaranty is recognized and presented as Guaranty 
obligation, net of accumulated amortization. The recognized guaranty obligation is the greater of the fair value of the 
Company’s obligation to stand ready to perform over the term of the guaranty (the noncontingent guaranty) and the fair 
value of the Company’s obligation to make future payments should those triggering events or conditions occur (contingent 
guaranty).  

Historically, the fair value of the contingent guaranty at inception has been de minimis; therefore, the fair value of 
the noncontingent guaranty has been recognized. In determining the fair value of the guaranty obligation, the Company 
considers the risk profile of the collateral, historical loss experience, and various market indicators. Generally, the esti-
mated fair value of the guaranty obligation is based on the present value of the cash flows expected to be paid under the 
guaranty over the estimated life of the loan (historically three to five basis points per year) discounted using a 12-15 percent 
discount rate. The discount rate used is consistent with what is used for the calculation of the MSR for each loan. The 
estimated life of the guaranty obligation is the estimated period over which the Company believes it will be required to 
stand ready under the guaranty. Subsequent to the initial measurement date, the liability is amortized over the life of the 
guaranty period using the straight-line method as a component of and reduction to Amortization and depreciation in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income, unless, as discussed more fully below, the loan defaults or management determines 
that the loan’s risk profile is such that amortization should cease. 

 
The Company monitors the performance of each risk-sharing loan for events or conditions which may signal a 

potential default. Our process for identifying which risk-sharing loans may be probable of loss consists of an assessment 
of several qualitative and quantitative factors including payment status, property financial performance, local real estate 
market conditions, loan-to-value ratio, debt-service-coverage ratio, and property condition. Historically, initial loss recog-
nition occurs at or before a loan becomes 60 days delinquent. In instances where payment under the guaranty on a specific 
loan is determined to be probable and estimable (as the loan is probable of foreclosure or in foreclosure), the Company 
records a liability for the estimated allowance for risk-sharing (a “specific reserve”) through a charge to the provision for 
risk-sharing obligations, which is a component of Provision (benefit) for credit losses in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income, along with a write-off of the associated loan-specific MSR. 

The amount of the allowance considers the Company’s assessment of the likelihood of repayment by the borrower 
or key principal(s), the risk characteristics of the loan, the loan’s risk rating, historical loss experience, adverse situations 
affecting individual loans, the estimated disposition value of the underlying collateral, and the level of risk sharing. The 
estimate of property fair value at initial recognition of the allowance for risk-sharing obligations is based on appraisals, 
broker opinions of value, or net operating income and market capitalization rates, depending on the facts and circumstances 
associated with the loan. We regularly monitor the specific reserves on all applicable loans and update loss estimates as 
current information is received. The settlement with Fannie Mae is based on the actual sales price of the property and 
selling and property preservation costs and considers the Fannie Mae loss-sharing requirements. 
 

In addition to the specific reserves discussed above, the Company also records an allowance for risk-sharing obli-
gations related to risk-sharing loans on its watch list (“general reserves”). Such loans are not probable of foreclosure but 
are probable of loss as the characteristics of these loans indicate that it is probable that these loans include some losses 
even though the loss cannot be attributed to a specific loan. For all other risk-sharing loans not on our watch list, the 
Company continues to carry a guaranty obligation. The Company calculates the general reserves based on a migration 
analysis of the loans on its historical watch lists, adjusted for qualitative factors. When the Company places a risk-sharing 
loan on its watch list, the Company ceases to amortize the guaranty obligation and transfers the remaining unamortized 
balance of the guaranty obligation to the general reserves. The Company recognizes a provision for risk-sharing obligations 
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to the extent the calculated general reserve exceeds the remaining unamortized guaranty obligation. If a risk-sharing loan 
is subsequently removed from the watch list due to improved financial performance or other factors, the Company transfers 
the unamortized balance of the guaranty obligation back to the guaranty obligation classification on the balance sheet and 
amortizes the remaining unamortized balance evenly over the remaining estimated life. 

For each loan for which we have a risk-sharing obligation, we record one of the following liabilities associated with 
that loan as discussed above: guaranty obligation, general reserve, or specific reserve. Although the liability type may 
change over the life of the loan, at any particular point in time, only one such liability is associated with a loan for which 
we have a risk-sharing obligation. The total of the specific reserves and general reserves is presented as Allowance for 
risk-sharing obligations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Loans Held for Investment, net—The Company offers an interim loan program for floating-rate, interest-only loans 
for terms of up to three years to experienced borrowers seeking to acquire or reposition multifamily properties that do not 
currently qualify for permanent GSE or HUD (collectively, the “Agencies”) financing (the “Interim Program”). These 
loans are classified as held for investment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet during such time that they are 
outstanding. The loans are carried at their unpaid principal balances, adjusted for net unamortized loan fees and costs, and 
net of any allowance for loan losses. Interest income is accrued based on the actual coupon rate, adjusted for the amorti-
zation of net deferred fees and costs, and is recognized as revenue when earned and deemed collectible. All loans held for 
investment are multifamily loans with similar risk characteristics with no geographic concentration. 

The Company uses the interest method to determine an effective yield to amortize the loan fees and costs on real 
estate loans held for investment. All loans held for investment are floating-rate loans; therefore, the Company uses the 
initial coupon interest rate of the loans (without regard to future changes in the underlying indices) and anticipated principal 
payments, if any, to determine periodic amortization. As of December 31, 2016, Loans held for investment, net consisted 
of 12 loans with an aggregate $222.3 million of unpaid principal balance less $1.5 million of net unamortized deferred 
fees and costs and $0.4 million of allowance for loan losses. As of December 31, 2015, Loans held for investment, net 
consisted of 13 loans with an aggregate $233.4 million of unpaid principal balance less $1.1 million of net unamortized 
deferred fees and costs and $0.8 million of allowance for loan losses. 

The Company will reclassify loans held for investment as loans held for sale if it determines that the loans will be 
sold or transferred to third parties. To date, the Company has not sold any of its loans held for investment.  

The allowance for loan losses is the Company’s estimate of credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance 
sheet date. The Company has established a process to determine the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses that 
assesses the losses inherent in the portfolio. That process includes assessing the credit quality of each of the loans held for 
investment by monitoring the financial condition of the borrower and the financial trends of the underlying property. The 
allowance levels are influenced by the aggregate outstanding principal balance, delinquency status, historic loss experi-
ence, and other conditions influencing loss expectations, such as economic conditions. 

The allowance for loan losses is estimated collectively for loans with similar characteristics and for which there is 
no evidence of impairment. The collective allowance is based on recent historical loss probability and historical loss rates 
incurred in our risk-sharing portfolio, adjusted as needed for current market conditions. We use the loss experience from 
our risk-sharing portfolio as a proxy for losses incurred in our loans held for investment portfolio since (i) we have not 
experienced any actual losses related to our loans held for investment to date and (ii) the loans in the loans-held-for-
investment portfolio have similar characteristics to loans held in the risk-sharing portfolio. The allowance for loan losses 
recorded as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 is based on the Company’s collective assessment of the port-
folio. 
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Loans held for investment are placed on non-accrual status when full and timely collection of interest or principal 
is not probable. Loans held for investment are considered past due when contractually required principal or interest pay-
ments have not been made on the due dates and are charged off when the loan is considered uncollectible. The Company 
evaluates all loans held for investment for impairment. A loan is considered impaired when the Company believes that the 
facts and circumstances of the loan suggest that the Company will not be able to collect all contractually due principal and 
interest. Delinquency status and property financial condition are key components of the Company’s consideration of im-
pairment status. 

None of the loans held for investment was delinquent, impaired, or on non-accrual status as of December 31, 2016 
or December 31, 2015. Additionally, we have not experienced any delinquencies related to these loans or charged off any 
loan held for investment since the inception of the Interim Program in 2012. 

Provision (Benefit) for Credit Losses—The Company records the income statement impact of the changes in the 
allowance for loan losses and the allowance for risk-sharing obligations within Provision (benefit) for credit losses in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income. Provision (benefit) for credit losses consisted of the following activity for the years 
ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014: 

           

(in thousands)  2016     2015     2014  
Provision (benefit) for loan losses  $  (467) $  (36) $  423  
Provision (benefit) for risk-sharing obligations     (145)    1,680     1,783  
Provision (benefit) for credit losses  $  (612) $  1,644  $  2,206  

 
Business Combinations—The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of ac-

counting, under which the purchase price of the acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using 
the fair values determined by management as of the acquisition date. The Company recognizes identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities (both specific and contingent) assumed at their fair values at the acquisition date. Furthermore, acquisition-
related costs, such as due diligence, legal and accounting fees, are not capitalized or applied in determining the fair value 
of the acquired assets. The excess of the purchase price over the assets acquired, identifiable intangible assets and liabilities 
assumed is recognized as goodwill. During the measurement period, the Company records adjustments to the assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed with corresponding adjustment to goodwill in the reporting period in which the adjustment 
is identified. After the measurement period, which could be up to one year after the transaction date, subsequent adjust-
ments are recorded to the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 
Goodwill—The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually. In addition to the annual impairment evalu-

ation, the Company evaluates at least quarterly whether events or circumstances have occurred in the period subsequent 
to the annual impairment testing which indicate that it is more likely than not an impairment loss has occurred. The Com-
pany currently has only one reporting unit; therefore, all goodwill is allocated to that one reporting unit. The Company 
performs its impairment testing annually as of October 1. The annual impairment analysis begins by comparing the Com-
pany’s market capitalization to its net assets. If the market capitalization exceeds the net asset value, further analysis is not 
required, and goodwill is not considered impaired. As of the date of our latest annual impairment test, October 1, 2016, 
the Company’s market capitalization exceeded its net asset value by $218.6 million, or 38.5%. As of December 31, 2016, 
there have been no events subsequent to that analysis that are indicative of an impairment loss. 

 
Derivative Assets and Liabilities—Certain loan commitments and forward sales commitments meet the definition 

of a derivative and are recorded at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The estimated fair value of loan commit-
ments includes the fair value of loan origination fees and premiums on anticipated sale of the loan, net of co-broker fees, 
and the fair value of the expected net cash flows associated with the servicing of the loan, net of any estimated net future 
cash flows associated with the risk-sharing obligation. The estimated fair value of forward sale commitments includes the 
effects of interest rate movements between the trade date and balance sheet date. Adjustments to the fair value are reflected 
as a component of income within Gains on mortgage banking in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
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Loans Held for Sale—Loans held for sale represent originated loans that are generally transferred or sold within 

60 days from the date that a mortgage loan is funded. The Company initially measures all originated loans at fair value. 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the Company measures all mortgage loans at fair value, unless the Company documents 
at the time the loan is originated that it will measure the specific loan at the lower of cost or fair value for the life of the 
loan. Electing to use fair value allows a better offset of the change in fair value of the loan and the change in fair value of 
the derivative instruments used as economic hedges. During the period prior to its sale, interest income on a loan held for 
sale is calculated in accordance with the terms of the individual loan. There were no loans held for sale that were valued 
at the lower of cost or fair value or on a non-accrual status at December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 
Share-Based Payment—The Company recognizes compensation costs for all share-based payment awards made to 

employees and directors, including restricted stock, restricted stock units, and employee stock options based on the grant 
date fair value.  

 
Restricted stock awards are granted without cost to the Company’s officers, employees, and non-employee directors, 

for which the fair value of the award was calculated as the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. 
 
Stock option awards are granted principally to executive officers, with an exercise price equal to the closing price 

of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant, and are granted with a ten-year exercise period, vesting ratably 
over three years dependent solely on continued employment. To estimate the grant-date fair value of stock options, the 
Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model. The Black-Scholes model estimates the per share fair value of an option 
on its date of grant based on the following inputs: the option’s exercise price, the price of the underlying stock on the date 
of the grant, the estimated option life, the estimated dividend yield, a “risk-free” interest rate, and the expected volatility. 
For each of the years presented, the Company used the simplified method to estimate the expected term of the options as 
the Company did not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis for estimating the expected term. 
The Company uses an estimated dividend yield of zero as the Company has not historically issued dividends and does not 
currently pay dividends. For the “risk-free” rate, the Company uses a U.S. Treasury Bond due in a number of years equal 
to the option’s expected term. For all years presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income, the expected volatility 
was calculated based on the Company’s historical common stock volatility. The Company issues new shares from the pool 
of authorized but not yet issued shares when an employee exercises stock options. 

 
Generally, the Company’s stock option and restricted stock awards for its officers and employees vest ratably over 

a three-year period based solely on continued employment.  Restricted stock awards for non-employee directors fully vest 
after one year. 

 
In 2014 and 2016, the Company offered a performance share plan (“PSP”) for the Company’s executives and certain 

other members of senior management. The performance period for each PSP is three full calendar years beginning on 
January 1 of the first year of the performance period. Participants in the PSP receive restricted stock units (“RSUs”) on 
the grant date for the PSP. If the performance targets are met at the end of the performance period and the participant 
remains employed by the Company, the participant fully vests in the RSUs, which immediately convert to unrestricted 
shares of common stock. If the performance targets are not met or the participant is no longer employed by the Company, 
the participant forfeits the RSUs. The performance targets for the 2014 PSP are based on meeting adjusted diluted earnings 
per share and total revenues goals. The performance targets for the 2016 PSP are based on meeting diluted earnings per 
share, return on equity, and total revenues goals. The Company records compensation expense for the PSP based on the 
grant-date fair value in an amount proportionate to the service time rendered by the participant when it is probable that the 
achievement of the goals will be met. 

 
Compensation expense is adjusted for actual forfeitures and is recognized on a straight-line basis, for each separately 

vesting portion of the award as if the award were in substance multiple awards, over the requisite service period of the 
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award. Share-based compensation is recognized within the income statement as Personnel, the same expense line as the 
cash compensation paid to the respective employees. 

 
Net Warehouse Interest Income—The Company presents warehouse interest income net of warehouse interest ex-

pense. Warehouse interest income is the interest earned from loans held for sale and loans held for investment. For the 
periods presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, all loans that were held for sale were financed with matched bor-
rowings under our warehouse facilities incurred to fund a specific loan held for sale. A portion of all loans that are held 
for investment is financed with matched borrowings under our warehouse facilities. The portion of loans held for invest-
ment not funded with matched borrowings is financed with the Company’s own cash. Warehouse interest expense is in-
curred on borrowings used to fund loans solely while they are held for sale or for investment. Warehouse interest income 
and expense are earned or incurred on loans held for sale after a loan is closed and before a loan is sold. Warehouse interest 
income and expense are earned or incurred on loans held for investment after a loan is closed and before a loan is repaid. 
Included in Net warehouse interest income for the three and year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are the following 
components:  

          

  For the year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)  2016     2015      2014 
Warehouse interest income - loans held for sale  $  47,523  $  37,675  $  24,615 
Warehouse interest expense - loans held for sale     (31,278)    (23,134)    (13,272)
Net warehouse interest income - loans held for sale  $  16,245  $  14,541  $  11,343 
          
Warehouse interest income - loans held for investment  $  12,808  $  15,456  $  11,092 
Warehouse interest expense - loans held for investment     (5,326)    (6,037)    (4,941)
Net warehouse interest income - loans held for investment  $  7,482  $  9,419  $  6,151 

 
Statement of Cash Flows—The Company records the fair value of premiums and origination fees as a component 

of the fair value of derivatives when a loan intended to be sold is rate locked and records the related income within Gains 
from mortgage banking activities within the Consolidated Statements of Income. The cash for the origination fee is re-
ceived upon closing of the loan, and the cash for the premium is received upon loan sale, resulting in a mismatch of the 
recognition of income and the receipt of cash in a given period when the derivative or loan held for sale remains outstanding 
at period end. 

 
The Company accounts for this mismatch by recording an adjustment called Change in the fair value of premiums 

and origination fees within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The amount of the adjustment reflects a reduction 
to cash provided by or used in operations for the amount of income recognized upon rate lock (i.e., non-cash income) for 
derivatives and loans held for sale outstanding at period end and an increase to cash provided by or used in operations for 
cash received upon loan origination or sale for derivatives and loans held for sale that were outstanding at prior period 
end. When income recognized upon rate lock is greater than cash received upon loan origination or sale, the adjustment is 
a negative amount. When income recognized upon rate lock is less than cash received upon loan origination or loan sale, 
the adjustment is a positive amount. 

 
As noted below in greater detail, in 2016 the Company early adopted an accounting standard related to the presen-

tation of the statement of cash flows that requires entities to show the change in the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted 
cash, and restricted cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. For presentation in the Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows, the Company considers Pledged securities, at fair value to be restricted cash equivalents. The following table 
presents a reconciliation of the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents as presented 
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows to the related captions in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 
31, 2016, 2015, 2014, and 2013. 
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 December 31,  
(in thousands) 2016     2015      2014      2013  
Cash and cash equivalents $  118,756 $  136,988  $  113,354  $  170,563  
Restricted cash   9,861   5,306    13,854    5,427  
Pledged securities, at fair value (restricted cash equiva-

lents)    84,850    72,190     67,719     49,651  
Total cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and re-

stricted cash equivalents $  213,467 $  214,484  $  194,927  $  225,641  
 
Income Taxes—The Company files income tax returns in the applicable U.S. federal, state, and local jurisdictions 

and generally is subject to examination by the respective jurisdictions for three years from the filing of a tax return. The 
Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts 
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted 
tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities from a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period when the new rate is 
enacted. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is more likely than not that they will be realizable based 

on consideration of available evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected 
future taxable income and tax planning strategies.  

 
The Company had no accruals for tax uncertainties as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 
Comprehensive Income—For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, comprehensive income equaled 

Net income before noncontrolling interests; therefore, a separate statement of comprehensive income is not included in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

 
Pledged Securities—As collateral against its Fannie Mae risk-sharing obligations (NOTES 5 and 10), certain secu-

rities have been pledged to the benefit of Fannie Mae to secure the Company's risk-sharing obligations. The balance of 
securities pledged against Fannie Mae risk-sharing obligations and included as a component of Pledged securities, at fair 
value within the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $80.5 million and $70.9 million, 
respectively. Additionally, the Company has pledged an immaterial amount of cash as collateral against its risk-sharing 
obligations with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. The pledged securities as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 consist primarily 
of a highly liquid investment valued using quoted market prices from recent trades, and are therefore considered restricted 
cash equivalents for presentation in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents—The term cash and cash equivalents, as used in the accompanying consolidated finan-

cial statements, includes currency on hand, demand deposits with financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid in-
vestments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. The Company had no cash equivalents as of De-
cember 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 
Restricted Cash—Restricted cash represents primarily good faith deposits from borrowers. The Company records a 

corresponding liability for these good faith deposits from borrowers within Performance deposits from borrowers within 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

 
Servicing Fees and Other Receivables, Net—Servicing fees and other receivables, net represents amounts currently 

due to the Company pursuant to contractual servicing agreements, investor good faith deposits held in escrow by others, 
general accounts receivable, and advances of principal and interest payments and tax and insurance escrow amounts if the 
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borrower is delinquent in making loan payments, to the extent such amounts are determined to be reimbursable and recov-
erable. Advances related to Fannie Mae at-risk loans may be used to reduce the amount of cash required to settle loan 
losses under the Company’s risk-sharing obligation with Fannie Mae. 

 
Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of 

credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, loans held for sale, and derivative financial instruments. 
 
The Company places the cash and temporary investments with high-credit-quality financial institutions and believes 

no significant credit risk exists. The counterparties to the loans held for sale and funding commitments are owners of 
residential multifamily properties located throughout the United States. Mortgage loans are generally transferred or sold 
within 60 days from the date that a mortgage loan is funded. There is no material counterparty risk with respect to the 
Company's funding commitments as each potential borrower must make a non-refundable good faith deposit when the 
funding commitment is executed. The counterparty to the forward sale is Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or a broker-dealer that 
has been determined to be a credit-worthy counterparty by us and our warehouse lenders. There is a risk that the purchase 
price agreed to by the investor will be reduced in the event of a late delivery. The risk for non-delivery of a loan primarily 
results from the risk that a borrower does not close on the funding commitment in a timely manner. This risk is generally 
mitigated by the non-refundable good faith deposit. 

 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements—In the second quarter of 2015, Accounting Standards Update 2015-

05 (“ASU 2015-05”), Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement, was issued. ASU 2015-
05 provides entities with guidance on determining whether a cloud computing arrangement contains a software license 
that should be accounted for as internal-use software. ASU 2015-05 is effective for the annual and interim periods begin-
ning January 1, 2016, with early adoption permitted. Entities may select retrospective or prospective adoption of ASU 
2015-05. The Company prospectively adopted ASU 2015-05 in the first quarter of 2016. There was no impact to the 
Company as none of the Company’s cloud computing arrangements permits the Company the contractual right to take 
possession of the software. 

 
In the first quarter of 2016, Accounting Standards Update 2016-09 (“ASU 2016-09”), Compensation—Stock Com-

pensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting, was issued. ASU 2016-09 includes 
the following changes to the accounting for share-based payments that have the potential to impact the Company’s reported 
financial results:  

   

 

•  

 

All excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies arising from stock compensation arrangements are recognized as an
income tax benefit or expense in the income statement instead of as an adjustment to additional paid in capital
(“APIC”). The APIC pool is eliminated. In addition, excess tax benefits are no longer included in the calculation
of diluted shares outstanding. The transition guidance related to these changes requires prospective application.
NOTE 13 discloses the current-year impact of recognizing excess tax benefit related to stock compensation
arrangements through the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

   

 

•  

 

Excess tax benefits are recorded along with other income tax cash flows as an operating activity in the statement
of cash flows. The transition guidance related to this change requires prospective application. Cash paid when
remitting cash to the tax authorities must be classified as a financing activity in the statement of cash flows. The
transition guidance related to this change requires retrospective application. There was no effect on prior periods
for the retrospective application of the classification of payments to tax authorities as the Company previously
presented such payments in a manner consistent with ASU 2016-09. 

   

 
•  

 
Entities can elect to continue to apply current GAAP or to reverse compensation cost of forfeited awards when
they occur. If an entity makes a change in its accounting policy to account for forfeitures as they occur, the
transition guidance requires a cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings. 
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ASU 2016-09 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2017. Early adoption is permitted as long as the entire 
ASU is early adopted. The Company early adopted the entire ASU during the first quarter of 2016. In connection with the 
early adoption of ASU 2016-09, the Company changed its accounting policy related to forfeitures. The Company’s previ-
ous accounting policy was to adjust compensation expense for estimated forfeitures. With the adoption of ASU 2016-09, 
the Company changed its accounting policy to adjust compensation expense for actual forfeitures and recorded an imma-
terial cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning total equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in 
Equity. The Company did not adjust any balances related to prior periods as a result of adopting ASU 2016-09. 

 
In the fourth quarter of 2016, Accounting Standards Update 2016-18 (“ASU 2016-18”), Statement of Cash Flows 

(Topic 230) – Restricted Cash, was issued. ASU 2016-18 requires entities to show the changes in the total of cash, cash 
equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. Previous guidance required the 
change in cash and cash equivalents be shown on the statement of cash flows, with cash used to fund restricted cash and 
restricted cash equivalents shown as a component of operating, investing, or financing activities. Entities are now also 
required to reconcile the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents as presented in the 
statement of cash flows to the related captions in the balance sheet when these balances are presented separately in the 
balance sheet. ASU 2016-18 is effective January 1, 2018 for the Company, with retrospective application required. The 
Company early adopted ASU 2016-18 as permitted in the fourth quarter of 2016. The adoption of ASU 2016-18 had the 
following impact on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
      

(in thousands)  
December 31, 

2015   
December 31, 

2014 
As previously reported under GAAP applicable at the time      

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period $  113,354  $  170,563 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  23,634   (57,209)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   136,988    113,354 
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities: change in restricted cash and pledged securi-
ties 

 
 4,268 

  
 (26,495)

    
As currently reported under ASU 2016-18    

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents at beginning of period $  194,927  $  225,641 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equiva-
lents  19,557   (30,714)
Total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents at end of period   214,484    194,927 
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities: change in restricted cash and pledged securi-
ties 

 
 — 

  
 — 
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Recently Announced Accounting Pronouncements—The following table presents the accounting pronouncements 
that the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued and that have the potential to impact the Company 
but have not yet been adopted by the Company. 

 

Standard    
Issue 
Date    Description    

Effective 
Date    

Expected Financial
Statement Impact 

Accounting Standards 
Update ("ASU") 2016-
13, Financial Instru-
ments - Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Measure-
ment of Credit Losses 
on Financial Instru-
ments 

 Q2 2016  ASU 2016-13 ("the Standard") represents a significant
change to the incurred loss model currently used to account
for credit losses. The Standard requires an entity to estimate
the credit losses expected over the life of the credit exposure
upon initial recognition of that exposure. The expected credit
losses consider historical information, current information,
and reasonable and supportable forecasts, including esti-
mates of prepayments. Exposures with similar risk charac-
teristics are required to be grouped together when estimating
expected credit losses. The initial estimate and subsequent
changes to the estimated credit losses are required to be re-
ported in current earnings in the income statement and
through an allowance in the balance sheet. ASU 2016-13 is 
applicable to financial assets subject to credit losses and
measured at amortized cost and certain off-balance-sheet 
credit exposures. The Standard will modify the way the
Company estimates its allowance for risk-sharing obliga-
tions and its allowance for loan losses. ASU 2016-13 re-
quires modified retrospective application to all outstanding,
in-scope instruments, with a cumulative-effect adjustment
recorded to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of 
the period of adoption. 

 January 1, 
2020 (early 

adoption 
permitted 
January 1, 

2019) 

 The Company is in 
the preliminary 
stages of implemen-
tation as it is still in 
the process of deter-
mining the signifi-
cance of the impact 
the Standard will 
have on its financial 
statements and the 
timing of when it 
will adopt ASU 
2016-13. The Com-
pany expects its Al-
lowance for risk-
sharing obligations 
and allowance for 
loan losses to in-
crease when ASU 
2016-13 is adopted. 

ASU 2016-02, Leases 
(Topic 842) 

 Q1 2016  ASU 2016-02 represents a significant reform to the account-
ing for leases. Lessees initially recognize a lease liability for
the obligation to make lease payments and a right-of-use 
(“ROU”) asset for the right to use the underlying asset for
the lease term. The lease liability is measured at the present
value of the lease payments over the lease term. The ROU
asset is measured at the lease liability amount, adjusted for
lease prepayments, lease incentives received and the lessee’s
initial direct costs. Lessees generally recognize lease ex-
pense for these leases on a straight-line basis, which is simi-
lar to what they do today. Entities are required to use a mod-
ified retrospective approach for leases that exist or are en-
tered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative pe-
riod in the financial statements. 

 January 1, 
2019 (early 
adoption is 
permitted) 

 The Company is in 
the preliminary 
stages of implemen-
tation as it is still in 
the process of deter-
mining the signifi-
cance of the impact 
ASU 2016-02 will 
have on its financial 
statements and the 
timing of when it 
will adopt ASU 
2016-02. 
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Standard    
Issue 
Date    Description    

Effective 
Date    

Expected Financial
Statement Impact 

ASU 2016-01, Finan-
cial Instruments –
Overall – Recognition 
and Measurement of 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities 

 Q1 2016  The guidance requires that unconsolidated equity invest-
ments not accounted for under the equity method be rec-
orded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded
through net income. The accounting principles that permit-
ted available-for-sale classification with unrealized holding
gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income for
equity securities will no longer be applicable. The guidance
is not applicable to debt securities and loans and requires mi-
nor changes to the disclosure and presentation of financial
instruments. ASU 2016-01 generally requires a cumulative-
effect adjustment to opening retained earnings as of the be-
ginning of the period of adoption. 

 January 1, 
2018 (early 

adoption 
permitted 
for certain 

parts) 

 The Company does 
not believe that 
ASU 2016-01 will 
have a material im-
pact on its reported 
financial results. 

ASU 2014-09, Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606) 

 Q2 2014  ASU 2014-09 represents a comprehensive reform of many
of the revenue recognition requirements in GAAP. The guid-
ance in the ASU supersedes the revenue recognition require-
ments in Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, and supersedes or
amends much of the industry-specific revenue recognition
guidance found throughout the Accounting Standards Codi-
fication. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in ex-
change for those goods and services. The ASU creates a five-
step process for achieving the core principle: 1) identifying
the contract with the customer, 2) identifying the perfor-
mance obligations in the contract, 3) determining the trans-
action price, 4) allocating the transaction price to the perfor-
mance obligations, and 5) recognizing revenue when an en-
tity has completed the performance obligations. The ASU
also requires additional disclosures that allow users of the
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, tim-
ing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows resulting
from contracts with customers. The guidance permits the use
of the full retrospective or modified retrospective transition
methods. 

 January 1, 
2018 (early 

adoption 
permitted 
January 1, 

2017) 

 The Company com-
pleted its analysis of 
ASU 2014-09 and 
concluded that it 
will not have a ma-
terial impact on the 
amount or timing of 
revenue the Com-
pany records under 
its current revenue 
recognition prac-
tices. Additionally, 
the Company be-
lieves that this ASU 
will not impact the 
presentation of the 
Company's financial 
statements or re-
quire significant ad-
ditional footnote 
disclosures. 

 
There were no other accounting pronouncements issued during 2017 or 2016 that have the potential to impact the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
 
Reclassifications—The Company has made certain immaterial reclassifications to prior-year balances to conform 

to current-year presentation.  
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NOTE 3—GAINS FROM MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES 
 

Gains from mortgage banking activities consist of the following activity for each of the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014: 

   
 For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands) 2016      2015  2014  
Contractual loan origination related fees, net $  174,360  $  156,835  $  125,468  
Fair value of expected net cash flows from servicing recognized at commit-
ment   205,311    142,420    103,410  
Fair value of expected guaranty obligation recognized at commitment    (12,486)    (8,789)     (6,895) 
Total gains from mortgage banking activities $  367,185  $  290,466  $  221,983  

 

NOTE 4—MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS 
 

The fair value of MSRs at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was $669.4 million and $510.6 million, re-
spectively. The Company uses a discounted static cash flow valuation approach and the key economic assumption is the 
discount rate. See the following sensitivities related to the discount rate: 

 
The impact of a 100 basis point increase in the discount rate at December 31, 2016 is a decrease in the fair value of 

$21.2 million to the MSRs outstanding as of December 31, 2016. 
 
The impact of a 200 basis point increase in the discount rate at December 31, 2016 is a decrease in the fair value of 

$41.0 million to the MSRs outstanding as of December 31, 2016. 
 
These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. These estimates do not include interplay among 

assumptions and are estimated as a portfolio rather than individual assets. 
 
Activity related to capitalized MSRs for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 follows: 

        

  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015  
Beginning balance  $  412,348  $  375,907  

Additions, following the sale of loan     181,032     135,441  
Purchases   43,097   —  
Amortization     (99,417)    (80,702) 
Pre-payments and write-offs     (15,130)    (18,298) 

Ending balance  $  521,930  $  412,348  
 
As shown in the table above, during 2016, the Company purchased the rights to service a HUD loan portfolio from 

a third-party servicer. The closing-date purchase price was $44.8 million of cash consideration. The amount in the ‘Pur-
chases’ line in the table above consists of the closing amount of $44.8 million, net of purchase-price adjustments reducing 
the closing amount by $1.7 million, for a revised purchase amount of $43.1 million. The servicing portfolio, after consid-
eration of purchase-price adjustments, consisted of approximately $3.6 billion of unpaid principal balance and had a 
weighted average estimated remaining life of 10.9 years. 

 
The following summarizes the components of the net carrying value of the Company’s acquired and originated 

MSRs as of December 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 



Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

F-22 

           

  As of December 31, 2016  
   Gross    Accumulated    Net  
(in thousands)    carrying value     amortization     carrying value   
Acquired MSRs  $  175,934  $  (104,264) $  71,670  
Originated MSRs     642,030     (191,770)    450,260  
Total  $  817,964  $  (296,034) $  521,930  

 
            

  As of December 31, 2015  
   Gross   Accumulated   Net  
(in thousands)    carrying value     amortization      carrying value    
Acquired MSRs  $  132,837  $  (84,754) $  48,083  
Originated MSRs     511,915     (147,650)    364,265  
Total  $  644,752  $  (232,404) $  412,348  

 
The expected amortization of MSRs recorded as of December 31, 2016 is shown in the table below. Actual amorti-

zation may vary from these estimates. 
 

    Originated MSRs   Acquired MSRs   Total MSRs   
(in thousands)  Amortization  Amortization    Amortization    
Year Ending December 31,   

2017 $  90,304 $  14,711 $  105,015  
2018    78,092    12,227    90,319  
2019    67,493    10,795    78,288  
2020    59,847    8,924    68,771  
2021    50,738    7,018    57,756  
Thereafter    103,786    17,995    121,781  

Total  $  450,260 $  71,670 $  521,930  
 
The Company recorded write-offs of MSRs related to loans that were repaid prior to the expected maturity and 

loans that defaulted. These write-offs are included as a component of Amortization and depreciation in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Income and the MSR roll forward shown above and relate to MSRs recognized at loan sale 
only. Prepayment fees totaling $10.6 million, $15.0 million, and $9.3 million were collected for 2016, 2015, and 2014, 
respectively, and are included as a component of Other revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 
Management reviews the capitalized MSRs for temporary impairment quarterly by comparing the aggregate carry-

ing value of the MSR portfolio to the aggregate estimated fair value of the portfolio. Additionally, MSRs related to Fannie 
Mae loans where the Company has risk-sharing obligations are assessed for permanent impairment on an asset-by-asset 
basis, considering factors such as debt service coverage ratio, property location, loan-to-value ratio, and property type. 
Except for defaulted or prepaid loans, no temporary or permanent impairment was recognized for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014.  

 
The weighted average remaining life of the aggregate MSR portfolio is 7.4 years. 
 

NOTE 5—GUARANTY OBLIGATION AND ALLOWANCE FOR RISK-SHARING OBLIGATIONS 
 

When a loan is sold under the Fannie Mae DUS program, the Company typically agrees to guarantee a portion of 
the ultimate loss incurred on the loan should the borrower fail to perform. The compensation for this risk is a component 
of the servicing fee on the loan. No guaranty is provided for loans sold under the Freddie Mac or HUD loan programs. 
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A summary of the Company’s guaranty obligation for the noncontingent portion of the guaranty obligation as of 
and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 follows: 

 
  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)      2016      2015  
Beginning balance  $  27,570  $  24,975  

Additions, following the sale of loan     10,597     8,828  
Amortization     (5,946)    (5,423) 
Other   71   (810) 

Ending balance  $  32,292  $  27,570  
 
A summary of the Company’s allowance for risk-sharing obligations for the contingent portion of the guaranty 

obligation as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 follows: 
 

  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015  
Beginning balance  $  5,586  $  3,904  

Provision (benefit) for risk-sharing obligations     (145)    1,680  
Write-offs     (1,757)    (808) 
Other    (71)  810  

Ending balance  $  3,613  $  5,586  
 
When the Company places a loan for which it has a risk-sharing obligation on its watch list, the Company ceases to 

amortize the guaranty obligation and transfers the remaining unamortized balance of the guaranty obligation to the allow-
ance for risk-sharing obligations. When a loan for which the Company has a risk-sharing obligation is removed from the 
watch list, the loan’s reserve is transferred from the allowance for risk-sharing obligations to the guaranty obligation, and 
the amortization of the remaining balance over the remaining estimated life is resumed. This net transfer of the unamortized 
balance of the guaranty obligation from a noncontingent classification to a contingent classification (and vice versa) is 
presented in the guaranty obligation and allowance for risk-sharing obligations tables above as ‘Other.’ 

 
During 2016, the Company and Fannie Mae settled the loss sharing amounts related to the last three remaining 

previously defaulted at risk loans. As a result of these loss settlements, the Allowance for risk-sharing obligations as of 
December 31, 2016 is based entirely on the Company’s collective assessment of the probability of loss related to the loans 
on the watch list as of December 31, 2016. The write-offs in the table above are net of $0.8 million and $0 of recoveries 
for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The net benefit for risk-sharing obligations for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 is the result of the aforementioned recoveries. 

 
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the maximum quantifiable contingent liability associated with the Company’s 

guarantees under the Fannie Mae DUS agreement was $4.9 billion. The maximum quantifiable contingent liability is not 
representative of the actual loss the Company would incur. The Company would be liable for this amount only if all of the 
loans it services for Fannie Mae, for which the Company retains some risk of loss, were to default and all of the collateral 
underlying these loans was determined to be without value at the time of settlement. 

 
NOTE 6—SERVICING 
 

The total unpaid principal balance of loans the Company was servicing for various institutional investors was 
$63.1 billion as of December 31, 2016 compared to $50.2 billion as of December 31, 2015. The December 31, 2016 bal-
ance includes the unamortized portion of the addition of $3.6 billion related to purchase activity as more fully discussed 
in NOTE 4. 
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, custodial escrow accounts relating to loans serviced by the Company totaled 
$1.6 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. These amounts are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets as such amounts are not Company assets. Certain cash deposits at other financial institutions exceed the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. The Company places these deposits with financial institutions that meet the 
requirements of the Agencies and where it believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 

 
NOTE 7—DEBT 
 

At December 31, 2016, to provide financing to borrowers under the Agencies’ programs, the Company has arranged 
for warehouse lines of credit in the amount of $2.1 billion with certain national banks and a $1.5 billion uncommitted 
facility with Fannie Mae (collectively, the “Agency Warehouse Facilities”). In support of these Agency Warehouse Facil-
ities, the Company has pledged substantially all of its loans held for sale under the Company's approved programs. The 
Company’s ability to originate mortgage loans depends upon its ability to secure and maintain these types of short-term 
financings on acceptable terms. 

 
Additionally, at December 31, 2016, the Company has arranged for warehouse lines of credit in the amount of $0.4 

billion with certain national banks to assist in funding loans held for investment under the Interim Program (“Interim 
Warehouse Facilities”). The Company has pledged substantially all of its loans held for investment against these Interim 
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Warehouse Facilities. The Company’s ability to originate loans held for investment depends upon its ability to secure and 
maintain these types of short-term financings on acceptable terms. 

 
The maximum amount and outstanding borrowings under the warehouse notes payable at December 31, 2016 and 

2015 follow: 
 

  December 31, 2016      
(dollars in thousands)     Maximum     Outstanding      Loan Type            
Facility  Amount  Balance  Funded (1)  Interest rate  

Agency warehouse facility 
#1  $  425,000  $  109,087   LHFS   30-day LIBOR plus 1.40%  
Agency warehouse facility 
#2     650,000     274,181   LHFS   30-day LIBOR plus 1.40%  
Agency warehouse facility 
#3     680,000     320,801   LHFS   30-day LIBOR plus 1.35%  
Agency warehouse facility 
#4   350,000   186,869  LHFS  30-day LIBOR plus 1.40%  
Agency warehouse facility 
#5   30,000   14,551  LHFS  30-day LIBOR plus 1.80%  
Fannie Mae repurchase 
agreement, uncommitted 
line and open maturity     1,500,000     943,505   LHFS   30-day LIBOR plus 1.15%  

Total agency warehouse fa-
cilities  $  3,635,000  $  1,848,994      
          

Interim warehouse facility 
#1  $  85,000  $  36,916   LHFI   30-day LIBOR plus 1.90%  
Interim warehouse facility 
#2     200,000     70,196   LHFI   30-day LIBOR plus 2.00%  
Interim warehouse facility 
#3     75,000     36,005   LHFI   30-day LIBOR plus 2.00% to 2.50%  

Total interim warehouse fa-
cilities  $  360,000  $  143,117      

Debt issuance costs     —     (1,928)     
Total warehouse facilities  $  3,995,000  $  1,990,183      
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  December 31, 2015      
(dollars in thousands)     Maximum     Outstanding      Loan Type            
Facility  Amount  Balance  Funded (1)  Interest rate  

Agency warehouse facility 
#1  $  685,000  $  418,891   LHFS    30-day LIBOR plus 1.40% or 1.75% 
Agency warehouse facility 
#2     1,900,000     1,619,800   LHFS    30-day LIBOR plus 1.40%  
Agency warehouse facility 
#3     490,000     227,305   LHFS    30-day LIBOR plus 1.40%  
Agency warehouse facility 
#4   250,000   —  LHFS   30-day LIBOR plus 1.40%  
Fannie Mae repurchase 
agreement, uncommitted 
line and open maturity     450,000     212,988   LHFS    30-day LIBOR plus 1.15%  

Total agency warehouse fa-
cilities  $  3,775,000  $  2,478,984      
            

Interim warehouse facility 
#1  $  85,000  $  15,000   LHFI    30-day LIBOR plus 1.90%  
Interim warehouse facility 
#2     200,000     141,433   LHFI    30-day LIBOR plus 2.00%  
Interim warehouse facility 
#3     75,000     16,594   LHFI    30-day LIBOR plus 2.00% to 2.50%  

Total interim warehouse fa-
cilities  $  360,000  $  173,027      

Debt issuance costs     —     (2,541)     
Total warehouse facilities  $  4,135,000  $  2,649,470      

 
(1) Type of loan the borrowing facility is used to fully or partially fund – loans held for sale (“LHFS”) or loans held for investment 

(“LHFI”). 
 

30-day LIBOR was 0.77% as of December 31, 2016 and 0.43% as of December 31, 2015. Interest expense under 
the warehouse notes payable for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 aggregated to $36.6 million, $29.2 
million, and $18.2 million, respectively. Included in interest expense in 2016, 2015, and 2014 are the amortization of 
facility fees totaling $5.5 million, $4.5 million, and $3.4 million, respectively. The warehouse notes payable are subject to 
various financial covenants, and the Company was in compliance with all such covenants at December 31, 2016. 

 
Warehouse Facilities 
 

Agency Warehouse Facilities 
 
The following section provides a summary of the key terms related to each of the Agency Warehouse Facilities. 
 
Agency Warehouse Facility #1: 

The Company has a Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement with a national bank for a $425.0 million com-
mitted warehouse line that is scheduled to mature on October 30, 2017. The Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement 
provides the Company with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, and FHA loans. Advances are made at 
100% of the loan balance and borrowings under this line bear interest at the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate (“LI-
BOR”) plus 140 basis points.  The Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative 
covenants that are binding on the Company’s operating subsidiary, Walker & Dunlop, LLC (which are in some cases 
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subject to exceptions), including, but not limited to, restrictions on its ability to assume, guarantee, or become contingently 
liable for the obligation of another person, to undertake certain fundamental changes such as reorganizations, mergers, 
amendments to the Company’s certificate of formation or operating agreement, liquidations, dissolutions or dispositions 
or acquisitions of assets or businesses, to cease to be directly or indirectly wholly owned by the Company, to pay any 
subordinated debt in advance of its stated maturity or to take any action that would cause Walker & Dunlop, LLC to lose 
all or any part of its status as an eligible lender, seller, servicer or issuer or any license or approval required for it to engage 
in the business of originating, acquiring, or servicing mortgage loans. 

  
In addition, the Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement requires compliance with certain financial covenants, 

which are measured for the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as follows: 
  

• tangible net worth of the Company of not less than (i) $200.0 million plus (ii) 75% of the net proceeds of any 
equity issuances by the Company or any of its subsidiaries after the closing date, 

• compliance with the applicable net worth and liquidity requirements of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae, 
FHA, and HUD, 

• liquid assets of the Company of not less than $15.0 million, 
• maintenance of aggregate unpaid principal amount of all mortgage loans comprising the Company’s consolidated 

servicing portfolio of not less than $20.0 billion or (ii) all Fannie Mae DUS mortgage loans comprising the Com-
pany’s consolidated servicing portfolio of not less than $10.0 billion, exclusive in both cases of mortgage loans 
which are 60 or more days past due or are otherwise in default or have been transferred to Fannie Mae for reso-
lution, 

• aggregate unpaid principal amount of Fannie Mae DUS mortgage loans within the Company’s consolidated ser-
vicing portfolio which are 60 or more days past due or otherwise in default not to exceed 3.5% of the aggregate 
unpaid principal balance of all Fannie Mae DUS mortgage loans within the Company’s consolidated servicing 
portfolio, and 

• maximum indebtedness (excluding warehouse lines) to tangible net worth of 2.25 to 1.0. 
 

The Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement contains customary events of default, which are in some cases 
subject to certain exceptions, thresholds, notice requirements, and grace periods. 

 
During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company executed the 12th amendment to the credit and security agreement 

that extended the maturity date to October 30, 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 
2016. 

 
Agency Warehouse Facility #2: 
 
The Company has a Warehousing Credit and Security Agreement with a syndicate of national banks for a 

$650.0 million committed warehouse line that is scheduled to mature on June 21, 2017. The committed warehouse facility 
provides the Company with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD and FHA loans. Advances are made at 
100% of the loan balance, and borrowings under this line bear interest at LIBOR plus 140 basis points. During the second 
quarter of 2016, the Company executed the eighth amendment to the amended and restated credit and security agreement 
that extended the maturity date to June 21, 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 
2016. 

 
The negative and financial covenants of the amended and restated warehouse agreement conform to those of the 

warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio cove-
nant, which is not included in the warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #2. 
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Agency Warehouse Facility #3: 
 
The Company has a $680.0 million committed warehouse credit and security agreement with a national bank that is 

scheduled to mature on April 30, 2017. The total commitment amount of $680.0 million as of December 31, 2016 consists 
of a base committed amount of $280.0 million and a temporary increase of $400.0 million, as more fully described below. 
The committed warehouse facility provides the Company with the ability to fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD and 
FHA loans. Advances are made at 100% of the loan balance, and the borrowings under the warehouse agreement bear 
interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 135 basis points. During the second quarter of 2016, the Company executed the fourth 
amendment to the credit and security agreement that increased the committed amount to $280.0 million, decreased the 
interest rate to 30-day LIBOR plus 135 basis points, and extended the maturity date to April 30, 2017. Additionally, during 
the second and third quarters of 2016, the Company executed the fifth and sixth amendments to the credit and security 
agreement that provide temporary increases totaling $400.0 million to the maximum borrowing capacity that expire in 
January 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 

 
The negative and financial covenants of the warehouse agreement conform to those of the warehouse agreement for 

Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above. 

Agency Warehouse Facility #4: 
 
The Company has a $350.0 million committed warehouse credit and security agreement with a national bank that is 

scheduled to mature on October 27, 2017. The committed warehouse facility provides the Company with the ability to 
fund Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, HUD, and FHA loans. The borrowings under the warehouse agreement bear interest at a 
rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 140 basis points. During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company executed the second amend-
ment to the warehouse loan and security agreement that provided a $100.0 million permanent increase to the maximum 
borrowing capacity and extended the maturity date of the facility to October 27, 2017.  No other material modifications 
were made to the agreement during 2016.  

 
The negative and financial covenants of the warehouse agreement conform to those of the warehouse agreement for 

Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio covenant, which is not included 
in the warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #4. 

Agency Warehouse Facility #5:  
   
During the third quarter of 2016, the Company executed a warehousing credit and security agreement to establish 

Agency Warehouse Facility #5. The committed warehouse facility provides the Company with the ability to fund defaulted 
HUD and FHA loans. The warehouse agreement provides for a maximum borrowing amount of $30.0 million and is 
scheduled to mature in January 2018. The borrowings under the warehouse agreement bear interest at a rate of 30-day 
LIBOR plus 180 basis points. No material modifications were made to the agreement in 2016. 

 
The negative and financial covenants of the warehouse agreement conform to those of the warehouse agreement for 

Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio covenant, which is not included 
in the warehouse agreement for Agency Warehouse Facility #5. 

 
Uncommitted Agency Warehouse Facility: 
 

The Company has a $1.5 billion uncommitted facility with Fannie Mae under its ASAP funding program. After 
approval of certain loan documents, Fannie Mae will fund loans after closing and the advances are used to repay the 
primary warehouse line. Fannie Mae will advance 99% of the loan balance, and borrowings under this program bear 
interest at LIBOR plus 115 basis points, with a minimum LIBOR rate of 35 basis points. There is no expiration date for 
this facility. During 2016, Fannie Mae increased the maximum borrowing capacity from $450.0 million to $1.5 billion. 
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The uncommitted facility has no specific negative or financial covenants. 
 
Interim Warehouse Facilities 
 
The following section provides a summary of the key terms related to each of the Interim Warehouse Facilities. 
 
Interim Warehouse Facility #1: 
 
The Company has an $85.0 million committed warehouse line agreement that is scheduled to mature on April 30, 

2017. The facility provides the Company with the ability to fund first mortgage loans on multifamily real estate properties 
for periods of up to three years, using available cash in combination with advances under the facility. Borrowings under 
the facility are full recourse to the Company. Repayments under the credit agreement are interest-only, with principal 
repayments made upon the earlier of the refinancing of an underlying mortgage or the maturity of an advance under the 
credit agreement. During the second quarter of 2016, the Company executed the sixth amendment to the credit and security 
agreement that extended the maturity date to April 30, 2017. No other material modifications were made to the agreement 
during 2016. 

 
The facility agreement requires the Company’s compliance with the same financial covenants as Agency Warehouse 

Facility #1, described above, and also includes the following additional financial covenant: 

• minimum rolling four-quarter EBITDA, as defined, to total debt service ratio of 2.00 to 1.0 
 
Interim Warehouse Facility #2: 
 
The Company has a $200.0 million committed warehouse line agreement that is scheduled to mature on December 

13, 2017.  The agreement provides the Company with the ability to fund first mortgage loans on multifamily real estate 
properties for periods of up to three years, using available cash in combination with advances under the facility. Borrow-
ings under the facility are full recourse to the Company. All borrowings originally bear interest at LIBOR plus 200 basis 
points.  The lender retains a first priority security interest in all mortgages funded by such advances on a cross-collateral-
ized basis.  Repayments under the credit agreement are interest-only, with principal repayments made upon the earlier of 
the refinancing of an underlying mortgage or the maturity of an advance under the credit agreement. No material modifi-
cations were made to the agreement during 2016. 

 
The credit agreement, as amended and restated, requires the borrower and the Company to abide by the same finan-

cial covenants as Agency Warehouse Facility #1, described above, with the exception of the leverage ratio covenant, which 
is not included in the warehouse agreement for Interim Warehouse Facility #2. Additionally, Interim Warehouse Facility 
#2 has the following additional financial covenants: 

 
• rolling four-quarter EBITDA, as defined, of not less than $35.0 million and 
• debt service coverage ratio, as defined, of not less than 2.75 to 1.0 
 
Interim Warehouse Facility #3: 
 
The Company has a $75.0 million repurchase agreement with a national bank that is scheduled to mature on May 

19, 2017. The agreement provides the Company with the ability to fund first mortgage loans on multifamily real estate 
properties for periods of up to three years, using available cash in combination with advances under the facility. Borrow-
ings under the facility are full recourse to the Company. The borrowings under the agreement bear interest at a rate of 
LIBOR plus 2.00% to 2.50% (“the spread”). The spread varies according to the type of asset the borrowing finances. 
Repayments under the credit agreement are interest-only, with principal repayments made upon the earlier of the refinanc-
ing of an underlying mortgage or the maturity of an advance under the credit agreement. During the second quarter of 
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2016, the Company exercised its option to extend the maturity date of the repurchase agreement to May 19, 2017. Addi-
tionally, the Company executed the second amendment to the repurchase agreement that provides the Company with an 
additional unilateral option to extend the maturity date one year. As a result of the amendment, the Company now has 
three remaining one-year options that, if exercised, extend the maturity date through May 19, 2020. No other material 
modifications were made to the agreement during 2016. 

 
The Repurchase Agreement requires the borrower and the Company to abide by the following financial covenants: 
 
• tangible net worth of the Company of not less than (i) $200.0 million plus (ii) 75% of the net proceeds of any 

equity issuances by the Company or any of its subsidiaries after the closing date, 
• liquid assets of the Company of not less than $15.0 million, 
• leverage ratio, as defined, of not more than 3.0 to 1.0, and 
• debt service coverage ratio, as defined, of not less than 2.75 to 1.0. 
 
 
The agreements above contain cross-default provisions, such that if a default occurs under any of the Company’s 

debt agreements, generally the lenders under the other debt agreements could also declare a default. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2016, the Company was in compliance with all of its warehouse line covenants. 

 
Note Payable 
 

On December 20, 2013, the Company entered into a $175.0 million senior secured term loan credit agreement (the 
“Term Loan Agreement”) that was issued at a discount of 1.0%. At any time, the Company may also elect to request the 
establishment of one or more incremental term loan commitments to make up to three additional term loans in an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed $60.0 million.  

 
The term loan requires certain mandatory prepayments in certain circumstances pursuant to the terms of the Term 

Loan Agreement. In April of 2015, the Company made a mandatory prepayment of $3.6 million. In connection with the 
mandatory prepayment, the Company’s quarterly principal installments were reduced to $0.3 million from $0.4 million, 
beginning with the June 30, 2015 principal payment. The final principal installment of the term loan is required to be paid 
in full on the maturity date of December 20, 2020 (or, if earlier, the date of acceleration of the term loan pursuant to the 
terms of the Term Loan Agreement) and will be in an amount equal to the aggregate outstanding principal of the term loan 
on such date (together with all accrued interest thereon).  

 
At the Company’s election, the term loan will bear interest at either (i) the “Base Rate” plus an applicable margin 

or (ii) the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR Rate”) plus an applicable margin, subject to adjustment if an event of 
default under the Term Loan Agreement has occurred and is continuing with a minimum LIBOR Rate of 1.0%. The “Base 
Rate” means the highest of (a) the Agent’s “prime rate,” (b) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (c) LIBOR for an interest 
period of one month plus 1%. In each case, the applicable margin is determined by the Company’s Consolidated Corporate 
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement). If such Consolidated Corporate Leverage Ratio is greater than 
2.50 to 1.00, the applicable margin will be 4.50% for LIBOR Rate loans and 3.50% for Base Rate loans, and if such 
Consolidated Corporate Leverage Ratio is less than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00, the applicable margin will be 4.25% for 
LIBOR Rate loans and 3.25% for Base Rate loans. The calculated Consolidated Corporate Leverage Ratio dropped to 
below 2.50 in 2014. Consequently, the applicable margin is 4.25% for LIBOR Rate loans and 3.25% for Base Rate loans 
as of December 31, 2016. 

 
The obligations of the Company under the Term Loan Agreement are guaranteed by Walker & Dunlop Multifamily, 

Inc.; Walker & Dunlop, LLC; Walker & Dunlop Capital, LLC; and W&D BE, Inc., each of which is a direct or indirect 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Company, the “Loan Parties”), pursuant to a Guarantee and 
Collateral Agreement entered into on December 20, 2013 among the Loan Parties and the Agent (the “Guarantee and 
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Collateral Agreement”). Subject to certain exceptions and qualifications contained in the Term Loan Agreement, the Com-
pany is required to cause any newly created or acquired subsidiary, unless such subsidiary has been designated as an 
Excluded Subsidiary (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement) by the Company in accordance with the terms of the Term 
Loan Agreement, to guarantee the obligations of the Company under the Term Loan Agreement and become a party to the 
Guarantee and Collateral Agreement. The Company may designate a newly created or acquired subsidiary as an Excluded 
Subsidiary so long as certain conditions and requirements provided for in the Term Loan Agreement are met. 

 
The Term Loan Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants that are binding on the Loan Parties, 

including, but not limited to, restrictions (subject to specified exceptions and qualifications) on the ability of the Loan 
Parties to incur indebtedness, to create liens on their property, to make investments, to merge, consolidate or enter into 
any similar combination, or enter into any asset disposition of all or substantially all assets, or liquidate, wind-up or dis-
solve, to make asset dispositions, to declare or pay dividends or make related distributions, to enter into certain transactions 
with affiliates, to enter into any negative pledges or other restrictive agreements, to engage in any business other than the 
business of the Loan Parties as of the date of the Term Loan Agreement and business activities reasonably related or 
ancillary thereto, to amend certain material contracts or to enter into any sale leaseback arrangements.  

 
In addition, the Term Loan Agreement requires the Company to abide by certain financial covenants calculated for 

the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as follows:  
 
• As of the last day of any fiscal quarter ending during the periods specified below, permit the Consolidated Cor-

porate Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement) to be greater than the corresponding ratio set 
forth below:   

     Maximum Ratio 
Closing Date through December 31, 2014       5.00 to  1.0     
January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015    4.75 to  1.0  
January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016    4.50 to  1.0  
January 1, 2017 and thereafter    4.25 to  1.0  

 
• As of the last day of any fiscal quarter permit the Consolidated Corporate Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined in 

the Term Loan Agreement) to be less than 2.75 to 1.00. 
 
• As of the last day of any fiscal quarter permit the Asset Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement) 

to be less than 1.50 to 1.00. 
 
The Term Loan Agreement contains customary events of default (which are in some cases subject to certain excep-

tions, thresholds, notice requirements and grace periods), including, but not limited to, non-payment of principal or interest 
or other amounts, misrepresentations, failure to perform or observe covenants, cross-defaults with certain other indebted-
ness or material agreements, certain change in control events, voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, failure of 
the Term Loan Agreement or other loan documents to be valid and binding, and certain ERISA events and judgments. As 
of December 31, 2016, the Company was in compliance with all covenants related to the Term Loan Agreement. 
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The following table shows the components of the note payable as of December 31, 2016 and 2015: 
          
(in thousands, unless otherwise specified)  December 31,     
Component     2016     2015   Interest rate and repayments  
Unpaid principal balance  $ 167,327  $168,431  Interest rate varies - see above for 

further details;  
Unamortized debt discount    (987)   (1,238) quarterly principal payments of 

$0.3 million  
Unamortized debt issuance costs    (2,177)   (2,731)   
Carrying balance  $ 164,163  $164,462    

 
The scheduled maturities, as of December 31, 2016, for the aggregate of the warehouse notes payable and the note 

payable is shown below. The warehouse notes payable obligations are incurred in support of the related loans held for sale 
and loans held for investment. Amounts advanced under the warehouse notes payable for loans held for sale are included 
in the subsequent year as the amounts are usually drawn and repaid within 60 days. The amounts included below related 
to the note payable include only the quarterly and final principal payments required by the related credit agreement (i.e., 
the non-contingent payments) and do not include any principal payments that are contingent upon Company cash flow, as 
defined in the credit agreement (i.e., the contingent payments). The maturities below are in thousands. 

 
Year Ending December 31,     Maturities   

2017  $ 1,874,653  
2018    115,048  
2019    5,722  
2020    164,015  
2021    —  
Thereafter    —  

Total  $ 2,159,438  
 
All of the debt instruments, including the warehouse facilities, are senior obligations of the Company. All warehouse 

notes payable balances associated with loans held for sale and outstanding as of December 31, 2016 were or will be repaid 
in 2017. 

 

NOTE 8—GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

A summary of the Company’s goodwill as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 follows: 
        
  As of and for the  
  Years Ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015  
Beginning balance  $  90,338  $  74,525  

Additions from acquisitions     6,082     15,713  
Retrospective adjustments     —     100  
Impairment     —     —  

Ending balance  $  96,420  $  90,338  
 
The addition from acquisitions shown in the table above relates to an immaterial acquisition completed on November 

28, 2016. The Company purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of George Elkins Mortgage Banking 
Company (“Elkins”), a small regional commercial mortgage banking company based in California, for $6.5 million in 
cash. Substantially all of the value associated with Elkins related to its assembled workforce and commercial lending 
platform, resulting in $6.1 million of goodwill. The goodwill is expected to be tax deductible over 15 years. The other 
assets acquired included an immaterial mortgage pipeline intangible asset and cash of $150 thousand, with no liabilities 
assumed. The operations of Elkins have been merged into the Company’s existing operations. As noted above in NOTE 
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2, all goodwill, including the goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Elkins, is allocated to the Company’s one reporting 
unit. 

 
The fair value of consideration transferred was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date, with the remaining unallocated amount recognized as 
goodwill. The fair value assigned to the identifiable intangible assets acquired was determined using the market and income 
approaches. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has fully amortized all intangible assets obtained from acquisitions. 
 

NOTE 9—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are consistent with the market approach, the income approach, and/or 
the cost approach to measure assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value. Inputs to valuation techniques refer to 
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Inputs may be observable, meaning 
those that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market 
data obtained from independent sources, or unobservable, meaning those that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions 
about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best infor-
mation available in the circumstances. In that regard, accounting standards establish a fair value hierarchy for valuation 
inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows: 

 
• Level 1—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. 
 
• Level 2—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on inputs other than quoted prices included in 

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These might include quoted 
prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities 
in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as 
interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks, etc.) or inputs that are derived principally from or 
corroborated by market data by correlation or other means. 

 
• Level 3—Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on inputs that are both unobservable and signif-

icant to the overall valuation. 
 

The Company's MSRs are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. That is, the instruments are not measured 
at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances (for example, when 
there is evidence of impairment). The Company's MSRs do not trade in an active, open market with readily observable 
prices. While sales of multifamily MSRs do occur on occasion, precise terms and conditions vary with each transaction 
and are not readily available. Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the Company’s MSRs was developed using dis-
counted cash flow models that calculate the present value of estimated future net servicing income. The model considers 
contractually specified servicing fees, prepayment assumptions, delinquency rates, late charges, other ancillary revenue, 
costs to service, and other economic factors. The Company periodically reassesses and adjusts, when necessary, the un-
derlying inputs and assumptions used in the model to reflect observable market conditions and assumptions that a market 
participant would consider in valuing an MSR asset. MSRs are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. 

 
A description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value, as well as the 
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general classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below. These valuation method-
ologies were applied to all of the Company's assets and liabilities carried at fair value: 

 
• Derivative Instruments—The derivative positions consist of interest rate lock commitments and forward sale 

agreements. These instruments are valued using a discounted cash flow model developed based on changes in the 
U.S. Treasury rate and other observable market data. The value was determined after considering the potential 
impact of collateralization, adjusted to reflect nonperformance risk of both the counterparty and the Company, 
and are classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. 

 
• Loans Held for Sale—Loans held for sale are reported at fair value. The Company determines the fair value of 

the loans held for sale using discounted cash flow models that incorporate quoted observable prices from market 
participants. Therefore, the Company classifies these loans held for sale as Level 2. 

 
• Pledged Securities—Pledged securities are valued using quoted market prices from recent trades. Therefore, the 

Company classifies pledged securities as Level 1.  
 
The following table summarizes financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy used to 
measure fair value: 

 
     Quoted Prices in      Significant      Significant             
  Active Markets  Other  Other     
  For Identical  Observable  Unobservable     
  Assets  Inputs  Inputs  Balance as of  
(in thousands)  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  Period End  
December 31, 2016  

Assets  
Loans held for sale $  — $  1,858,358 $  — $  1,858,358 
Pledged securities    84,850    —    —    84,850 
Derivative assets    —    —    61,824    61,824 

Total $  84,850 $  1,858,358 $  61,824 $  2,005,032 
  

Liabilities  
Derivative liabilities $  — $ $  4,396 $  4,396 

Total $  — $  — $  4,396 $  4,396 
 

December 31, 2015  
Assets  

Loans held for sale $  — $  2,499,111 $  — $  2,499,111 
Pledged securities    72,190    —    —    72,190 
Derivative assets    —    —    11,678    11,678 

Total $  72,190 $  2,499,111 $  11,678 $  2,582,979 
  

Liabilities  
Derivative liabilities $  — $  — $  1,333 $  1,333 

Total $  — $  — $  1,333 $  1,333 
 
There were no transfers between any of the levels within the fair value hierarchy during the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2016 and 2015. 
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Derivative instruments (Level 3) are outstanding for short periods of time (generally less than 60 days). A roll for-
ward of derivative instruments is presented below: 

 
  Fair Value Measurements  
  Using Significant   
  Unobservable Inputs:  
  Derivative Instruments  
(in thousands)     December 31, 2016   
Derivative assets and liabilities, net           
Beginning balance December 31, 2015 $  10,345 

Settlements     (320,102)
Realized gains recorded in earnings (1)    309,757 
Unrealized gains recorded in earnings (1)    57,428 

Ending balance December 31, 2016  $  57,428  
 

  Fair Value Measurements  
  Using Significant   
  Unobservable Inputs:  
  Derivative Instruments  
(in thousands)     December 31, 2015   
Derivative assets and liabilities, net           
Beginning balance December 31, 2014 $  9,658 

Settlements     (289,779)
Realized gains (losses) recorded in earnings (1)    280,121 
Unrealized gains (losses) recorded in earnings (1)    10,345 

Ending balance December 31, 2015  $  10,345  
 

(1) Realized and unrealized gains from derivatives are recognized in Gains from mortgage banking activities in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. 

 

The following table presents information about significant unobservable inputs used in the recurring measurement 
of the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2016: 

           
  Quantitative Information about Level 3 Measurements  
(in thousands)     Fair Value     Valuation Technique      Unobservable Input (1)     Input Value (1)  
Derivative assets  $  61,824   Discounted cash flow   Counterparty credit risk    —  
Derivative liabilities  $  4,396   Discounted cash flow   Counterparty credit risk    —  

 
(1) Significant increases in this input may lead to significantly lower fair value measurements. 
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The carrying amounts and the fair values of the Company's financial instruments as of December 31, 2016 and 
December 31, 2015 are presented below: 

              
  December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015  
     Carrying      Fair      Carrying      Fair  
(in thousands)  Amount  Value  Amount  Value  
Financial assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $  118,756 $  118,756 $  136,988 $  136,988 
Restricted cash    9,861    9,861    5,306    5,306 
Pledged securities    84,850    84,850    72,190    72,190 
Loans held for sale    1,858,358    1,858,358    2,499,111    2,499,111 
Loans held for investment, net    220,377    222,313    231,493    233,370 
Derivative assets    61,824    61,824    11,678    11,678 

Total financial assets $  2,354,026 $  2,355,962 $  2,956,766 $  2,958,643 
 
Financial liabilities: 

Derivative liabilities $  4,396 $  4,396 $  1,333 $  1,333 
Warehouse notes payable    1,990,183    1,992,111    2,649,470    2,652,011 
Note payable    164,163    167,327    164,462    168,431 

Total financial liabilities $  2,158,742 $  2,163,834 $  2,815,265 $  2,821,775 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments 

for which it is practicable to estimate that value: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash—The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short 

maturity of these instruments (Level 1). 
 
Pledged Securities—Consist of highly liquid investments in money market accounts invested in government secu-

rities and investments in government guaranteed securities. Investments generally have maturities of 90 days or less and 
are valued using quoted market prices from recent trades. 

 
Loans Held For Sale—Consist of originated loans that are generally transferred or sold within 60 days from the date 

that a mortgage loan is funded and are valued using discounted cash flow models that incorporate observable prices from 
market participants. 

 
Loans Held For Investment—Consist of originated interim loans which the Company expects to hold for investment 

for the term of the loan, which is three years or less, and are valued using discounted cash flow models that incorporate 
primarily observable inputs from market participants and also credit-related adjustments, if applicable (Level 3). As of 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, no credit-related adjustments were required.  

 
Derivative Instruments—Consist of interest rate lock commitments and forward sale agreements. These instruments 

are valued using discounted cash flow models developed based on changes in the U.S. Treasury rate and other observable 
market data. The value is determined after considering the potential impact of collateralization, adjusted to reflect nonper-
formance risk of both the counterparty and the Company. 

 
Warehouse Notes Payable—Consist of borrowings outstanding under warehouse line agreements. The borrowing 

rates on the warehouse lines are based upon 30-day LIBOR plus a margin. The unpaid principal balance of warehouse 
notes payable approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments and the monthly resetting of the 
index rate to prevailing market rates (Level 2). 

 
Note Payable—Consists of borrowings outstanding under a term note agreement. The borrowing rate on the note 
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payable is based upon 30-day LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The Company estimates the fair value by discounting the 
future cash flows at market rates (Level 2). 

 
Fair Value of Derivative Instruments and Loans Held for Sale—In the normal course of business, the Company 

enters into contractual commitments to originate and sell multifamily mortgage loans at fixed prices with fixed expiration 
dates. The commitments become effective when the borrowers "lock-in" a specified interest rate within time frames estab-
lished by the Company. All mortgagors are evaluated for creditworthiness prior to the extension of the commitment. Mar-
ket risk arises if interest rates move adversely between the time of the "lock-in" of rates by the borrower and the sale date 
of the loan to an investor. 

 
To mitigate the effect of the interest rate risk inherent in providing rate lock commitments to borrowers, the Com-

pany's policy is to enter into a sale commitment with the investor simultaneous with the rate lock commitment with the 
borrower. The sale contract with the investor locks in an interest rate and price for the sale of the loan. The terms of the 
contract with the investor and the rate lock with the borrower are matched in substantially all respects, with the objective 
of eliminating interest rate risk to the extent practical. Sale commitments with the investors have an expiration date that is 
longer than our related commitments to the borrower to allow, among other things, for the closing of the loan and pro-
cessing of paperwork to deliver the loan into the sale commitment. 

 
Both the rate lock commitments to borrowers and the forward sale contracts to buyers are undesignated derivatives 

and, accordingly, are marked to fair value through Gains on mortgage banking activities in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income. The fair value of the Company's rate lock commitments to borrowers and loans held for sale and the related 
input levels includes, as applicable: 
 

• the assumed gain of the expected resultant loan sale to the investor (Level 2); 
• the expected net cash flows associated with servicing the loan, net of any guaranty obligations retained (Level 2);  
• the effects of interest rate movements between the date of the rate lock and the balance sheet date (Level 2); and 
• the nonperformance risk of both the counterparty and the Company (Level 3). 

 
The fair value of the Company's forward sales contracts to investors considers effects of interest rate movements 

between the trade date and the balance sheet date (Level 2). The market price changes are multiplied by the notional 
amount of the forward sales contracts to measure the fair value. 

 
The assumed gain considers the amount that the Company has discounted the price to the borrower from par for 

competitive reasons, if at all, and the expected net cash flows from servicing to be received upon sale of the loan (Level 
2). The fair value of the expected net cash flows associated with servicing the loan is calculated pursuant to the valuation 
techniques applicable to MSRs (Level 2). 

 
To calculate the effects of interest rate movements, the Company uses applicable published U.S. Treasury prices, 

and multiplies the price movement between the rate lock date and the balance sheet date by the notional loan commitment 
amount (Level 2). 

 
The fair value of the Company's forward sales contracts to investors considers the market price movement of the 

same type of security between the trade date and the balance sheet date (Level 2). The market price changes are multiplied 
by the notional amount of the forward sales contracts to measure the fair value. 

 
The fair value of the Company’s interest rate lock commitments and forward sales contracts is adjusted to reflect 

the risk that the agreement will not be fulfilled. The Company’s exposure to nonperformance in interest rate lock commit-
ments and forward sale contracts is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. Given the credit quality 
of our counterparties and the short duration of interest rate lock commitments and forward sale contracts, the risk of 
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nonperformance by the Company’s counterparties has historically not been significant (Level 3). 
 
The following table presents the components of fair value and other relevant information associated with the Com-

pany’s derivative instruments and loans held for sale as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 

                       

     Fair Value Adjustment Components  Balance Sheet Location   
                                            Fair Value   
  Notional or  Assumed     Total        Adjustment   
  Principal  Gain  Interest Rate  Fair Value   Derivative  Derivative  To Loans    
(in thousands)  Amount  on Sale  Movement  Adjustment  Assets  Liabilities  Held for Sale   
December 31, 2016                       

Rate lock commitments  $  395,462  $  15,844  $  (2,275) $  13,569  $  14,482  $  (913) $  —  
Forward sale contracts     2,248,385     —     43,859     43,859     47,342     (3,483)    —  
Loans held for sale     1,852,923     47,019     (41,584)    5,435     —     —     5,435  

Total     $  62,863  $  —  $  62,863  $  61,824  $  (4,396) $  5,435  
                       
December 31, 2015                       

Rate lock commitments  $  267,710  $  9,467  $  (1,494) $  7,973  $  7,973  $  —  $  —  
Forward sale contracts     2,747,590     —     2,371     2,371     3,705     (1,333)    —  
Loans held for sale     2,479,880     20,108     (877)    19,231     —     —     19,231  

Total     $  29,575  $  —  $  29,575  $  11,678  $  (1,333) $  19,231  
 

NOTE 10—LITIGATION, COMMITMENTS, AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Fannie Mae DUS Related Commitments—Commitments for the origination and subsequent sale and delivery of 
loans to Fannie Mae represent those mortgage loan transactions where the borrower has locked an interest rate and sched-
uled closing and the Company has entered into a mandatory delivery commitment to sell the loan to Fannie Mae. As 
discussed in NOTE 9, the Company accounts for these commitments as derivatives recorded at fair value. 

 
The Company is generally required to share the risk of any losses associated with loans sold under the Fannie Mae 

DUS program. The Company is required to secure these obligations by assigning restricted cash balances and securities to 
Fannie Mae. The amount of collateral required by Fannie Mae is a formulaic calculation at the loan level and considers 
the balance of the loan, the risk level of the loan, the age of the loan, and the level of risk-sharing. Fannie Mae requires 
restricted liquidity for Tier 2 loans of 75 basis points, which is funded over a 48-month period that begins upon delivery 
of the loan to Fannie Mae. Restricted liquidity held in the form of money market funds holding U.S. Treasuries is dis-
counted 5% for purposes of calculating compliance with the restricted liquidity requirements. As of December 31, 2016, 
the Company held substantially all of its restricted liquidity in money market funds holding U.S. Treasuries. Additionally, 
substantially all of the loans for which the Company has risk sharing are Tier 2 loans. 

 
The Company is in compliance with the December 31, 2016 collateral requirements as outlined above. As of De-

cember 31, 2016, reserve requirements for the December 31, 2016 DUS loan portfolio will require the Company to fund 
$54.0 million in additional restricted liquidity over the next 48 months, assuming no further principal paydowns, prepay-
ments, or defaults within the at risk portfolio. Fannie Mae periodically reassesses the DUS Capital Standards and may 
make changes to these standards in the future. The Company generates sufficient cash flow from its operations to meet 
these capital standards and does not expect any future changes to have a material impact on its future operations; however, 
any future changes to collateral requirements may adversely impact the Company’s available cash.  

 
Fannie Mae has established benchmark standards for capital adequacy, and reserves the right to terminate the Com-

pany's servicing authority for all or some of the portfolio if at any time it determines that the Company's financial condition 
is not adequate to support its obligations under the DUS agreement. The Company is required to maintain acceptable net 
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worth as defined in the agreement, and the Company satisfied the requirements as of December 31, 2016. The net worth 
requirement is derived primarily from unpaid balances on Fannie Mae loans and the level of risk sharing. At Decem-
ber 31, 2016, the net worth requirement was $129.6 million, and the Company's net worth was $633.2 million, as measured 
at our wholly owned operating subsidiary, Walker & Dunlop, LLC. As of December 31, 2016, the Company was required 
to maintain at least $25.1 million of liquid assets to meet operational liquidity requirements for Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, 
HUD, and Ginnie Mae. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had operational liquidity of $115.8 million, as measured 
at our wholly owned operating subsidiary, Walker & Dunlop, LLC. 

 
Other Commitments—Under certain limited circumstances, the Company may make preferred equity investments 

in entities controlled by certain of its borrowers that will assist those borrowers to acquire and reposition properties. The 
terms of such investments are negotiated with each investment. As of December 31, 2016, the Company has made com-
mitments to fund such preferred equity investments in monthly installments totaling $42.8 million, $24.8 million of which 
has been funded. The Company expects to fund the remaining commitment amount over the next 12 months. 

 
Litigation—In the ordinary course of business, the Company may be party to various claims and litigation, none of 

which the Company believes is material. The Company cannot predict the outcome of any pending litigation and may be 
subject to consequences that could include fines, penalties, and other costs, and the Company’s reputation and business 
may be impacted. The Company believes that any liability that could be imposed on the Company in connection with the 
disposition of any pending lawsuits would not have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations, liquidity, 
or financial condition. 

 
Lease Commitments—In the normal course of business, the Company enters into lease arrangements for all of its 

office space. All such lease arrangements are accounted for as operating leases. Rent expense related to these lease agree-
ments is recognized on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Rent expense was $6.4 million, $5.9 million, and 
$5.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively. 

 
Minimum cash basis operating lease commitments follow (in thousands): 

     
Year Ending December 31,          

2017  $  5,328  
2018    5,236  
2019    4,554  
2020    4,158  
2021    3,743  
Thereafter    6,404  

Total  $  29,423  
 

 
NOTE 11—SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
 

As of December 31, 2016, there were 8.5 million shares of stock authorized for issuance to directors, officers, and 
employees under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2016, 2.9 million shares remain available for grant 
under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
During 2016, 2015, and 2014, the Company granted stock options to executive officers under the 2015 Equity 

Incentive Plan and restricted shares to officers, employees, and non-employee directors, without cost to the grantee. During 
2016, 2015, and 2014, the Company also granted 0.5 million, zero, and 0.6 million RSUs, respectively, to the officers and 
certain other employees in connection with PSPs. The Company granted the RSUs at the maximum performance thresholds 
for each metric each year. As of December 31, 2016, all of these RSUs are unvested and outstanding. 

 
The performance period for the 2014 PSP concluded on December 31, 2016. The two performance goals related to 

the 2014 PSP were met at varying levels. Accordingly, 0.6 million shares related to the 2014 PSP vested in the first quarter 
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of 2017. As of December 31, 2016, the Company concluded that the three performance targets related to the 2016 PSP 
were probable of achievement at varying levels. 

 
The following table summarizes stock compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 

2014: 
 

Components of stock compensation expense (in thousands)      2016     2015     2014   
Restricted shares  $ 10,272  $  8,214  $  7,105  
Stock options    1,768    1,957    1,878  
2014 PSP    3,625    3,913    1,011  
2016 PSP    2,812    —    —  

Total stock compensation expense  $ 18,477  $ 14,084  $  9,994  
           
Excess tax benefit (shortfall) recognized  $  631  $  1,410  $  (38) 

 
The restricted shares amounts in the table above include both equity-classified awards granted in restricted shares 

and liability-classified awards to be granted in restricted shares. 
 
The following table summarizes restricted share activity for the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 

    Weighted-  
    Average  
    Grant-date  
Restricted Shares      Shares      Fair Value   
Nonvested at January 1, 2016   1,312,774  $  19.99  

Granted   645,533    21.51  
Vested    (452,856)   19.38  
Forfeited   (23,968)   27.78  

Nonvested at December 31, 2016   1,481,483  $  20.71  
 
The fair value of restricted share awards granted during 2016 was estimated using the closing price on the date of 

grant. The weighted average grant date fair values of restricted shares granted in 2015 and 2014 were $21.03 per share and 
$16.60 per share, respectively. The fair values of the restricted shares that vested during the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 were $10.3 million, $9.6 million, and $6.2 million, respectively. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, the total unrecognized compensation cost for outstanding restricted shares was $17.5 

million. As of December 31, 2016, the weighted-average period over which the unrecognized compensation cost will be 
recognized is 2.8 years. 



Walker & Dunlop, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

F-41 

 
The following table summarizes stock options activity for the year ended December 31, 2016: 
 

       Weighted-     
    Weighted-  Average  Aggregate  
    Average  Remaining  Intrinsic  
    Exercise  Contract Life Value  
Stock Options     Options     Price     (Years)      (in thousands)  
Outstanding at January 1, 2016   1,106,352  $  16.30       

Granted   207,180    20.40       
Exercised   (18,157)   26.97       
Forfeited   —    —       
Expired   —    —       

Outstanding at December 31, 2016   1,295,375  $  16.97   7.0  $  18,436  
            

Exercisable at December 31, 2016   815,080  $  16.14   6.2  $  12,279  
 
The total intrinsic value of the stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 

was $0.2 million, $2.6 million, and less than $0.1 million, respectively. We received no cash from the exercise of options 
for each of the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, the total unrecognized compensation cost for outstanding options was $1.7 million. As 

of December 31, 2016, the weighted-average period over which the unrecognized compensation cost will be recognized 
is 1.7 years. 

 
The fair value of stock option awards granted during 2016, 2015, and 2014 were estimated on the grant date using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on the following inputs: 
           
     2016      2015      2014    
Estimated option life   6.00 years  6.00 years  6.00 years  
Risk free interest rate    1.31 %   1.68 %   1.86 %
Expected volatility    34.42 %   33.48 %   35.35 %
Expected dividend rate    0.00 %   0.00 %   0.00 %
Weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted  $  7.21  $  5.90  $  6.35  

 

NOTE 12—EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

The following weighted average shares and share equivalents are used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per 
share for years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014: 

        
  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)  2016      2015      2014  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate 

basic earnings per share   29,432    29,754    32,210 
       
Dilutive securities       
Unvested restricted shares and restricted share units   1,403    952    — 
Stock options   337    243    414 
Weighted average number of shares and share equivalents outstanding 

used to calculate diluted earnings per share   31,172    30,949    32,624 
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The assumed proceeds used for calculating the dilutive impact of restricted stock awards under the treasury method 
includes the unrecognized compensation costs associated with the awards. The following table presents any average out-
standing options to purchase shares of common stock and average restricted shares that were not included in the compu-
tation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive (the exercise price of the options or 
the grant date market price of the restricted shares was greater than the average market price of the Company’s shares 
during the periods presented). 

        
  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)  2016      2015      2014  
Average options   181   —   611  
Average restricted shares   181   14   —  

 
Under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, subject to the Company’s approval, grantees have the option of electing to 

satisfy tax withholding obligations at the time of vesting or exercise by allowing the Company to withhold and purchase 
the shares of stock otherwise issuable to the grantee. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, the Com-
pany repurchased and retired 0.2 million, 0.2 million, and 0.1 million restricted shares at a weighted average market price 
of $22.74, $20.11, and $15.53, upon grantee vesting, respectively. 

 
In the first quarter of 2014, the Company repurchased 2.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock from one 

of its largest stockholders at the time at a price of $14.50 per share, which was below the quoted price at the time, and 
immediately retired the shares, reducing stockholders’ equity by approximately $35.5 million. 

In the first quarter of 2015, the Company repurchased 3.0 million shares of its common stock from one of its largest 
stockholders at the time at a price of $15.60 per share, which was below the quoted price at the time, and immediately 
retired the shares, reducing stockholders’ equity by $46.8 million. 

During the first quarter of 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to 
$75.0 million of its common stock over a 12-month period. During 2016, the Company repurchased 0.4 million shares of 
its common stock under the share repurchase program at a weighted average price of $23.11 per share and immediately 
retired the shares, reducing stockholders’ equity by $9.2 million. The Company had $65.8 million of authorized share 
repurchase capacity remaining as of December 31, 2016. In February 2017, our Board for Directors approved a new stock 
repurchase program that permits the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of shares of our common stock over a 12-month 
period beginning on February 10, 2017. 
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NOTE 13—INCOME TAXES 
 
Income Tax Expense 

 
The Company calculates its provision for federal and state income taxes based on current tax law. The reported tax 

provision differs from the amounts currently receivable or payable because some income and expense items are recognized 
in different time periods for financial reporting purposes than for income tax purposes. The following is a summary of 
income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014: 

           
  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015      2014  
Current          

Federal  $ 28,699  $ 29,117  $  19,309  
State    5,176    5,325    2,959  

Total  $ 33,875  $ 34,442  $  22,268  
           
Deferred           

Federal   $ 32,159  $ 14,571  $  8,862  
State    5,436    2,348    1,398  

Total  $ 37,595  $ 16,919  $  10,260  
           
Items charged or credited directly to stockholders' equity           

Federal  $  —  $  1,218  $  (33) 
State    —    192    (5) 

Total  $  —  $  1,410  $  (38) 
Income tax expense  $ 71,470  $ 52,771  $  32,490  

 
As more fully described in NOTE 2, in 2016, the Company adopted a new accounting standard that requires excess 

tax benefits from stock compensation to be recorded as a reduction to income tax expense instead of being recorded directly 
to equity. Excess tax benefits recognized in 2016 reduced income tax expense by $0.6 million. 

 
A reconciliation of the statutory federal tax expense to the income tax expense in the accompanying statements of 

income follows: 
           
  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015      2014  
Statutory federal expense (35%)  $  65,023  $  47,378  $  29,369  
Statutory state income tax expense, net of federal tax benefit    6,714    4,611    2,805  
Other    (267)   782    316  
Income tax expense  $  71,470  $  52,771  $  32,490  
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Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities 
 
The tax effects of temporary differences between reported earnings and taxable earnings consisted of the following:  
 

  As of December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016     2015  
Deferred Tax Assets        

Compensation related  $  17,341  $  12,273  
Credit losses     1,269     1,994  
Acquisition related (1)     —     1,929  
Other     407     1,270  

Total deferred tax assets  $  19,017  $  17,466  
      
Deferred Tax Liabilities      

Mark-to-market of derivatives and loans held for sale  $  (19,934) $  (9,745) 
Mortgage servicing rights related   (135,519)  (107,166) 
Acquisition related (1)   (722)  —  
Depreciation   (1,862)  (1,980) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  $  (158,037) $  (118,891) 
Deferred tax liabilities, net  $  (139,020) $  (101,425) 

 
(1) Acquisition-related deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities consist of book-to-tax differences associated with 

basis step ups related to the amortization of goodwill recorded from acquisitions, acquisition-related costs capitalized 
for tax purposes, and book-to-tax differences in intangible asset amortization. 

 

The Company believes it is more likely than not that it will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to 
realize the deferred tax assets.  

 
Tax Uncertainties   

 
The Company periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies for all periods open to examination by tax au-

thorities based on the latest available information. Where the Company believes it is more likely than not that a tax position 
will not be sustained, management records its best estimate of the resulting tax liability, including interest, in the consoli-
dated financial statements. As of December 31, 2016, based on all known facts and circumstances and current tax law, 
management believes that there are no tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the unrecognized tax benefits 
will significantly increase or decrease over the next 12 months, producing, individually or in the aggregate, a material 
effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.  

 
NOTE 14—SEGMENTS 
 

The Company is one of the leading commercial real estate services and finance companies in the United States, with 
a primary focus on multifamily lending. The Company originates a range of multifamily and other commercial real estate 
loans that are sold to the Agencies or placed with institutional investors. The Company also services nearly all of the loans 
it sells to the Agencies and some of the loans that it places with institutional investors. Substantially all of the Company’s 
operations involve the delivery and servicing of loan products for its customers. Management makes operating decisions 
and assesses performance based on an ongoing review of these integrated operations, which constitute the Company's only 
operating segment for financial reporting purposes. 

 
The Company evaluates the performance of its business and allocates resources based on a single-segment concept. 

No one borrower/key principal accounts for more than 3% of our total risk-sharing loan portfolio.  
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An analysis of the product concentrations and geographic dispersion that impact the Company’s servicing revenue 
is shown in the following tables. This information is based on the distribution of the loans serviced for others. The principal 
balance of the loans serviced for others, by product, as of December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 follows: 

           
  As of December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015      2014  
Fannie Mae  $  27,728,164  $  22,915,088  $  20,521,425  
Freddie Mac   20,688,410   17,810,007   12,916,705  
Ginnie Mae-HUD    9,155,794    5,657,809    5,828,981  
Life insurance companies and other    5,508,786    3,829,360    4,764,779  
Total  $  63,081,154  $  50,212,264  $  44,031,890  

 
The percentage of unpaid principal balance of the loans serviced for others as of December 31, 2016, 2015, and 

2014 by geographical area, is as shown in the following table. No other state accounted for more than 5% unpaid principal 
balance and related servicing revenues in any of the years presented. The Company does not have any operations outside 
of the United States. 

 
  Percent of Total UPB as of December 31,   
     2016      2015      2014     
California   17.2 %  16.1 %  14.9 % 
Texas   8.5 %  7.9 %  7.5 % 
Florida   8.2 %  8.4 %  8.5 % 
Wisconsin   5.0 %  4.9 %  4.1 % 
Virginia   4.0 %  4.7 %  5.2 % 
Maryland   3.3 %  3.6 %  6.1 % 
All other states   53.8 %  54.4 %  53.7 % 
Total   100.0 %  100.0 %  100.0 % 

 

NOTE 15—OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

The following is a summary of the major components of other operating expenses for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014. 

           
  For the year ended December 31,   
(in thousands)     2016      2015      2014  
Professional fees  $  12,089  $  10,936  $  11,117  
Travel and entertainment   7,004   6,461   4,267  
Rent   6,404   5,943   5,077  
Marketing and preferred broker   5,607   4,599   3,693  
Office expenses    4,539    4,103    3,537  
All other    5,695    6,465    7,140  
Total  $  41,338  $  38,507  $  34,831  
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NOTE 16—QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED) 
 

The following table sets forth unaudited selected financial data and operating information on a quarterly basis as of 
and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015: 

              
  As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016  
(in thousands, except per share data)     4th Quarter      3rd Quarter      2nd Quarter      1st Quarter  
Gains from mortgage banking activities $  117,779  $  100,630  $  102,453  $  46,323  
Servicing fees    39,370    37,134    32,771    31,649  
Total revenues    178,391    154,786    147,858    94,241  
Personnel    73,126    64,377    55,758    34,230  
Amortization and depreciation    30,603    29,244    26,425    25,155  
Total expenses    117,210    106,074    96,152    70,059  
Income from operations    61,181    48,712    51,706    24,182  
Walker & Dunlop net income    36,790    29,628    32,021    15,458  
Diluted earnings per share  $  1.16  $  0.96  $  1.05  $  0.50  
Total transaction volume  $  6,260,898  $  5,032,238  $  5,389,276  $  2,615,700  
Servicing portfolio  $  63,081,154  $  59,121,989  $  57,321,824  $  51,040,752  

 

 

              
  As of and for the year ended December 31, 2015  
(in thousands, except per share data)     4th Quarter      3rd Quarter      2nd Quarter      1st Quarter  
Gains from mortgage banking activities $  76,986  $  70,810  $  69,950  $  72,720  
Servicing fees    30,530    29,328    28,058    26,841  
Total revenues    121,365    120,786    113,926    112,121  
Personnel    49,224    49,328    45,993    40,045  
Amortization and depreciation    24,385    25,644    23,470    24,674  
Total expenses    87,493    87,340    81,284    76,715  
Income from operations    33,872    33,446    32,642    35,406  
Walker & Dunlop net income    20,411    20,251    20,153    21,313  
Diluted earnings per share  $  0.67  $  0.66  $  0.67  $  0.66  
Total transaction volume  $  4,686,283  $  4,936,762  $  3,787,305  $  4,348,398  
Servicing portfolio  $  50,212,264  $  47,794,561  $  47,713,739  $  46,066,660  

 

NOTE 17—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

On January 30, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of certain assets and assumption of certain liabilities 
of Deerwood Real Estate Capital, LLC (“Deerwood”), a regional commercial mortgage banking company based in the 
greater New York City area, for $15.0 million cash. Prior to the acquisition, Deerwood engaged in commercial real estate 
loan brokerage services across the United States, with a primary focus in the Greater New York City area. The acquisition 
expands the Company’s network of loan originators and provides further diversification to its loan origination platform by 
allowing the Company to significantly increase its commercial lending platform in the greater New York City area. The 
purchase agreement provides for an earnout over the three-year period following the acquisition if certain revenue targets 
are met. 

 
The Company has not completed the accounting for the Deerwood acquisition as of the issuance date of these finan-

cial statements. Therefore, disclosures relating to the goodwill recognized, if any, the amount of contingent consideration 
recognized, if any, and the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed could not be presented.  



EXHIBIT 21 
 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT 
 

    

Company     
State of Incorporation or

Registration  

Walker & Dunlop Multifamily, Inc.  Delaware  
Walker & Dunlop, LLC  Delaware  
W&D Interim Lender LLC  Delaware  
W&D Interim Lender II LLC  Delaware  
Walker & Dunlop Capital, LLC  Massachusetts  
W&D Interim Lender III, Inc.  Delaware  
W&D Interim Lender IV, LLC  Delaware  
W&D Interim Lender V, Inc.  Delaware  
Walker & Dunlop Investment Sales, LLC  Delaware  
 



EXHIBIT 23 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 
The Board of Directors 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc.: 
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-178878 and 333-184297) on Form 
S-3 and (Nos. 333-171205, 333-183635, 333-188533, and 333-204722) on Form S-8 of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. of our 
report dated February 24, 2017, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Walker & Dunlop Inc. and subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity, and cash flows 
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016, and the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. as of December 31, 2016, which reports appear in the December 31, 2016 
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.  
 

 
  

 /s/ KPMG LLP 
  
McLean, Virginia  
February 24, 2017  
 



EXHIBIT 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
I, William M. Walker, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 

control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize 
and report financial information; and 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
   

Date: February 24, 2017 By: /s/ William M. Walker 

  William M. Walker 

  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

 



EXHIBIT 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
I, Stephen P. Theobald, certify that: 

 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Walker & Dunlop, Inc.; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 

control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize 
and report financial information; and 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 

   

Date: February 24, 2017 By: /s/ Stephen P. Theobald 

  Stephen P. Theobald 

  
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer 

 



EXHIBIT 32 

CERTIFICATION OF  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2016 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of 
Walker & Dunlop, Inc., hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Walker & Dunlop, Inc. 

   

Date: February 24, 2017 By: /s/ William M. Walker 
William M. Walker
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 24, 2017 By: /s/ Stephen P. Theobald 
Stephen P. Theobald 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer 



(This page has been left blank intentionally.)



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors Executive Officers Transfer Agent
Alan J. Bowers(1)(3) Richard M. Lucas Shareholder correspondence
Lead Director Executive Vice President, should be mailed to:
Chairman, Audit Committee General Counsel & Secretary Computershare

P.O. Box 30170
Cynthia A. Hallenbeck(1)(2) Howard W. Smith College Station, TX 77842-3170
Director President

Overnight correspondence
Michael D. Malone(1)(2) Stephen P. Theobald should be sent to:
Director Executive Vice President, Computershare
Chairman, Compensation Chief Financial Officer 211 Quality Circle, Suite 210
Committee & Treasurer College Station, TX 77845
John Rice(2)(3) William M. Walker Auditor
Director Chairman & Chief Executive Officer KPMG LLP
Chairman, Nominating and McLean, VARichard C. WarnerCorporate Governance Committee

Executive Vice President & Investor Contact
Dana L. Schmaltz(2)(3) Chief Credit Officer Claire Harvey
Director Vice President,Corporate Office

Investor RelationsHoward W. Smith 7501 Wisconsin Avenue
Phone: (301) 634-2143Director Suite 1200E
charvey@walkerdunlop.comBethesda, MD 20814

William M. Walker Phone: (301) 215-5500 Annual MeetingChairman of the Board
Hilton Garden InnCompany Website

Michael J. Warren(3) 7301 Waverly Streetwww.walkerdunlop.com
Director Bethesda, MD 20814

May 18, 2017
10 a.m. EDT

Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
Symbol: WD

(1) Member of Audit Committee

(2) Member of Compensation Committee

(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee



13DEC201616363401
7501 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200E

Bethesda, MD 20814
Phone: (301) 215-5500

www.walkerdunlop.com


	FRONT COVER
	LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
	FORM 10-K
	INDEX
	PART I
	Forward-Looking Statements
	Item 1. Business
	Item 1A. Risk Factors
	Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
	Item 2. Properties
	Item 3. Legal Proceedings
	Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

	PART II
	Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
	Item 6. Selected Financial Data
	Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
	Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
	Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
	Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
	Item 9B. Other Information

	PART III
	Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
	Item 11. Executive Compensation
	Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
	Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
	Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

	PART IV
	Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
	Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

	SIGNATURES
	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	Contents
	Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
	Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of Income
	Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION
	NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	NOTE 3 - GAINS FROM MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES
	NOTE 4 - MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS
	NOTE 5 - GUARANTY OBLIGATION AND ALLOWANCE FOR RISK-SHARING OBLIGATIONS
	NOTE 6 - SERVICING
	NOTE 7 - DEBT
	NOTE 8 - GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
	NOTE 9 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
	NOTE 10 - LITIGATION, COMMITMENTS, AND CONTINGENCIES
	NOTE 11 - SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
	NOTE 12 - EARNINGS PER SHARE
	NOTE 13 - INCOME TAXES
	NOTE 14 - SEGMENTS
	NOTE 15 - OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
	NOTE 16 - QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
	NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS


	EXHIBIT 21 - LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
	EXHIBIT 23 - CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
	CERTIFICATIONS

	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	BACK COVER



